
MARCH 4, 2020 
CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
6:00 P.M. Regular Session 

201 N. Broadway, Escondido, CA 92025 

MAYOR Paul McNamara 

DEPUTY MAYOR Consuelo Martinez 

COUNCIL MEMBERS Olga Diaz 
John Masson 
Michael Morasco 

CITY MANAGER Jeffrey Epp 

 CITY CLERK Zack Beck 

CITY ATTORNEY Michael McGuinness 

DIRECTOR OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT Bill Martin 

DIRECTOR OF ENGINEERING SERVICES Julie Procopio 



2 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
ELECTRONIC MEDIA: 
Electronic media which members of the public wish to be used during any public comment period should be submitted 
to the City Clerk’s Office at least 24 hours prior to the Council meeting at which it is to be shown.   
 
The electronic media will be subject to a virus scan and must be compatible with the City’s existing system.  The media 
must be labeled with the name of the speaker, the comment period during which the media is to be played and contact 
information for the person presenting the media.   

 
The time necessary to present any electronic media is considered part of the maximum time limit provided to speakers.  
City staff will queue the electronic information when the public member is called upon to speak.  Materials shown to 
the Council during the meeting are part of the public record and may be retained by the Clerk.   
 
The City of Escondido is not responsible for the content of any material presented, and the presentation and content 
of electronic media shall be subject to the same responsibilities regarding decorum and presentation as are applicable 
to live presentations. 



3 
 

 

March 4, 2020 
6:00 P.M. Meeting 

 

Escondido City Council 

CALL TO ORDER 

 

MOMENT OF REFLECTION: 
City Council agendas allow an opportunity for a moment of silence and reflection at the beginning of the evening meeting.  
The City does not participate in the selection of speakers for this portion of the agenda, and does not endorse or sanction 
any remarks made by individuals during this time.  If you wish to be recognized during this portion of the agenda, please 
notify the City Clerk in advance.   

 

FLAG SALUTE   
 

ROLL CALL:  Diaz, Martinez, Masson, Morasco, McNamara 
 

ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 

 

The public may address the Council on any item that is not on the agenda and that is within the subject matter 

jurisdiction of the legislative body.  State law prohibits the Council from discussing or taking action on such 
items, but the matter may be referred to the City Manager/staff or scheduled on a subsequent agenda.  (Please 

refer to the back page of the agenda for instructions.) NOTE:  Depending on the number of requests, comments 

may be reduced to less than 3 minutes per speaker and limited to a total of 15 minutes. Any remaining speakers 
will be heard during Oral Communications at the end of the meeting. 
 

CONSENT CALENDAR 

 

Items on the Consent Calendar are not discussed individually and are approved in a single motion.  However, 

Council members always have the option to have an item considered separately, either on their own request 
or at the request of staff or a member of the public. 

1. AFFIDAVITS OF PUBLICATION, MAILING AND POSTING (COUNCIL/RRB) 

2. APPROVAL OF WARRANT REGISTER (Council) 

Request the City Council approve the City Council and Housing Successor Agency warrant numbers: 
 

339026 – 339213 dated February 5, 2020  

339214 – 339400 dated February 12, 2020  
339401 – 339595 dated February 19, 2020  

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Finance Department: Joan Ryan) 

  



4 
 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES: Regular Meetings of February 5, 2020 and February 12, 2020 

4. FINAL MAP FOR TRACT 951 LOCATED AT 640 OAKWOOD CREEK GLEN - 
Request the City Council approve the Final Map for Tract 951, a 12-lot single-family residential 

subdivision located at 640 Oakwood Creek Glen. 

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Engineering Services Department: Julie Procopio) 

5. HOMELESS EMERGENCY AID PROGRAM GRANT BUDGET ADJUSTMENT - 
Request the City Council approve a budget adjustment in the amount of $192,995 to accept Homeless 

Emergency Aid Program (HEAP) grant funds. These funds will be used to increase outreach to homeless 

individuals in Escondido through the employment of a social worker. 

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Community Development Department: Bill Martin and 

Housing & Neighborhood Services Department: Karen Youel) 

6. NOTICE OF COMPLETION FOR BERNARDO ACRES TRACT 877 - 
Request the City Council approve and accept the Public Improvements and authorize staff to file a 

Notice of Completion for Bernardo Acres Tract 877. 

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Engineering Services Department: Julie Procopio) 

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-21 

7. ILLEGAL DISPOSAL SITE ABATEMENT GRANT PROGRAM APPLICATION - 

Request the City Council approve authorizing the Director of Public Works or his designee to submit 
grant documents for Illegal Disposal Site Abatement Grant Program funds for an amount up to 

$100,000 from the California Department of Resources Recycling and Recovery (CalRecycle) and, if 
awarded, to accept the grant funds and complete necessary documents required by CalRecycle for 

participation in the Abatement Program in conjunction with the Citywide encampment debris removal 

program.  

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Public Works Department: Joseph Goulart) 

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-26 

8. RESOLUTION DECLARING A VACANT CITY OWNED PARCEL ON HARMONY GROVE (APN 
232-372-06) AS EXEMPT SURPLUS LAND - 

Request the City Council approve declaring the vacant City-owned parcel on Harmony Grove Road (APN 

232-372-06) as exempt surplus land and allow for the disposal of the parcel.  

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Engineering Services Department: Julie Procopio) 

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-27 

CONSENT RESOLUTIONS AND ORDINANCES (COUNCIL/RRB) 

The following Resolutions and Ordinances were heard and acted upon by the City Council/RRB at a previous 

City Council/Mobilehome Rent Review meeting.  (The title of Ordinances listed on the Consent Calendar are 

deemed to have been read and further reading waived.) 

9. AMENDMENT TO ARTICLE 34 (COMMUNICATION ANTENNAS) OF THE ESCONDIDO ZONING 
CODE, ADOPTION OF GUIDELINES FOR THE DEPLOYMENT OF SMALL WIRELESS 

FACILITIES IN THE PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY, ESTABLISHMENT OF FEES RELATED TO SMALL 

WIRELESS FACILITIES IN THE PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY, AND AMENDMENT TO PUBLIC 
SERVICES AGREEMENT FOR THE CITYWORKS IMPLEMENTATION PROJECT -  

Approved on February 5, 2020 with a vote of 5/0 

ORDINANCE NO. 2020-03 (Second Reading and Adoption) 

 



5 
 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

10. AMENDMENT TO CHAPTER 22A OF THE ESCONDIDO MUNICIPAL CODE TO ENHANCE 

OUTDOOR AIR REGULATIONS BY REGULATING WHERE SMOKING IS ALLOWED IN THE 
CITY (AZ 20-0001) - 

Request the City Council approve adopting smoke-free air laws. The request also includes the adoption 

of the environmental determination prepared for this project. 

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Community Development Department: Bill Martin) 

ORDINANCE NO. 2020-06 (First Reading and Introduction) 

 

CURRENT BUSINESS 

11. 2020 CENSUS COMPLETE COUNT OUTREACH UPDATE - 
Request the City Council receive the staff report and presentation. No action is required at this time 

except to provide direction to staff as appropriate.  

Staff Recommendation: Provide Direction (Community Development Department: Bill 
Martin) 

12. SB 2 PLANNING GRANT AWARD ANNOUNCEMENT AND NEXT STEPS TOWARDS 

DEVELOPING A HOUSING ELEMENT UPDATE, SECTOR FEASIBILITY STUDY, AND EAST 
VALLEY SPECIFIC PLAN - 

Request the City Council approve a budget adjustment of $310,000; authorize the release of the 

request for proposals ("RFPs"); and receive, consider, and provide staff direction on the preliminary 
approach to inform and engage the public, as the City updates its future housing policies.  

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Community Development Department: Bill Martin) 

13. REVIEW OF UPCOMING CITY COUNCIL REDISTRICTING PROCESS - 

Request the City Council receive and file the overview of the City Council Redistricting process that will 
take place following the 2020 Census.  

Staff Recommendation: Receive and File (City Clerk's Office: Zack Beck) 

14. REVIEW AND CONSIDERATION OF CAMPAIGN CONTRIBUTION LIMITS - 

Request the City Council to review and consider potential amendments to the Escondido Municipal 
Election Campaign Control Ordinance to lower the maximum personal contributions from $4,300 for 

city council candidates and mayoral candidates. It is further requested that the City Council discuss, 
consider and give staff direction on additional campaign control amendments, if any. (This item was 

continued from the December 18, 2019 City Council Meeting) 

Staff Recommendation: Provide Direction (City Attorney's Office: Michael R. McGuinness) 
  



6 
 

 

FUTURE AGENDA 

15. FUTURE AGENDA - 

The purpose of this item is to identify issues presently known to staff or which members of the City 
Council wish to place on an upcoming City Council agenda. Council comment on these future agenda 

items is limited by California Government Code Section 54954.2 to clarifying questions, brief 
announcements, or requests for factual information in connection with an item when it is discussed.  

Staff Recommendation: None (City Clerk's Office: Zack Beck) 

 

COUNCIL MEMBERS SUBCOMMITTEE REPORTS AND OTHER REPORTS 

 

CITY MANAGER'S WEEKLY ACTIVITY REPORT 

The most current information from the City Manager regarding Economic Development, Capital Improvement 
Projects, Public Safety and Community Development. This report is also available on the City’s website, 

www.escondido.org. 

 WEEKLY ACTIVITY REPORT - 

ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 

 

The public may address the Council on any item that is not on the agenda and that is within the subject matter 

jurisdiction of the legislative body.  State law prohibits the Council from discussing or taking action on such 
items, but the matter may be referred to the City Manager/staff or scheduled on a subsequent agenda. Speakers 

are limited to only one opportunity to address the Council under Oral Communications.  

ADJOURNMENT 

 

 

UPCOMING MEETING SCHEDULE 
Date Day Time Meeting Type Location 

March 11 Wednesday 3:30 – 6:00 p.m. Boards and Commissions Interviews Mitchell Room 

March 18 Wednesday 3:30 – 6:00 p.m. Boards and Commissions Interviews Mitchell Room 

March 25 Wednesday 5:00 & 6:00 p.m. Regular Meeting Council Chambers 

April 1 Wednesday 5:00 & 6:00 p.m. Regular Meeting Council Chambers 

file:///C:/Users/RVAQuestys/Downloads/www.escondido.org


7 
 

TO ADDRESS THE COUNCIL 
 

The public may address the City Council on any agenda item. Please complete a Speaker’s form and give it to 
the City Clerk.  Submission of Speaker forms prior to the discussion of an item is highly encouraged.  Comments 

are generally limited to 3 minutes. 
 

If you wish to speak concerning an item not on the agenda, you may do so under “Oral Communications.”  
Please complete a Speaker’s form as noted above. 
 

Nomination forms for Community Awards are available at the Escondido City Clerk’s Office or at 

http://www.escondido.org/city-clerks-office.aspx 
 

Handouts for the City Council should be given to the City Clerk.  To address the Council, use the podium in the 
center of the Chambers, STATE YOUR NAME FOR THE RECORD and speak directly into the microphone. 
 

AGENDA, STAFF REPORTS AND BACK-UP MATERIALS ARE AVAILABLE: 
 

• Online at http://www.escondido.org/meeting-agendas.aspx 

• In the City Clerk’s Office at City Hall  
• Placed in the Council Chambers (See: City Clerk/Minutes Clerk) immediately before and during the 

Council meeting. 
 

AVAILABILITY OF SUPPLEMENTAL MATERIALS AFTER AGENDA POSTING:  Any supplemental writings 
or documents provided to the City Council regarding any item on this agenda will be made available for public 

inspection in the City Clerk’s Office located at 201 N. Broadway during normal business hours, or in the Council 

Chambers while the meeting is in session. 
 

LIVE BROADCAST 
 

Council meetings are broadcast live on Cox Cable Channel 19 and U-verse Channel 99 – Escondido Gov TV.  
They can also be viewed the following Sunday and Monday evenings at 6:00 p.m. on those same channels.  

The Council meetings are also available live via the Internet by accessing the City’s website at 
www.escondido.org, and clicking the “Live Streaming –City Council Meeting now in progress” button on the 

home page. 
 

Please turn off all cellular phones and pagers while the meeting is in session. 
 

The City Council is scheduled to meet the first four Wednesdays 
of the month at 5:00 in Closed Session and 6:00 in Open Session. 

(Verify schedule with City Clerk’s Office) 
Members of the Council also sit as the Successor Agency to the Community Development 

Commission, Escondido Joint Powers Financing Authority, 

 and the Mobilehome Rent Review Board. 
 

CITY HALL HOURS OF OPERATION 
Monday-Friday 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. 

 

 

 
If you need special assistance to participate in this meeting, please contact our ADA Coordinator at 

839-4643.  Notification 48 hours prior to the meeting will enable the City to make reasonable 
arrangements to ensure accessibility. 

 

Listening devices are available for the hearing impaired – please see the City Clerk. 

 

http://www.escondido.org/city-clerks-office.aspx
http://www.escondido.org/meeting-agendas.aspx
file:///C:/Users/RVAQuestys/Downloads/www.escondido.org


Consent Item No. 1 March 4, 2020

A F F I D A V I T S

OF

I T E M 

P O S T I N G



Staff Report - Council

  Consent Item No. 2        March 4, 2020    File No. 0400-40

SUBJECT: Approval of Warrants

DEPARTMENT: Finance Department

RECOMMENDATION:

Request approval for City Council and Housing Successor Agency warrant numbers:

339026 – 339213 dated February 5, 2020
339214 – 339400 dated February 12, 2020
339401 – 339595 dated February 19, 2020

FISCAL ANALYSIS:

The total amount of the warrants for the following periods are as follows:
 
January 30 – February 5, 2020, is $ 1,726,629.04
February 6 – February 12, 2020, is $ 1,743,920.85
February 13 – February 19, 2020, is $ 1,294,887.92

BACKGROUND:

The Escondido Municipal Code Section 10-49 states that warrants or checks may be issued and paid 
prior to audit by the City Council, provided the warrants or checks are certified and approved by the 
Director of Finance as conforming to the current budget. These warrants or checks must then be 
ratified and approved by the City Council at the next regular Council meeting.



February 5, 2020 Escondido City Council Minutes Page 1 of 7 
 
 

CITY OF ESCONDIDO 

February 5, 2020 
5:30 P.M. Meeting Minutes  

 

Escondido City Council 

CALL TO ORDER 

The Regular Meeting of the Escondido City Council was called to order at 5:30 p.m. on Wednesday, February 

5, 2020 in the City Council Chambers at City Hall with Mayor McNamara presiding. 
 

ATTENDANCE:  The following members were present: Deputy Mayor Consuelo Martinez, Councilmember 

Michael Morasco, and Mayor Paul McNamara. Absent: Councilmember Olga Diaz and Councilmember John 

Masson. Quorum present. 

ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 

 

 

CLOSED SESSION: (COUNCIL/RRB) 

MOTION: Moved by Councilmember Diaz and seconded by Councilmember Morasco to recess to Closed 

Session. Approved unanimously. 

CONFERENCE WITH REAL PROPERTY NEGOTIATOR (Government Code §54956.8) 

a. Property:  2001 La Honda Drive, APN 225-010-3500 
City Negotiator:  Jeffrey Epp, City Manager 

Negotiating Parties: Friends of Daley Ranch / Paul Van Elderen 

Under Negotiation: Review Unsolicited Offer 

CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL-- EXISTING LITIGATION (Government Code 54956.9(d)(1)) 
 

a. Case Name: City of Escondido v. General Reinsurance Corp.; Genesis Management and 
   Ins. Services Corp 

Case No: 3:19-CV-00868-MMA-BGS 

b. Case Name: Paula Westenberger v. City of Escondido 

Case No: WCAB Nos:     ADJ3448350; ADJ4436156 

c. Case Name: Kenneth Head v. City of Escondido; AdminSure, Inc. 

Case No: WCAB Nos:     ADJ11833809; ADJ11833730 

d. Case Name: City of Escondido v. Nilesh Patel, an individual, Jai Ambe Phoenix, LLC 

Case No: 37-2018-00023279-CU-MC-NC                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            

(This Item Was Continued to February 12, 2020) 



February 5, 2020 Escondido City Council Minutes Page 2 of 7 
 
 

ADJOURNMENT 

Mayor McNamara adjourned the meeting at 5:45 p.m. 

 

______________________________   _______________________________ 

MAYOR       CITY CLERK 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



February 5, 2020 Escondido City Council Minutes Page 3 of 7 
 
 

CITY OF ESCONDIDO 

February 5, 2020 
6:00 P.M. Meeting Minutes 

 

Escondido City Council 

CALL TO ORDER 

 

The Regular Meeting of the Escondido City Council was called to order at 6:00 p.m. on Wednesday, February 

5, 2020 in the City Council Chambers at City Hall with Mayor McNamara presiding. 
 

MOMENT OF REFLECTION 

Olga Diaz, Councilmember led the Moment of Reflection 
 

FLAG SALUTE  
Paul McNamara, Mayor, led the flag salute  

 

ATTENDANCE 
The following members were present: Councilmember Olga Diaz, Deputy Mayor Consuelo Martinez, 

Councilmember John Masson, Councilmember Michael Morasco, and Mayor Paul McNamara. Quorum present. 
 

Also present were: Jeffrey Epp, City Manager; Michael McGuinness, City Attorney; Bill Martin, Director of 

Community Development; Julie Procopio, Director of Engineering Services; and Zack Beck, City Clerk. 
 

CLOSED SESSION REPORT 
 

CONFERENCE WITH REAL PROPERTY NEGOTIATOR (Government Code §54956.8) 

 

a. Property: 2001 La Honda Drive, APN 225-010-3500 

City Negotiator: Jeffrey Epp, City Manager 
Negotiating Parties: Friends of Daley Ranch / Paul Van Elderen 

Under Negotiation: Review Unsolicited Offer 
 

CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL-- EXISTING LITIGATION (Government Code 54956.9(d)(1)) 

 
a. Case Name: City of Escondido v. General Reinsurance Corp.; Genesis Management and Ins. Services Corp 

Case No: 3:19-CV-00868-MMA-BGS 
Council Action: Approved 5/0 to settle in the amount of $1,300,000  

 

b. Case Name: Paula Westenberger v. City of Escondido 
Case No: WCAB Nos:     ADJ3448350; ADJ4436156 

Council Action: Approved 5/0 to settle in the amount of $775,000 
 

c. Case Name: Kenneth Head v. City of Escondido; AdminSure, Inc. 

Case No: WCAB Nos:     ADJ11833809; ADJ11833730 
Council Action: Approved 5/0 to settle in the amount of $80,330  

 

ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 



February 5, 2020 Escondido City Council Minutes Page 4 of 7 
 
 

 

Michael Taylor - Spoke in favor of Measure Q. 
 

Douglas Paulson - Spoke in favor of Measure Q. 

 
Nancy Buria - Requested that the City of Escondido hire more code enforcement officers. Requested that the 

City of Escondido provide aesthetic enhancements to East Valley Parkway.  
 
 

CONSENT CALENDAR 

 

MOTION: Moved by Councilmember Diaz and seconded by Councilmember Morasco to approve all Consent 

Calendar items, except item 6. Approved unanimously. 

1. AFFIDAVITS OF PUBLICATION, MAILING AND POSTING (COUNCIL/RRB) 

2. APPROVAL OF WARRANT REGISTER (Council) 

Request the City Council approve the City Council and Housing Successor Agency warrant numbers 

(File No. 0400-40): 
 

338295 – 338558 dated January 15, 2020  
338559 – 338823 dated January 22, 2020  

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Finance Department: Joan Ryan) 

 
3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES: Regular Meetings of January 15, 2020 and January 22, 2020 

 

4. APPROVAL OF CALPERS INDUSTRIAL DISABILITY RETIREMENT FOR POLICE OFFICER LEE 
ANNE MCCOLLOUGH - 

Request the City Council approve the California Public Employees' Retirement System (CalPERS) 

Industrial Disability Retirement for Police Officer Lee Anne McCollough. (File No. 0170-57) 

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Human Resources Department: Jessica Perpetua) 

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-12 

5. APPLICATION FOR FY 2020 BUREAU OF RECLAMATION TITLE XVI GRANT FUNDING FOR 

THE PLANNED MEMBRANE FILTRATION / REVERSE OSMOSIS (MFRO) FACILITY - 

Request the City Council approve verifying the City of Escondido's ("City") financial capability and 
commitment to meet established grant deadlines in a modified assistance agreement with the Bureau 

of Reclamation for the WaterSMART: Title XVI Water Reclamation and Reuse Projects program. The 
existing agreement will be modified if the City's pending application for additional program funding is 

approved. (File No. 0600-10, A-3310) 

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Utilities Department: Christopher W. McKinney) 

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-13 

 

6. CONSULTING AGREEMENT FOR THE CITRACADO PARKWAY EXTENSION PROJECT - 
Request the City Council approve authorizing the Mayor and City Clerk to execute, on behalf of the City 

of Escondido, a Consulting Agreement with TY Lin International for Construction Management Services 

in the amount of $1,596,544 for the Citracado Parkway Extension Project. (File No. 0600-10, A-3325) 

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Engineering Services Department: Julie Procopio) 

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-08 



February 5, 2020 Escondido City Council Minutes Page 5 of 7 
 
 

MOTION: Moved by Councilmember Diaz and seconded by Councilmember Masson to approve 

authorizing the Mayor and City Clerk to execute, on behalf of the City of Escondido, a Consulting 

Agreement with TY Lin International for Construction Management Services in the amount of 
$1,596,544 for the Citracado Parkway Extension Project. Approved unanimously  

7. AGREEMENT FOR THE CITRACADO PARKWAY EXTENSION PROJECT - 

Request the City Council approve authorizing the Mayor and City Clerk to execute a Reimbursement 
Agreement in the amount of $2,190,631 with Rincon del Diablo Municipal Water District for Recycled 

Water and Potable Water Construction and Relocation as part of the Citracado Parkway Extension 

Project. (File No. 0600-10, A-3126) 

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Engineering Services Department: Julie Procopio) 

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-14 

8. ACCEPTANCE OF A $132,693.68 GRANT AND EXECUTION OF THE COUNTY CONTRACT NO. 
561764 AGREEMENT WITH THE COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES 

AGENCY FOR THE SENIOR NUTRITION PROGRAM - 
Request the City Council approve authorizing the Mayor and City Clerk to accept a $132,693.68 grant 

from the County of San Diego Health and Human Services Agency for the senior Nutrition Program 

offered at the Park Avenue Community Center, and execute County Contract No. 561764, the 
Agreement with the County of San Diego Health and Human Services Agency for the Senior Nutrition 

Program on behalf of the City of Escondido. (File No. 0600-10) 

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Communications and Community Services Department: 
Joanna Axelrod) 

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-15 

 

CONSENT RESOLUTIONS AND ORDINANCES (COUNCIL/RRB) 

The following Resolutions and Ordinances were heard and acted upon by the City Council/RRB at a previous 

City Council/Mobilehome Rent Review meeting.  (The title of Ordinances listed on the Consent Calendar are 
deemed to have been read and further reading waived.) 

9. SPECIFIC PLAN AMENDMENT AND CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT - DISCOUNT TIRE 

REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT (PHG 19-0031 AND PHG 19-0032) - 
Approved on January 15, 2020 with a vote of 5/0 

ORDINANCE NO. 2020-02 (Second Reading and Adoption) 

10. ADOPTION OF A UTILITY BILLING COLLECTION AND DISCONTINUATION OF SERVICE 

POLICY - 

Approved on January 15, 2020 with a vote of 5/0 

ORDINANCE NO. 2020-04 (Second Reading and Adoption) 

11. RESERVE POLICE OFFICER AUTHORITY - 
Approved on January 15, 2020 with a vote of 5/0 

ORDINANCE NO. 2020-05 (Second Reading and Adoption) 

 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 



February 5, 2020 Escondido City Council Minutes Page 6 of 7 
 
 

12. AMENDMENT TO ARTICLE 34 (COMMUNICATION ANTENNAS) OF THE ESCONDIDO ZONING 
CODE, ADOPTION OF GUIDELINES FOR THE DEPLOYMENT OF SMALL WIRELESS 

FACILITIES IN THE PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY, ESTABLISHMENT OF FEES RELATED TO SMALL 
WIRELESS FACILITIES IN THE PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY, AND AMENDMENT TO PUBLIC 

SERVICES AGREEMENT FOR THE CITYWORKS IMPLEMENTATION PROJECT - 

Request the City Council approve amending Article 34 (Communication Antennas) of the Escondido 
Zoning Code related to personal wireless service facilities; approve Guidelines for the Deployment of 

Small Wireless Facilities in the Public Right-of-Way and establishing fees for such facilities; approve 
executing a Second Amendment to the Public Services Agreement for the CityWorks implementation 

project with Timmons Group; and approve a budget adjustment relative to said amendment. The 
request also includes the adoption of the environmental determination prepared for the project. (File 

No. 0810-20, 0600-10, A-3261) 

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Community Development Department: Bill Martin) 

A) ORDINANCE NO. 2020-03 (First Reading and Introduction)   

B) RESOLUTION NO. 2020-04 C) RESOLUTION NO. 2020-18 
 

John Osborne - Representative of AT&T. Expressed opposition to the proposed fees. AT&T is willing 

to sign the master license agreement under protest to the annual fee.  
  

Michael Farraher - Representative of Verizon Wireless. Expressed opposition to the proposed fees. 

Expressed concern about the setback requirement near residential properties.  
 

MOTION: Moved by Councilmember Morasco and seconded by Councilmember Diaz to approve 

amending Article 34 (Communication Antennas) of the Escondido Zoning Code related to personal 

wireless service facilities; approve Guidelines for the Deployment of Small Wireless Facilities in the 
Public Right-of-Way and establishing fees for such facilities; approve executing a Second Amendment 

to the Public Services Agreement for the CityWorks implementation project with Timmons Group; and 
approve a budget adjustment relative to said amendment. The request also includes the adoption of 

the environmental determination prepared for the project. Approved unanimously. 

FUTURE AGENDA 

13. FUTURE AGENDA - 
The purpose of this item is to identify issues presently known to staff or which members of the City 

Council wish to place on an upcoming City Council agenda. Council comment on these future agenda 
items is limited by California Government Code Section 54954.2 to clarifying questions, brief 

announcements, or requests for factual information in connection with an item when it is discussed.  
Staff Recommendation: None (City Clerk's Office: Zack Beck) 
 

COUNCIL MEMBERS SUBCOMMITTEE REPORTS 

Councilmember Masson - Attended San Diego County Water Authority Board Meeting. 
 

Mayor McNamara - Attended a recent SANDAG meeting regarding economic development.  
 
 

CITY MANAGER'S WEEKLY ACTIVITY REPORT 



February 5, 2020 Escondido City Council Minutes Page 7 of 7 
 
 

The most current information from the City Manager regarding Economic Development, Capital Improvement 
Projects, Public Safety and Community Development. This report is also available on the City’s website, 

www.escondido.org. 

 WEEKLY ACTIVITY REPORT - 

ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 

 
 

None. 
 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

 

Mayor McNamara adjourned the meeting at 6:54 p.m. 
 

 
 

 

_______________________________   _______________________________ 
MAYOR       CITY CLERK 

 



CITY OF ESCONDIDO 

February 12, 2020 
5:00 P.M. Meeting Minutes  

 

Escondido City Council 

CALL TO ORDER 

The Regular Meeting of the Escondido City Council was called to order at 5:00 p.m. on Wednesday, February 

12, 2020 in the City Council Chambers at City Hall with Mayor McNamara presiding. 
 

ATTENDANCE:  The following members were present: Deputy Mayor Consuelo Martinez, Councilmember 

Michael Morasco, and Mayor Paul McNamara. Absent: Councilmember Olga Diaz and Councilmember John 

Masson. Quorum present. 

ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 

 

 

CLOSED SESSION: (COUNCIL/RRB) 

MOTION: Moved by Councilmember Masson and seconded by Deputy Mayor Martinez to recess to Closed 

Session. Approved unanimously. 

I. CONFERENCE WITH REAL PROPERTY NEGOTIATOR (Government Code §54956.8) 

a. Property:  1812 Harmony Grove, APN 232-372-06 
City Negotiator:  Jeffrey Epp, City Manager 

Negotiating Parties: None 

Under Negotiation: Dispose of City Owned Land  

b. Property:  509 W. 2nd Avenue, 201 S. Pine Street & 542 W. 3rd Avenue, APN 

233-032-07 & 08, APN 233-032-12, 13 & 14  
City Negotiator:  Jeffrey Epp, City Manager 

Negotiating Parties: None 

Under Negotiation: Dispose of City Owned Land  

c. Property:  250 E 14th Street, APN 233-592-04 
City Negotiator:  Jeffrey Epp, City Manager 

Negotiating Parties: Maple Avenue Properties, LLC 

Under Negotiation: Provide Offer to Owner 

II. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL-ANTICIPATED LITIGATION/SIGNIFICANT 

EXPOSURE (Government Code 54956.9(d)(2))  

a. Significant exposure to litigation pursuant to subdivision (d)(2) of Government Code Section 

54956.9(d)(2): One Case: Claim No. 5167 

 



III. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL-- EXISTING LITIGATION (Government Code 
54956.9(d)(1)) 

a. Case Name: City of Escondido v. Nilesh Patel, an individual, Jai Ambe Phoenix, LLC 

Case No: 37-2018-00023279-CU-MC-NC 

ADJOURNMENT 

Mayor McNamara adjourned the meeting at 5:54 p.m. 

 

______________________________   _______________________________ 

MAYOR       CITY CLERK 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



CITY OF ESCONDIDO 

February 12, 2020 
6:00 P.M. Meeting Minutes 

 

Escondido City Council 

CALL TO ORDER 

 

The Regular Meeting of the Escondido City Council was called to order at 6:00 p.m. on Wednesday, February 

12, 2020 in the City Council Chambers at City Hall with Mayor McNamara presiding. 
 

MOMENT OF REFLECTION 

Zack Beck, City Clerk led the Moment of Reflection 
 

FLAG SALUTE  
Paul McNamara, Mayor, led the flag salute  

 

PROCLAMATION 
Mayor McNamara presented a proclamation for Black History Month to representatives from the North County 

NAACP. 
 

PRESENTATION 

Mike Dunlap received a Certificate of Recognition 
 

Frank Foster delivered a presentation regarding “A Step Beyond”. 
 

ATTENDANCE 
The following members were present: Councilmember Olga Diaz, Deputy Mayor Consuelo Martinez, 

Councilmember John Masson, Councilmember Michael Morasco, and Mayor Paul McNamara. Quorum present. 

 
Also present were: Jeffrey Epp, City Manager; Michael McGuinness, City Attorney; Bill Martin, Director of 

Community Development; Julie Procopio, Director of Engineering Services; and Zack Beck, City Clerk. 
 

CLOSED SESSION REPORT 

 

CONFERENCE WITH REAL PROPERTY NEGOTIATOR (Government Code §54956.8) 

d. Property:  1812 Harmony Grove, APN 232-372-06 

City Negotiator:  Jeffrey Epp, City Manager 

Negotiating Parties: None 

Under Negotiation: Dispose of City Owned Land  

COUNCIL ACTION: The City Council voted 5/0 to set up a Public Hearing for the 

designation of surplus property at a future City Council Meeting.  

e. Property:  509 W. 2nd Avenue, 201 S. Pine Street & 542 W. 3rd Avenue, APN 
233-032-07 & 08, APN 233-032-12, 13 & 14  

City Negotiator:  Jeffrey Epp, City Manager 
Negotiating Parties: None 

Under Negotiation: Dispose of City Owned Land  



COUNCIL ACTION:  

f. Property:  250 E 14th Street, APN 233-592-04 
City Negotiator:  Jeffrey Epp, City Manager 

Negotiating Parties: Maple Avenue Properties, LLC 

Under Negotiation: Provide Offer to Owner 

COUNCIL ACTION: The City Council voted 5/0 to give direction to the real estate 

assets manager to bring forward this item in an open session meeting. 

CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL-ANTICIPATED LITIGATION/SIGNIFICANT EXPOSURE 
(Government Code 54956.9(d)(2))  

a. Significant exposure to litigation pursuant to subdivision (d)(2) of Government Code Section 

54956.9(d)(2): One Case: Claim No. 5167 

COUNCIL ACTION: The City Council voted 5/0 to approve a settlement agreement 

in the amount $17,250. 

CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL-- EXISTING LITIGATION (Government Code 54956.9(d)(1)) 

b. Case Name: City of Escondido v. Nilesh Patel, an individual, Jai Ambe Phoenix, LLC 

Case No: 37-2018-00023279-CU-MC-NC 

  COUNCIL ACTION: No reportable action. 

 

ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 

 
 

None. 
 
 

CONSENT CALENDAR 

 

MOTION: Moved by Councilmember Masson and seconded by Councilmember Diaz to approve all Consent 

Calendar items. Approved unanimously. 

1. AFFIDAVITS OF PUBLICATION, MAILING AND POSTING (COUNCIL/RRB) 

2. APPROVAL OF WARRANT REGISTER (Council) 

Request the City Council approve the City Council and Housing Successor Agency warrant numbers 
(File No. 0400-40): 

 

338824 – 339025 dated January 29, 2020. 

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Finance Department: Joan Ryan) 

 
3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES: None Scheduled 

 

4. TREASURER'S INVESTMENT REPORT FOR THE QUARTER ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 - 

Request the City Council receive and file the Quarterly Investment Report. (File No. 0490-55) 

Staff Recommendation: Receive and File (City Treasurer's Office: Douglas W. Shultz)  

 



CONSENT RESOLUTIONS AND ORDINANCES (COUNCIL/RRB) 

The following Resolutions and Ordinances were heard and acted upon by the City Council/RRB at a previous 

City Council/Mobilehome Rent Review meeting.  (The title of Ordinances listed on the Consent Calendar are 

deemed to have been read and further reading waived.) 

CURRENT BUSINESS 

5. FINANCIAL STATUS REPORT FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 2019/20 SECOND QUARTER ENDING 
DECEMBER 31, 2019, AND BUDGET ADJUSTMENT - 

Request the City Council receive and file the Second Quarter Financial Report for Fiscal Year 2019/20, 
and approve the attached budget adjustment. (File No. 0430-30, 0430-80) 

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Finance Department: Joan Ryan)  

MOTION: Moved by Councilmember Morasco and seconded by Deputy Mayor Martinez to receive and 

file the Second Quarter Financial Report for Fiscal Year 2019/20, and approve the attached budget 
adjustment. Approved unanimously. 

6. LIBRARY PARTNERSHIP BETWEEN THE CITY OF ESCONDIDO AND THE PALOMAR 

COMMUNITY COLLEGE DISTRICT - 
Request the City Council approve authorizing a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between the 

City of Escondido and the Palomar Community College District to promote library services available to 

the general public at Palomar Community College's Ernest J. Allen Library located at the Escondido 
Education Center. (File No. 0740-30) 

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Communications and Community Services Department: 

Joanna Axelrod) 

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-17 

 Dr. Jack Kahn - Acting Superintendent of Palomar College, expressed support for the MOU. 
 

Jack Anderson - President of the Escondido Library Foundation, expressed support for the MOU.  
 

Katherine Barbara Frahm - Expressed support for the MOU. 

MOTION: Moved by Councilmember Masson and seconded by Councilmember Diaz to approve 

authorizing a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between the City of Escondido and the Palomar 
Community College District to promote library services available to the general public at Palomar 

Community College's Ernest J. Allen Library located at the Escondido Education Center. Approved 
unanimously. 

CONSULTING AGREEMENT WITH TRUE NORTH RESEARCH, INC. FOR PHASE II 

COMMUNITY SURVEY EFFORTS AND THE FORMATION OF AN AD HOC CITY COUNCIL 

SUBCOMMITTEE - 
Request the City Council approve authorizing the City Manager to execute a Consulting Agreement with 

True North Research, Inc. to prepare a resident satisfaction survey for an amount not to exceed 
$31,500; and establish an ad hoc City Council subcommittee of two members to work with staff and 

the consultant in developing the survey questions. (File No. 0600-10, A-3326) 

Staff Recommendation: Approval (City Manager's Office: Jay Petrek) 

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-19 



MOTION: Moved by Councilmember Morasco and seconded by Councilmember Diaz to approve 

authorizing the City Manager to execute a Consulting Agreement with True North Research, Inc. to 

prepare a resident satisfaction survey for an amount not to exceed $31,500; and establish an ad hoc 
City Council subcommittee of Deputy Mayor Martinez and Councilmember Masson to work with staff 

and the consultant in developing the survey questions. Approved unanimously. 
 

FUTURE AGENDA 

7. FUTURE AGENDA - 

The purpose of this item is to identify issues presently known to staff or which members of the City 

Council wish to place on an upcoming City Council agenda. Council comment on these future agenda 
items is limited by California Government Code Section 54954.2 to clarifying questions, brief 

announcements, or requests for factual information in connection with an item when it is discussed.  
Staff Recommendation: None (City Clerk's Office: Zack Beck) 
 

COUNCIL MEMBERS SUBCOMMITTEE REPORTS 

Deputy Mayor Martinez - Attended a League of California Cities Meeting with District Attorney 

Summer Stefan. 

 

Mayor McNamara - Attended a SANDAG Transportation Committee Meeting. 
 
 

CITY MANAGER'S WEEKLY ACTIVITY REPORT 

The most current information from the City Manager regarding Economic Development, Capital Improvement 

Projects, Public Safety and Community Development. This report is also available on the City’s website, 
www.escondido.org. 

 WEEKLY ACTIVITY REPORT - 

ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 

 
 

None. 
 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

 
Mayor McNamara adjourned the meeting at 7:17 p.m. 

 
 

 

 
_______________________________   _______________________________ 

MAYOR       CITY CLERK 

 



Staff Report - Council

Consent Item No. 4 March 4, 2020 File No. 0800-10

SUBJECT: Final Map for Tract 951 located at 640 Oakwood Creek Glen

DEPARTMENT: Engineering Services Department

RECOMMENDATION:

It is requested that the City Council approve the Final Map for Tract 951 (“Project”), a 12-lot single-
family residential subdivision located at 640 Oakwood Creek Glen. 

FISCAL ANALYSIS: 

The Developer, in accordance with the adopted fee schedule, pays the cost for review of the Final 
Map.

PREVIOUS ACTION: 

The Planning Commission approved this Project on November 13, 2007, as Resolution No. 5796.  
State legislative action automatically extended the expiration of the tentative map until November 27, 
2017.  Planning Commission subsequently approved an additional three (3) year extension of time on 
September 12, 2017, as Resolution No. 6103.  

BACKGROUND:

The approval for the Final Map for Tract 951 includes construction of a box culvert bridge and 
mitigation purchase of coast live oak woodland habitat.  Staff has examined this Final Map and found 
it to be mathematically correct and in substantial conformance to the approved Tentative Map, and is 
subject to the conditions of approval.  This Final Map conforms to the provisions of the Subdivision 
Map Act and any local ordinances applicable at the time of approval.  The Planning Department has 
also reviewed and approved this Final Map. (See Attachment A)

APPROVED AND ACKNOWLEDGED ELECTRONICALLY BY:

Julie Procopio, Director of Engineering Services
2/27/20 8:20 a.m.

ATTACHMENTS:

1.  Attachment A – Site Location Map



Attachment "A"

Page 1 of 1



Staff Report - Council

Consent Item No. 5 March 4, 2020 File No. 0480-70

SUBJECT: Homeless Emergency Aid Program Grant Budget Adjustment 

DEPARTMENT: Housing & Neighborhood Services

RECOMMENDATION:

It is requested that the City Council approve a budget adjustment (see Attachment 1) in the amount of 
$192,995 to accept Homeless Emergency Aid Program (“HEAP”) grant funds. These funds will be used 
to increase outreach to homeless individuals in Escondido through the employment of a social worker. 

FISCAL ANALYSIS: 

This action will have no impact on the General Fund Budget and does not require matching funds.

PREVIOUS ACTION: 

On October 10, 2018, City Council adopt Resolution No. 2018-153 declaring a shelter crisis in the City 
of Escondido (“City”) and authorizing the Deputy City Manager or his designee to apply for HEAP funds.

On March 20, 2019, City Council adopted Resolution No. 2019-46 authorizing an agreement with 
Interfaith Community Services to employ a social worker to provide homeless case management 
services to the team addressing homelessness in Escondido. The contract was dependent on receiving 
HEAP funds.

BACKGROUND:

The State of California has recognized the urgent and immediate need for funding at the local level to 
combat homelessness and has provided funding to local governments under HEAP, a $500 million 
block grant program designed to provide direct assistance to cities, counties and local Continuums of 
Care (“CoC”), to address the homelessness crisis throughout California. HEAP was authorized by SB 
850, which was signed into law by Governor Edmund G. Brown, Jr. on June 27, 2018. Under this one-
time flexible funding source, $18.8 million was made available to the Regional Taskforce for the 
Homeless (“RTFH”) as the San Diego County CoCs. The RTFH made this funding available to cites 
and non-profits through a Request for Proposals.

The City has been awarded a one-year $192,995 grant from the RTFH to partner with Interfaith 
Community Services to hire a social worker to conduct outreach to the homeless community in 
Escondido. The social worker works in collaboration with the City and the Community Oriented Policing 
and Problem Solving (“COPPS”) unit to address the issue of homelessness in Escondido, providing 
direct services to homeless clients including: intake, assessment, and case management as well as 



Homeless Emergency Aid Program Grant Budget Adjustment 
March 4, 2020
Page 2

client advocacy with the goal of supporting self-sufficiency. A budget adjustment is necessary to receive 
and spend these funds.

APPROVED AND ACKNOWLEDGED ELECTRONICALLY BY:

Bill Martin, Director of Community Development
2/27/20 10:04 a.m.

Karen Youel, Housing & Neighborhood Services Manager
2/26/20 4:52 p.m.

ATTACHMENTS:

1. Attachment 1 - Budget Adjustment



CITY OF E SCON DIDO 

BUDGET ADJUSTMENT REQUEST 

Date of Request: =M=a:..:...rc=h_,_ 4..:..,_:2=0=-=2=-=0'-----------------

Department: Community Development 

Division: Housing & Neighborhood Services 

Project/Budget Manager: �K=a.:..:rea.:..n;._Y.,_o=u=e::..:.l _________ ...:.x.:..;4=5....:.1=8 __ _ 
Name Extension 

Council Date (if applicable): March 4 , 2020 ___________ _ 
(attach copy of staff report) 

For Finance Use Only 

Log# _______ _ 

Fiscal Year _____ _ 

__ Budget Balances 
General Fund Accts 
Revenue 
lnterfund Transfers 
Fund Balance 

Proiect/Account Description Account Number Amount of Increase Amount of Decrease 

RTFH - HEAP qrant 401- 4127-NEW $192 ,995 

HEAP funded Social Worker 401-NEW $192,995 

Explanation of Request: 

A Budget Adjustment is needed to receive and spend HEAP grant funds from the Regional Taskforce on the 
Homeless. 

City Manager Date 

City Clerk Date 

Di tribution (after approval): Original: Finance 

FM\105 (Rev.11/06) 

ATTACHMENT 1



Staff Report - Council

  Consent Item No. 6 March 4, 2020 File No. 0800-10

SUBJECT: Notice of Completion for Bernardo Acres Tract 877

DEPARTMENT: Engineering Services

RECOMMENDATION:

It is requested that the City Council adopt Resolution No. 2020-21 to approve and accept the Public 
Improvements and authorize staff to file a Notice of Completion (“NOC”) for Bernardo Acres Tract 877 
(“Project”). (See Attachment 1).

FISCAL ANALYSIS:
 
The Developer, in accordance with the adopted fee schedule, pays for the cost for inspection and 
plan review.

PREVIOUS ACTION: 

On January 11, 2017, the City Council approved the Project, a thirteen (13) Lot Residential 
Subdivision located at 1995 Bernardo Avenue. The Project was recommended for approval by the 
Planning Commission on May 9, 2006, as Resolution No. 5692 and approved by the City Council on 
June 7, 2006, as Resolution No. 2006-116 and Ordinance No. 2006-22 for a Zone Change. The City 
Council subsequently approved a Street Vacation for a portion of Bernardo Avenue on October 14, 
2009, as Resolution No. 2009-109 and an Extension of Time on June 22, 2016, as Resolution No. 
2016-92.
 
BACKGROUND:

Bernardo Acres Tract 877 is a thirteen lot residential subdivision located at 2435 Bernardo Avenue. 
The Project includes the installation of two (2) fire hydrants, two (2) pedestrian ramps, five (5) 
streetlights, 250 feet of storm drain, water and sewer services, sidewalk, curb and gutter.  

APPROVED AND ACKNOWLEDGED ELECTRONICALLY BY:

Julie Procopio, Director of Engineering Services
2/27/20 8:20 a.m.

ATTACHMENTS:

1. Attachment 1 – Vicinity Map
2. Resolution No. 2020-21



 

 

 

Attachment "1" 

Page 1 of 1



RESOLUTION NO. 2020-21

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF 
THE CITY OF ESCONDIDO, CALIFORNIA, 
AUTHORIZING THE CITY ENGINEER, ON 
BEHALF OF THE CITY, TO FILE A NOTICE 
OF COMPLETION FOR THE BERNARDO 
ACRES PROJECT TRACT 877

WHEREAS, on June 7, 2006, the City Council adopted Resolution No. 2006-116 

and Ordanance No. 2006-22, approving the Bernardo Acres Project Tract 877 

(“Project”), a 13-lot residential subdivision project in conjunction with a zone change; 

and

WHEREAS, on October 14, 2009, the City Council adopted Resolution No. 

2009-109, approving a Street Vacation for a portion of Bernardo Avenue; and

WHEREAS, on June 22, 2016, the City Council adopted Resolution No. 2016-

92, approving an Extension of Time; and

WHEREAS, on January 11, 2017, the City Council approved the Final Map; and

WHEREAS, San Luis Rey Investment is the Developer for the Project, 

addressed as 2435 Bernardo Avenue (APN 235-20-304); and

WHEREAS, the City of Escondido (“City”) staff and the City Engineer deems the 

filing of the Notice of Completion (“NOC”) to be valid and recommends approval; and

WHEREAS, this City Council desires at this time and deems it to be in the best 

public interest to approve the filing of the NOC.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of 

Escondido, California, as follows:



1. That the above recitations are true.

2. That the City Council accepts the recommendation of the City Engineer.

3. That the City Council hereby approves the request to file a NOC for the 

Project. 



Staff Report - Council

Consent Item No. 7 March 4, 2020 File No. 0480-70

SUBJECT: Illegal Disposal Site Abatement Grant Program Application

DEPARTMENT: Public Works

RECOMMENDATION:

It is requested that the City Council adopt Resolution No. 2020-26 authorizing the Director of Public 
Works or his designee to submit grant documents for Illegal Disposal Site Abatement Grant Program 
(“Abatement Program”) funds for an amount up to $100,000 from the California Department of 
Resources Recycling and Recovery (“CalRecycle”), and if awarded, to accept the grant funds and 
complete necessary documents required by CalRecycle for participation in the Abatement Program in 
conjunction with the Citywide encampment debris removal program. 

FISCAL ANALYSIS:

Grant funds will leverage budgeted funds reserved for the Citywide debris removal program. The City 
of Escondido (“City”) is requesting funds to clean up identified illegal disposal sites, remove 
vegetation to improve visibility as a deterrent to these activities, and to install barriers to reduce 
accessibility with the intent of decreasing illegal dumping in these areas. Grant funds will be used to 
pay a portion of the Debris Crew salaries. Costs must be incurred before June 30, 2022. 

PREVIOUS ACTION:

None.

BACKGROUND:

CalRecycle administers the Illegal Disposal Site Abatement Grant Program pursuant to Section 
48020 of the Public Resources Code. The purpose of the grant is to clean up solid waste sites and 
solid waste at co-disposal sites where cleanup is needed to protect public health and safety and/or 
the environment. In 2018, the City embarked on an aggressive campaign to combat threats to public 
health and safety related to encampments, including the formation of a Debris Crew to patrol and 
clean areas which have been identified as illegal disposal hot spots before dumping becomes 
intractable. Last year the City’s debris abatement program was funded at approximately $259,000. 
This budget includes cleaning illegal dump sites, fence repairs, pressure washing downtown 
sidewalks, trash disposal, and administrative and supervisory costs. The City is currently projecting 
an increase in costs in Fiscal Year 2021 to remove an anticipated 50,000 tons of trash and debris.



Illegal Disposal Site Abatement Grant Program Application
March 4, 2020
Page 2

APPROVED AND ACKNOWLEDGED ELECTRONICALLY BY:

Joseph Goulart, Director of Public Works
2/27/20 7:44 a.m.

ATTACHMENTS:

1. Resolution No. 2020-26



RESOLUTION NO. 2020-26

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF 
ESCONDIDO AUTHORIZING SUBMITTAL 
OF APPLICATION(S) FOR ILLEGAL 
DISPOSAL SITE ABATEMENT GRANT 
PROGRAM

WHEREAS, Public Resources Code sections 48000 et seq. authorize the 

Department of Resources Recycling and Recovery (“CalRecycle”) to administer various 

grant programs (“Grants”) in furtherance of the State of California’s (“State”) efforts to 

reduce, recycle and reuse solid waste generated in the State thereby preserving landfill 

capacity, protecting public health and safety, and the environment; and

WHEREAS, in furtherance of this authority, CalRecycle is required to establish 

procedures governing the application, awarding, and management of the grants; and

WHEREAS, CalRecycle grant application procedures require, among other things, 

an applicant’s governing body to declare by resolution certain authorizations related to 

the administration of CalRecycle grants.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City of Escondido, as follows:

1. That the above recitations are true.

2. That the City of Escondido authorizes the submittal of application(s) to 

CalRecycle for the Illegal Disposal Site Abatement Grant Program.

3. That the Director of Public Works, or his designee, is hereby authorized and 

empowered to execute in the name of the City of Escondido all grant documents, 

including but not limited to, applications, agreements, amendments and requests for 

payment, necessary to secure grant funds and implement the approved grant project.



4. That these authorizations are effective for five (5) years from the date of 

adoption of this Resolution. 



Staff Report - Council

  Consent Item No. 8 March 4, 2020 File No. 0690-20

SUBJECT: Resolution Declaring a Vacant City Owned Parcel on Harmony Grove, APN 232-
372-06, as Exempt Surplus Land

DEPARTMENT: Engineering Services Department; Real Property

RECOMMENDATION: 

It is requested that the City Council adopt Resolution No. 2020-27 declaring the vacant City-owned 
parcel on Harmony Grove Road, APN 232-372-06, as exempt surplus land and allow for the disposal 
of the parcel.

FISCAL ANALYSIS: 

Once disposed, sale proceeds will be allocated into the general fund.

BACKGROUND:

The City acquired numerous parcels throughout the City, in order to construct the Escondido Creek 
Flood Channel. One parcel is located on Harmony Grove Road, adjacent to the Escondido Creek 
Flood Channel, and a privately owned parcel at 1812 Harmony Grove Road, identified as APN 232-
372-06. It was acquired by the City in 1981 as an additional Right of Way (“ROW”) required for the 
flood channel. It has been determined that this parcel is no longer required for the City’s use. 

Under the Surplus Lands Act, Government Code Section 54200-54234 (“Act”), surplus land is defined 
as “land owned” in fee simple by any local agency for which the local agency’s governing body takes 
formal action in a regular public meeting declaring that the land is surplus and is not necessary for the 
agency’s use.” Certain surplus lands, however, are exempt from the Act. One example of “exempt 
surplus land” is “surplus land that is a former street, ROW, or easement, and is conveyed to an owner 
of an adjacent property.” Both “surplus land” and “exempt surplus land” must be declared as such and 
supported by written findings by the local agency’s governing body at a regular public meeting before 
a local agency may take any action to dispose of the land.

The City is a “local agency” as defined by the Act and desires to dispose of the surplus land that is not 
necessary for the City’s use. The city owned parcel meets the definition of “exempt surplus land” and 
the adjacent private property owner has expressed a desire to acquire the parcel at fair market value. 
City staff will negotiate in good faith to sell the surplus land in accordance with the Act.

A sale of surplus government property is categorically exempt from the California Environmental 
Quality Act (“CEQA”) pursuant to Title 14 Section 15312 of the California Code of Regulations 
(“CEQA Guidelines”), so long as certain criteria are met and no exceptions apply.  Here, the subject 



Declaration of Surplus Property
March 4, 2020
Page 2

property is not located in an area of statewide, regional, or area wide concern as defined in CEQA 
Guidelines Section 15206(b)(4).  Moreover, none of the exceptions listed in CEQA Guidelines Section 
15300.2 apply to the subject property.  Therefore, the sale of the subject property is categorically 
exempt from CEQA as a Class 12 exemption pursuant to Section 15312 of the CEQA Guidelines.

APPROVED AND ACKNOWLEDGED ELECTRONICALLY BY:

Julie Procopio, Director of Engineering Services
2/27/20 8:20 a.m.

ATTACHMENTS:

1. Resolution No. 2020-27



RESOLUTION NO. 2020-27

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF 
THE CITY OF ESCONDIDO, CALIFORNIA, 
DECLARING A VACANT CITY OWNED 
PARCEL ON HARMONY GROVE ROAD, APN 
232-372-06, AS EXEMPT SURPLUS LAND

WHEREAS, the City of Escondido (“City”) owns certain real property of 

approximately 0.17 acres located on Harmony Grove Road, adjacent to the Escondido 

Creek flood channel. This City property is adjacent to a privately owned parcel at 1812 

Harmony Grove Road, identified by reference to Assessor Parcel No. 232-372-06; and

WHEREAS, the parcel was acquired by the City in 1981 as additional right of 

way required for Escondido Creek flood control and it has been determined that the 

parcel is no longer required for the City’s use; and

WHEREAS, the Surplus Lands Act (Gov. Code § 54220, et seq.) (the “Act”) 

requires local agencies, prior to disposing of surplus real property, to provide a notice of 

availability of that property to certain entities for specified uses, including affordable 

housing, parks and recreation, or open space; and

WHEREAS, the Act defines “surplus land” as “land owned in fee simple by any 

local agency for which the local agency’s governing body takes formal action in a 

regular public meeting declaring that the land is surplus and is not necessary for the 

agency’s use;” and

WHEREAS, certain surplus lands, however, are exempt from the noticing 

requirements under the Act.  One example of “exempt surplus land” is surplus land that 



is a former street, right of way, or easement, and is conveyed to an owner of an 

adjacent property; and

WHEREAS, the City is a “local agency” as defined by the Act and desires to 

dispose of the surplus land that is not necessary for the City’s use. The City owned 

parcel meets the definition of “exempt surplus land” under California law as it is a 

former right of way required for the construction and/or maintenance of the flood 

channel.  The proposed disposition of this surplus right of way property would be to an 

adjacent private property owner at fair market value.  

WHEREAS, the adjacent property owner has expressed a desire to acquire the 

City owned parcel and City staff will negotiate with the property owner; and

WHEREAS, this City Council desires at this time and deems it to be in the best 

public interest to declare the parcel as exempt surplus land and to dispose of the 

identified parcel to the adjacent property owner.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of 

Escondido, California, as follows:

1. That the above recitations are true.

2. The Real Property Manager is authorized to negotiate with the adjacent 

property owner, on behalf of the City, to reach agreeable terms in the disposal of the 

exempt surplus land.





Staff Report - Council

Public Hearing Item No. 10 March 4, 2020 File No. 0680-50

SUBJECT: Amendment to Chapter 22A of the Escondido Municipal Code to enhance outdoor 
air regulations by regulating where smoking is allowed in the City (AZ 20-0001)

DEPARTMENT: Community Development Department, Planning Division

RECOMMENDATION:

It is recommended that the City Council introduce Ordinance No. 2020-06 to adopt smoke-free air laws.  
The request also includes the adoption of the environmental determination prepared for the project.

FISCAL ANALYSIS: 

The cost associated with the preparation of the draft ordinance is included within the City Attorney and 
Community Development Department budgets.  Costs associated with the implementation of the 
ordinance would include outreach and enforcement.  Although, there is currently no request for 
additional funding or staffing, City staff will evaluate impacts on the Police Department as the proposed 
regulations go into effect and return to City Council with an update if additional resources are needed.  
Until then, it is anticipated that all enforcement activities would be included within the Police Department 
budgets.

PREVIOUS ACTION:

On June 20, 2018, the City Council initiated a planning process to address various nonresidential land 
uses that tend to negatively impact surrounding properties. This “Zoning Code and Land Use Study,” 
(the “Study”) examined various land use activities, including tobacco product sales.  During the course 
of the Study, the City Council provided direction to the Planning Division to look into best practices to 
regulate tobacco product sales, control youth access, and potentially develop a tobacco retailers 
license program.  Although the Study and corresponding Zoning Code amendments were completed 
on August 21, 2019, with the introduction of Ordinance No. 2019-09, City staff still needed to research 
possible tobacco control regulations.  

The purpose of this report is to follow up on previous Council direction and introduce draft Ordinance 
No. 2020-06 to enhance outdoor smoke-free air regulations by changing where smoking is allowed in 
the City.  It is anticipated that a future agenda item will be scheduled with the City Council to review 
and consider amendments to additionally regulate tobacco product sales and propose new laws to limit 
youth access to tobacco products. 

BACKGROUND:

According to the Center for Disease Control (“CDC”), smoking leads to disease and disability and harms 
nearly every organ of the body.  Smoking causes cancer, heart disease, stroke, lung disease, diabetes, 



Tobacco Use Regulations (AZ 20-0001)
March 4, 2020
Page 2

and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, which includes emphysema and chronic bronchitis.  
Smoking also increases risk for tuberculosis, certain eye diseases, and immune system problems, 
including rheumatoid arthritis.  More than 16 million Americans are living with a disease caused by 
smoking.  Smoking can also kill.  Tobacco product use remains the leading cause of preventable death 
in the United States, killing more than 480,000 people each year.  Furthermore, for every person who 
dies because of smoking, at least 30 people live with a serious smoking-related illness. 

Secondhand smoke exposure contributes to approximately 41,000 deaths among nonsmoking adults 
and 400 deaths in infants each year.  Secondhand smoke causes stroke, lung cancer, and coronary 
heart disease in adults.  Children who are exposed to secondhand smoke are at increased risk for 
sudden infant death syndrome, acute respiratory infections, middle ear disease, more severe asthma, 
respiratory symptoms, and slowed lung growth.  Secondhand smoke is strongly associated with 
increased risk for serious health conditions for youth, young adults, and for low-income and other 
populations disparately impacted by the chronic diseases caused by tobacco products.  

In addition to it being recognized as a cause of disease in both humans and animals, secondhand 
smoke is also an issue with the environment - the most important impact is how it affects air quality 
overall.  Smoking in general is detrimental to air quality.  Abundant evidence from various sources show 
marked improvements in air quality when smoking is banned.  For example, when New York instituted 
a state-wide smoke-free law, levels of fine particulate matter in 20 locations studied decreased by 84 
percent, and many other locations show similar results around the world.  The source of this information 
(i.e. CDC Fact Sheet[s]) and other background information about smoking, secondhand smoke, health-
related impacts, and environmental-related impacts is provided in Attachment 2.

The California State Legislature has declared that tobacco product smoke is a hazard to the health of 
the general public (California Health and Safety Code Section 118880).  Smoke-free air restrictions 
have been an important component to advancing tobacco control intervention.  As recently as 20 years 
ago, few communities required workplaces and hospitality venues to be smoke-free, but today the State 
requires these places to be smoke-free.  Furthermore, State law allows cities and counties to adopt 
tobacco product control laws stronger than State and federal laws.  That is, a city or county may 
additionally regulate or completely ban tobacco product sales and/or use, in any manner consistent 
with State and federal laws.  As shown in Attachment 2, hundreds of cities have already adopted 
ordinances for promoting additional tobacco control within their respective jurisdictions.  

Communities throughout California are re-evaluating tobacco control laws and are seeking ways to take 
stronger stances to protect their youth and all residents from the harms of tobacco.  In 2019, sixty-one 
(61) cities and counties in California adopted and updated tobacco control policies.  To highlight these 
efforts, the American Lung Association recently released its State of Tobacco Control 2020 – California 
Local Grades Report to track how well cities and counties protect their residents, businesses, and other 
community members from tobacco products.  The State of Tobacco Control 2020 – California Local 
Grades Report (provided as Attachment 1) is based on a review of county and municipal codes for all 
58 counties and 482 incorporated cities and towns in California.  In the most recent 2020 report, 
Escondido received an overall “D” grade, which includes “F” grades in components related to “Smoke-
free Housing” and “Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products.”



Tobacco Use Regulations (AZ 20-0001)
March 4, 2020
Page 3

PROJECT ANALYSIS:

This proposed ordinance provides changes to the City’s codes to include additional smoke-free air 
restrictions.  The draft ordinance is based on model ordinances, numerous ordinances that have been 
adopted by other cities in the State, and tailored to complement public feedback.  Some of the items 
are self-explanatory.  Other items require a summary of analysis on why the proposed changes are 
needed. 

Update Section 22A-1 Definitions. Updates will be required to include corresponding 
definitions for a “smoke or smoking” and “dining area” and expanding the definition of “tobacco 
product” to include electronic smoking devices, among other things.    

Update Section 22A-2, Prohibiting Smoking in Outdoor Dining Areas.  State law prohibits 
smoking in various locations, including in enclosed places of employment (Labor Code Section 
6404.5).  However, outdoor dining areas are not covered by this definition.  In order to serve 
public health, safety, and welfare, the purpose of this ordinance is to further prohibit the smoking 
in places designated for outdoor dining.  This smoke-free air law can protect nonsmoking diners 
from the deadly consequences of secondhand smoke exposure and reinforce social behaviors 
against the habit of smoking.  This ordinance, if adopted, shall be interpreted in a manner 
supplementary to and consistent with California Labor Code Section 6404.5 and California 
Health and Safety Code Sections 104495 and 118875, et seq., as amended, and in all cases of 
conflict between this chapter and any state law, the applicable state law provision shall prevail.  
The new laws would not apply to unenclosed areas designated for smoking by the owner or 
person/entity in control of the property.  

Update Section 22A-2, Prohibiting Smoking in Public Places and Public Events.  In 
consideration of the attachments provided to this staff report, referenced herein as Attachments 
1-3, the City has demonstrated the dangers of smoking and secondhand smoke.  The negative 
effects from smoking and secondhand smoke constitute a harm which the City has a substantial 
government interest in preventing and/or abating.  If the City desires to reduce exposure to 
secondhand smoke by creating smoke-free environments, it can do so while striking a 
reasonable balance between the needs of persons who still smoke, and the need of nonsmokers 
to breathe smoke-free air.  This would protect the public from nonconsensual exposure to 
secondhand smoke in and around publics spaces in the City.

The new language proposed in the draft ordinance would also mean that there is no smoking in 
public spaces, which would include roads, alleyways, any public sidewalk, near bus stops, or in 
any public parking lot.  As documented in this staff report and attachments, there is a compelling 
interest, as well as public support, in enacting this portion of the draft ordinance to restrict 
tobacco use in public places to protect those who live, work, and play in Escondido.  The 
prohibition would not apply to 1) private sidewalks at locations not adjacent to a public right-of-
way; 2) privately-owned parking lots or privately-owned lots or facilities; or 3) outdoor, private 
property.  It would also not apply to smoking inside a personal vehicle not used for hire such as 



Tobacco Use Regulations (AZ 20-0001)
March 4, 2020
Page 4

a taxi, but only when there are no minors in the vehicle.  In the adoption and execution of this 
ordinance, it is presumed based on substantial evidence that establishing additional smoke-free 
air policies and controls would help promote healthy-living, quality of life, social equity, provide 
neighborhood social and economic stability, attract business and industry, and encourage other 
environmental conditions that make the City of Escondido a pleasant place to live, work, and 
recreate.  

ENFORCEMENT:

The Municipal Code already sets forth the enforcement provisions for smoke-free air law enforcement 
(Section 22A-4 of Chapter 22A, which is proposed to be relocated to Section 22A-3).  The proposed 
ordinance would be subject to these same enforcement provisions.  If the draft ordinance is adopted, 
the Planning Division would prepare a brief synopsis of the ordinance explaining that smoking is 
prohibited in specific locations throughout the City, and describe the areas and circumstances under 
which smoking is still allowed.  Copies of the statement would be displayed and made available to the 
public at all City owned buildings regularly visited by the general public.  The statement shall also be 
posted on the City website and included at least once a year in any City newsletter mailed to all 
residents and/or announcements made through social media outreach.

PUBLIC OUTREACH: 

During the course of developing and finalizing the Zoning Code Land Use Study, City staff engaged 
the public on different occasions to advertise the process and/or to solicit input.  City staff published 
two (2) print display advertisements in the Union Tribune and sent direct mailers to the businesses 
covered and involved in the study (approximately received by 500+ businesses, which included 
approximately 130+ businesses engaged in tobacco product retailing).  These notices identified the 
land use activities covered by the study, which included tobacco product retailing, and created notice 
of potential input opportunities.  City staff also hosted two (2) stakeholder meetings on January 15, 
2019, and January 31, 2019, to hear directly from interested parties on the subject.  City staff also 
facilitated an additional stakeholder meeting on May 16, 2019, with an expanded outreach effort to 
include local community groups and regional health advocates.  Again, 130+ notices were sent to every 
tobacco product retailer in the City.  Fourteen (14) stakeholders attended the May 16, 2019 meeting, 
most of which included representatives from community health support groups or advocates.  Only one 
(1) tobacco store owner was present.  

City staff understands the importance of engaging the community in the process and has conducted 
additional outreach activities to solicit public input.  City staff held additional public meetings on tobacco 
product sales, possession, and use regulation options on December 17, 2019 and December 19, 2019.  
These meetings were advertised in similar manner as other aforementioned meetings, with print display 
advertisements in the Union Tribune.  City Staff also notified existing City-permitted tobacco product 
retailers of public meetings to consider policies restricting sales, including the sale of flavored tobacco 
products.  Meeting notices were also sent to school representatives and student families.  
Approximately 15 people attended each meeting (December 17, 2019, and December 19, 2019).  



Tobacco Use Regulations (AZ 20-0001)
March 4, 2020
Page 5

Planning Division staff also attended the Coalition for Drug Free Youth meeting on January 14, 2020, 
with approximately 24 people attending and representing a balanced group of stakeholder interests.      

In consideration of all outreach events and activities conducted and input received, in general all 
attendees spoke in favor of limiting youth access and stated support for expanding smoke-free air 
policies.  All those that attended supported some form of additional tobacco product regulation, inclusive 
of delineations for electronic smoking devices and drug paraphernalia.  All correspondences received 
over the past year is attached hereto (provided in Attachment 3).  The feedback received at these 
meetings, and with follow-up communications, formed the steering guidance necessary to move 
forward with developing a draft ordinance for the City Council’s consideration.  The proposed ordinance, 
which focuses on the smoke-free air laws component of the work effort has been determined by City 
staff to be in the best interest of the City as a result of comments received from the general public, 
youth representatives, health advocates, businesses, and tobacco product retailers; and given these 
considerations, City staff recommends City Council adoption of the draft ordinance as presented.   

NEXT STEPS:

As is the case with most ordinances, this ordinance requires a first and second reading.  If the Council 
adopts the first reading on March 4, 2020, City staff would bring back the ordinance for a second reading 
for adoption later in March or April as a consent item. The ultimate timing of the second reading depends 
on the scope of any changes requested by the Council.  The Council could also choose to revise any 
of the details of this ordinance, or choose different dates for implementation.  Typically, ordinances go 
into effect 30 days after adoption by City Council.  

ENVIRONMENTAL STATUS:

The proposed Municipal Code Amendment is not a project pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 
15378(b)(2), which provides that a project does not include general policy and procedure making. The 
adoption of this Municipal Code Amendment is also not a project pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 
15378(b)(5), which provides that a project does not include organizational and administrative action of 
government that will not result in direct or indirect physical changes in the environment.  

In the alternative, the City has determined that if the adoption of the Municipal Code Amendment is a 
project, it is subject to exemption.  The project would be categorically exempt from environmental review 
in conformance with CEQA Section 15061(b)(3) and Section 15308.  The activity is covered by the 
general rule (“common sense” rule) that exempts activities that can be seen with certainty to have no 
possibility for causing a significant effect on the environment.  Approval would not individually or 
cumulatively result in the possibility of creating significant effects on the environment because the 
proposed amendment to the Municipal Code only updates and expands upon existing policy 

It is also categorically exempt under CEQA Guidelines Section 15308, which exempts from CEQA any 
projects by a regulatory agency for the protection of the environment.  The Ordinance constitutes a 
regulatory activity whose purpose is to protect air quality and prevent adverse health effects of air 



Tobacco Use Regulations (AZ 20-0001)
March 4, 2020
Page 6

pollutants cause by smoking.  Therefore, the proposed Municipal Code Amendment is not subject to 
CEQA and no further environmental review is necessary.

APPROVED AND ACKNOWLEDGED ELECTRONICALLY BY:

Bill Martin, Director of Community Development Mike Strong, Assistant Director of Planning
2/27/20 9:53 a.m. 2/27/20 8:08 a.m.

ATTACHMENTS:

1. Attachment 1 – State of Tobacco Control Report - 2020
2. Attachment 2 – Tobacco Product Retail and Smoke-Free Air Laws Research 
3. Attachment 3 – Public Comments Received 
4. Ordinance No. 2020-06



ATTACHMENT 1



Table of Contents
Executive Summary       3

State of Tobacco Control in California: 2020 Highlights   4

Cities and Counties on the Rise      6

Top of the Class: Diverse and Different     13

Grades for Top Ten Cities in California     14

Appendix A - California Tobacco Control Policies by the Numbers  15

Appendix B - Top of the Class Demographic Breakdown   16

Appendix C - Local Grading Methodology    17

Appendix D - Raise Your Grade      26

Alameda  29

Alpine   30

Amador   31

Butte   32

Calaveras  33

Colusa   34

Contra Costa  35

Del Norte  36

El Dorado  37

Fresno   38

Glenn   39

Humboldt  40

Imperial  41

Inyo   42

Kern   43

Kings   44

Lake   45

Lassen   46

Los Angeles  47

Madera   51

Marin   52

Mariposa  53

Mendocino  54

Merced   55

Modoc   56

Mono   57

Monterey  58

Napa   59

Nevada   60

Orange   61

Placer   63

Plumas   64

Riverside  65

Sacramento  67

San Benito  68

San Bernardino  69

San Diego  71

San Francisco  72

San Joaquin  73

County Grades

San Luis Obispo  74

San Mateo  75

Santa Barbara  76

Santa Clara  77

Santa Cruz  78

Shasta   79

Sierra   80

Siskiyou  81

Solano   82

Sonoma   83

Stanislaus  84

Sutter   85

Tehama   86

Trinity   87

Tulare   88

Tuolumne  89

Ventura  90

Yolo   91

Yuba   92

2

TABLE OF CONTENTS



In 2019, California proved to be a nationwide leader in combating the tobacco industry and protecting 

its youth from accessing tobacco. Annually, hundreds of millions of dollars are invested to better the lives 

of Californians by funding strong tobacco control and prevention programs. California’s efforts have not 

gone unnoticed and are re ected in the American Lung Association State of Tobacco Control (SOTC) 2020 

national report.  

The national SOTC report tracks progress on key tobacco control policies at the state and federal levels as 

of January 2, 2020. The report assigns grades to every state in ve key areas. This year’s report features 

California at the top of the pack, earning “A”s for Tobacco Prevention and Control Funding and Smokefree 

Air policies and “B”s for Tobacco Tax, Minimum Age, and Access to Cessation Services. These grades 

overall place us within the top 5 states in the country and re ect California’s dedication to ending the 

tobacco epidemic.  

Despite California’s signi cant progress, tobacco continues to be the number one leading cause of 

preventable death in the state. Each year, approximately 40,000 adults die in California from smoking and 

over one-quarter of all cancer related deaths in the state are attributed to smoking. Further, California 

has about 40,700 high school students that currently smoke and over 7,700 kids begin smoking each year. 

hile the tobacco industry continues to nd new methods to market and sell its products to a new 

generation of smokers, 2019 was a successful year for local tobacco control efforts. This year, 34 

municipalities passed policies restricting the sale of avored tobacco products. Communities throughout 

California are taking strong stances to protect their youth and all residents from the harms of tobacco. 

To highlight these efforts, in coordination with the national 

report, the American Lung Association in California releases its 

State of Tobacco Control 2020 – California Local Grades report to 

track how well California municipalities protect their citizens 

from the burden of tobacco. The State of Tobacco Control 2020 
– California Local Grades report is based on a review of county 

and municipal codes in four key areas for all 58 counties (which 

covers the unincorporated areas of each county) and 482 

incorporated cities and towns in the state. Since the rst such 

report in 2009, the number of communities with an overall “A” 

or “B” grade has increased dramatically.

The purpose of the State of Tobacco Control 2020 – California 
Local Grades report is to increase public knowledge about local 

laws that protect residents from the deadly toll of tobacco 

and to encourage local leadership to take action where 

improvement is needed. Grades are not intended to re ect the 

efforts of local tobacco control coalitions, the broader public 

health community or organizations working to advance local 

tobacco control policies. Instead, responsibility for enacting these life- and revenue-saving policies falls 

to elected of cials in each community. Leadership on key issues and solutions to these dif cult problems 

can come from every level of government. Local elected of cials can, and should, take steps to protect 

residents from tobacco and secondhand smoke.

Executive Summary

Highlights from this year’s 
California report include:

• 7 communities improved 
their Overall Grade to an “A” 

• 29 communities increased 
their grade to an “A” in at 
least one policy area 

• 55 communities passed 
policies on emerging issues 

• 19 fewer communities 
received an overall “F” 
grade compared to 2018 

3

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY



State of Tobacco Control in California 2020 Highlights

e 2013, there has been a signi cant increase in cities andSince 2013, there has been a s counties that receive an “A” for their Overall 

Tobacco Control grade. From ust 18 communities in 2013 to 44 communities in 2019 the number of “A”s Tobacco Control grade. From u

has more than doubled. See the “Top of the Class” section of the report (page 13) for the full list of cities

and counties that have taken comprehensive policy action. These diverse communities are leading the 

state in taking the necessary steps to protect the public from the harms of tobacco.

2013

2019

unities Received an Overall “A”7 New Commu

In 2019, 61 Cities and Counties Adopted and Updated 
Tobacco Control Policies

29 communities increased their grades to an “A” in at 
least one category, 34 communities adopted policies that 
covered two or more of the four policy areas…

In 2019, 61 municipalities adopted local ordinances in at least one of the four 

policy categories included in the State of Tobacco Control 2020 – California Local 
Grades report. This year saw steady increases in tobacco control policies with:

• 19 municipalities adopting ordinances restricting smoking in outdoor areas

• 12 adding restrictions on smoking in multi-unit housing

• 16 strengthening requirements for tobacco retailers to obtain licenses

• 35 passing or updating policies to include electronic smoking devices in the 

de nitions of secondhand smoke or tobacco products

• 55 passing policies on emerging issues that help regulate the sale of novel 

tobacco products 

See the “Cities and Counties on the Rise” section of the report (page 6) for the full 

list of municipalities that passed policies in 2019.

4

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL IN CALIFORNIA 2020 HIGHLIGHTS



Percent of Population by Overall 
Tobacco Control Grade

of Californians are  
Still Unprotected 

While the overall number of F grades continues 

to decline steadily, 47 percent of California’s 

population still live in communities scoring “D” 

or “F.” Only 6 percent of Californians live in 

areas with an “A” grade.

29 Communities Improved Their 
Grade to an “A” in at Least One 
Policy Category in 2019

34 Communities Passed Polices 
Restricting the Sale of Flavored 
Tobacco 

The number of communities that passed 

policies restricting the sale of avored 

tobacco products more than doubled in 

2019, from 29 communities to now 63. 

Communities are taking action to combat 

the tobacco industry’s aggressive marketing 

and  protect the next generation from harms 

and of tobacco use.

Adelanto

Albany

Alturas

Anderson

Auburn

Benicia

Burbank

Burlingame

Capitola

Corte 
Madera

Culver City

Cupertino

Delano

Fremont

Hermosa 
Beach

Lafayette

Laguna 
Niguel

Larkspur

Livermore

Los Angeles 
County

Menlo Park

Oxnard

Paci c 
Grove

Redondo 
Beach

47%

A6%

B15%

C32%

D15%

F32%

Adelanto

Atascadero

Auburn

Bell Gardens

Benicia

Capitola

Clearlake

Colton

Corte  
Madera

Cupertino

Firebaugh

Fremont

Gonzales

Hanford

Healdsburg 

Hermosa 
Beach

Irvine 

Lafayette

Larkspur

Livermore

Millbrae

Paci c Grove

Paci ca

Pismo  
Beach

Redondo 
Beach

San Anselmo

San Carlos 

Santa Clara

Santa Maria

Sacramento

San 
Anselmo

San Carlos

San Rafael

Santa 
Barbara 
County

Santa Cruz 
County

Santa Maria

South San 
Francisco

Watsonville

Woodland 

“In our community our schools are 
having to deal with this vaping issue 
and after researching on what vaping 
does to our youth and adults we felt no 
longer could we sit back, ..... the almighty 
dollar cannot be valued over the health 
and lives of our youth and adults. The 
importance of passing this ordinance was 
to show we put our people of all ages as 
our priority.”

- GRACE VALLEJO 
   Councilwoman, City of Delano

5

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL IN CALIFORNIA 2020 HIGHLIGHTS CONTINUED



Cities and Counties on the Rise
Each year, cities and counties across the state work diligently to 
safeguard their residents from the harmful effects of tobacco.  
Our “On the Rise” communities acted in 2019 to reduce sales of tobacco 
products and prevent the harmful effects of secondhand smoke. For some 

control policy. For others, these policies round out comprehensive 
measures already in place. Each of these policies represent the tangible 
impact that tobacco control efforts are having on communities across  
the state.
These 61 “Cities and Counties On the Rise” adopted local ordinances in at least one of the four policy 

categories in 2019. In most cases, their actions improved their grade, but in some, the ordinance(s) only 

contributed to increasing the points in a particular grade category. These policies and actions taken to 

keep community members safe are noteworthy and deserve acknowledgement.

On the following pages are the 2020 “Cities and Counties on the Rise,” which are listed along with the 

grade categories in which they passed a policy. For further details about each municipality’s grades and 

points, including their Overall Tobacco Control grade, see the county report cards that begin on page 26. 

Benicia passed the most 
comprehensive tobacco 
policies of 2019

In one major policy push, Benicia 

improved their Overall Grade from an 

“F” to an “A”. This effort included all 

four sections of graded in this report: 

Smokefree Outdoor Air, Smokefree 

Housing, and Reducing Sale of Tobacco 

Products, and Emerging Issues. 

 
took the right step to protect public health.  
I am grateful for the council majority in putting 
people’s need to be free from second hand smoke 

air and healthy living. Bravo to our city and county 

putting the ordinances together. Well done.” 

- ELIZABETH PATTERSON, Benicia Mayor

6

CITIES AND COUNTIES ON THE RISE



Northern California

City County Grade Category Improvement

Alturas Modoc Overall Tobacco Grade (C to B)
Emerging Issues (1 point bonus):
  - Flavored Tobacco Products

Anderson Shasta Emerging Issues (1 point bonus):
  - Flavored Tobacco Products

Corning Tehama Smokefree Outdoor Air (F to D)
Emerging Issues (1 point bonus):
  - Emerging Products Definition - Secondhand Smoke

Modoc County Modoc Smokefree Outdoor Air (Point Increase)

North Coast

City County Grade Category Improvement

Clearlake Lake Overall Tobacco Control Grade (F to D)
Smokefree Outdoor Air (D to A)
Emerging Issues (1 point bonus):
  - Emerging Products Definition - Secondhand Smoke

Corte Madera Marin Overall Tobacco Control Grade (C to A)
Reducing Sale of Tobacco Products (F to A)
Emerging Issues (4 point bonus):
  - Emerging Products Definition - Licensing
  - Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies
  - Flavored Tobacco Products
  - Minimum Pack Size of Cigars

Healdsburg Sonoma Overall Tobacco Control Grade (B to A)
Smokefree Housing (D to A)

Larkspur Marin Overall Tobacco Control Grade (C to A)
Reducing Sale of Tobacco Products (F to A)
Emerging Issues (4 point bonus):
  - Emerging Products Definition - Licensing
  - Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies
  - Flavored Tobacco Products
  - Minimum Pack Size of Cigars

San Anselmo Marin Overall Tobacco Control Grade (B to A)
Reducing Sale of Tobacco Products (F to A)
Emerging Issues (4 point bonus):
  - Emerging Products Definition - Licensing
  - Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies
  - Flavored Tobacco Products
  - Minimum Pack Size of Cigars

San Rafael Marin Overall Tobacco Control Grade (Remains A)
Emerging Issues (3 point bonus):
  - Emerging Products Definition - Licensing
  - Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies
  - Flavored Tobacco Products

7

CITIES AND COUNTIES ON THE RISE CONTINUED



Greater Bay Area

City County Grade Category Improvement

Albany Alameda Emerging Issues (2 point bonus):
  - Flavored Tobacco Products
  - Minimum Pack Size of Cigars

Benicia Solano Overall Tobacco Control Grade (F to A)
Smokefree Outdoor Air (D to A)
Smokefree Housing (F to A)
Reducing Sale of Tobacco Products (F to A)
Emerging Issues (5 point bonus):
  - Emerging Products Definition - Licensing
  - Retailer Location Restrictions
  - Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies
  - Flavored Tobacco Products
  - Minimum Pack Size of Cigars

Berkeley Alameda Emerging Issues (1 point bonus):
  - Minimum Pack Size of Cigars

Burlingame San Mateo Emerging Issues (1 point bonus):
  - Flavored Tobacco Products

Cupertino Santa Clara Overall Tobacco Control Grade (D to C)
Reducing Sale of Tobacco Products (F to A)
Emerging Issues (4 point bonus):
  - Emerging Products Definition – Licensing
  - Retailer Location Restrictions
  - Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies
  - Flavored Tobacco Products

Greater Sacramento

City County Grade Category Improvement

Auburn Placer Overall Tobacco Control Grade (F to C)
Reducing Sale of Tobacco Products (F to A)
Emerging Issues (3 point bonus):
  - Emerging Products Definition - Licensing
  - Retailer Location Restrictions
  - Flavored Tobacco Products

Loomis Placer Smokefree Outdoor Air (F to D)
Emerging Issues (1 point bonus):
  - Emerging Products Definition - Secondhand Smoke

Sacramento Sacramento Emerging Issues (1 point bonus):
  - Flavored Tobacco Products

Waterford Stanislaus Smokefree Outdoor Air (Point Increase)
Emerging Issues (1 point bonus):
  - Emerging Products Definition - Secondhand Smoke

Woodland Yolo Emerging Issues (1 point bonus):
  - Flavored Tobacco Products

8

CITIES AND COUNTIES ON THE RISE CONTINUED



Fremont Alameda Overall Tobacco Control Grade (B to A)
Reducing Sale of Tobacco Products (F to A)
Emerging Issues (2 point bonus):
  - Flavored Tobacco Products
  - Minimum Pack Size of Cigars

Lafayette Contra Costa Overall Tobacco Control Grade (C to A)
Reducing Sale of Tobacco Products (F to A)
Emerging Issues (4 point bonus):
  - Emerging Products Definition – Licensing
  - Retailer Location Restrictions
  - Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies
  - Flavored Tobacco Products

Livermore Alameda Overall Tobacco Control Grade (D to B)
Reducing Sale of Tobacco Products (F to A)
Emerging Issues (3 point bonus):
  - Emerging Products Definition – Licensing
  - Retailer Location Restrictions
  - Flavored Tobacco Products

Menlo Park San Mateo Emerging Issues (4 bonus points): 
  - Emerging Products Definition – Secondhand Smoke 
  - Emerging Products Definition – Licensing 
  - Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 
  - Flavored Tobacco Products 

Millbrae San Mateo Overall Tobacco Control Grade (D to C)
Smokefree Housing (F to A)
Emerging Issues (1 point bonus):
  - Emerging Products Definition - Secondhand Smoke

Paci ca San Mateo Overall Tobacco Control Grade (C to B)
Smokefree Housing (F to A)
Emerging Issues (1 point bonus):
  - Emerging Products Definition - Secondhand Smoke

San Carlos San Mateo Overall Tobacco Control Grade (C to B)
Smokefree Housing (D to A)
Emerging Issues (3 point bonus):
  - Emerging Products Definition - Secondhand Smoke
  - Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies
  - Flavored Tobacco Products

Santa Clara Santa Clara Overall Tobacco Control Grade (F to B)
Smokefree Outdoor Air (F to A)
Smokefree Housing (D to A)

South San 
Francisco 

San Mateo Emerging Issues (2 point bonus):
  - Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies
  - Flavored Tobacco Products

Greater Bay Area continued

City County Grade Category Improvement

9

CITIES AND COUNTIES ON THE RISE CONTINUED



Monterey-Santa Cruz

City County Grade Category Improvement

Capitola Santa Cruz Overall Tobacco Control Grade (C to B)
Reducing Sale of Tobacco Products (F to A)
Emerging Issues (1 point bonus):
  - Flavored Tobacco Products

Gonzales Monterey Overall Tobacco Control Grade (F to C)
Reducing Sale of Tobacco Products (F to A)
Emerging Issues (1 point bonus):
  - Emerging Products Definition - Licensing

Monterey County Monterey Smokefree Outdoor Air (F to D)
Emerging Issues (1 point bonus):
  - Emerging Products Definition - Secondhand Smoke

Paci c Grove Monterey Overall Tobacco Control Grade (F to C)
Smokefree Outdoor Air (D to B)
Smokefree Housing (F to A)
Emerging Issues (2 point bonus):
  - Emerging Products Definition - Secondhand Smoke
  - Flavored Tobacco Products

San Juan Bautista San Benito Smokefree Outdoor Air (Point Increase)

Santa Cruz County Santa Cruz Emerging Issues (1 point bonus):
  - Flavored Tobacco Products

Watsonville Santa Cruz Emerging Issues (2 point bonus):
  - Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies
  - Flavored Tobacco Products

Central Valley

City County Grade Category Improvement

Delano Kern Emerging Issues (1 point bonus):
  - Flavored Tobacco Products

Firebaugh Fresno Overall Tobacco Control Grade (C to B)
Smokefree Housing (F to A)

Hanford Kings Overall Tobacco Control Grade (F to C)
Smokefree Outdoor Air (F to A)
Smokefree Housing (F to C)
Emerging Issues (1 point bonus):
  - Emerging Products Definition - Secondhand Smoke

Madera Madera Overall Tobacco Control Grade (F to D)
Smokefree Outdoor Air (F to C)
Emerging Issues (1 point bonus):
  - Emerging Products Definition - Secondhand Smoke

Mariposa County Mariposa Smokefree Outdoor Air (C to B)

Orange Grove Fresno Emerging Issues (1 point bonus):
  - Emerging Products Definition - Secondhand Smoke

Parlier Fresno Overall Tobacco Control Grade (D to C)
Smokefree Outdoor Air (F to C)
Emerging Issues (1 point bonus):
  - Emerging Products Definition - Secondhand Smoke

10

CITIES AND COUNTIES ON THE RISE CONTINUED



Central Coast

City County Grade Category Improvement

Arroyo Grande San Luis Obispo Emerging Issues (1 point bonus):
  - Emerging Products Definition - Secondhand Smoke

Atascadero San Luis Obispo Overall Tobacco Control Grade (F to C)
Smokefree Outdoor Air (F to A)
Smokefree Housing (F to C)
Emerging Issues (1 point bonus):
  - Emerging Products Definition - Secondhand Smoke

Oxnard Ventura Emerging Issues (2 point bonus): 
  - Flavored Tobacco Products 
  - Minimum Pack Size of Cigars

Pismo Beach San Luis Obispo Overall Tobacco Control Grade (F to D)
Smokefree Outdoor Air (F to A)
Emerging Issues (1 point bonus):
  - Emerging Products Definition - Secondhand Smoke

Santa Barbara 
County 

Santa Barbara Emerging Issues (2 point bonus): 
  - Flavored Tobacco Products
  - Minimum Pack Size of Cigars

Santa Maria Santa Barbara Overall Tobacco Control Grade (D to C)
Reducing Sale of Tobacco Products (F to A)
Emerging Issues (4 point bonus): 
  - Emerging Products Definition - Licensing
  - Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies
  - Flavored Tobacco Products
  - Minimum Pack Size of Cigars

Los Angeles County

City County Grade Category Improvement

Bell Gardens Los Angeles Overall Tobacco Control Grade (F to C)
Smokefree Housing (F to A)

Beverly Hills Los Angeles Emerging Issues (1 point bonus):
  - Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies

Burbank Los Angeles Emerging Issues (1 point bonus):
  - Flavored Tobacco Products

Culver City Los Angeles Emerging Issues (1 point bonus):
  - Flavored Tobacco Products

Hermosa Beach Los Angeles Overall Tobacco Control Grade (D to B)
Reducing Sale of Tobacco Products (F to A)
Emerging Issues (5 point bonus):
  - Emerging Products Definition - Licensing
  - Retailer Location Restrictions
  - Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies
  - Flavored Tobacco Products
  - Minimum Pack Size of Cigars

11

CITIES AND COUNTIES ON THE RISE CONTINUED



Inland Empire

City County Grade Category Improvement

Adelanto San Bernardino Overall Tobacco Control Grade (F to C)
Reducing Sale of Tobacco Products (F to A)
Emerging Issues (2 point bonus):
  - Emerging Products Definition – Licensing
  - Flavored Tobacco Products

Colton San Bernardino Overall Tobacco Control Grade (F to C)
Reducing Sale of Tobacco Products (F to A)
Emerging Issues (2 point bonus):
  - Emerging Products Definition – Licensing
  - Retailer Location Restrictions

Orange County

City County Grade Category Improvement

Irvine Orange Overall Tobacco Control Grade (F to C)
Smokefree Outdoor Air (D to A)
Smokefree Housing (F to C)
Emerging Issues (1 point bonus):
  - Emerging Products Definition - Secondhand Smoke

Laguna Niguel Orange Emerging Issues (1 point bonus):
  - Flavored Tobacco Products

San Clemente Orange Emerging Issues (1 point bonus):
  - Retailer Location Restrictions

Los Angeles 
County 

Los Angeles Smokefree Outdoor Air (D to C)
Emerging Issues (5 point bonus):
  - Emerging Products Definition - Secondhand Smoke
  - Emerging Products Definition - Licensing 
  - Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies
  - Flavored Tobacco Products
  - Minimum Pack Size of Cigars

Redondo Beach Los Angeles Overall Tobacco Control Grade (F to B)
Smokefree Outdoor Air (D to A) 
Reducing Sale of Tobacco Products (F to A)
Emerging Issues (3 point bonus):
  - Emerging Products Definition - Secondhand Smoke
  - Emerging Products Definition – Licensing
  - Flavored Tobacco Products

Los Angeles County continued

City County Grade Category Improvement

12

CITIES AND COUNTIES ON THE RISE CONTINUED



Racial  
Diversity

Largest Latino 
community:

Huntington 
Park (97%)

Largest Black 
community:

Compton (30%)

Largest Asian 
community:

Fremont (57%)

These communities recognize the importance of taking steps to protect their residents from the harms of tobacco. 

Latino and African-American 
populations are regularly targeted 

by the tobacco industry through 
marketing and price manipulation. 

The policies outlined in this report are 
ways in which local communities can 
fight back. Elected officials in these 

communities have stepped up to 
tell the tobacco industry that their 

residents are not up for grabs.

Top of the Class: Diverse and Different
In 2019, 44 cities or counties received an overall grade of “A.” These diverse 
communities demonstrate that support for tobacco control exists in all 
types of communities across California. This report illustrates that they 
are models for the adoption of stronger tobacco control policies in diverse 
communities—any community can look to this report as a demonstration 
that strengthening tobacco laws can happen in any part of California. See 
appendix B (page 16) for a comparison of all 44 municipalities in the areas of 
population, median income, race, and Latino origin. 

Income Diversityme D
Statewide Mediande Me
Income: $67,169me: $67,

Highest Average Income:

Belvedere
$213,500

Lowest Average Income:

Huntington Park
$38,106

The most diverse 
community to earn an 
overall “A” in 2019 was 

Fremont. 

Median Income: 
$122,191

Racial Diversity:  
Asian: 57.3%  
White: 21.3%  

Latino Origin: 13.5% 
Black: 2.9%  

Two or more races: 3.7%

13

TOP OF THE CLASS



14

Grades for Ten Largest Cities in California
Strong tobacco control laws in the largest cities in California could make 
a big difference in protecting more than a quarter of California’s residents 
from secondhand smoke and other dangers of tobacco. 

California’s Report Card

Ten Largest Cities in  
California by Population

Overall Tobacco  
Control Grade

Los Angeles Pop: 4,040,079 C

San Diego Pop: 1,420,572 D

San Jose Pop: 1,043,058 B

San Francisco Pop: 883,869 B

Fresno Pop: 536,683 F

Sacramento Pop: 508,172 C

Long Beach Pop: 475,013 C

Oakland Pop: 432,897 B

Bakers eld Pop: 389,211 F

Anaheim Pop: 359,339 F

Population numbers from State of California, Department of Finance, E-1 
Population Estimates for Cities and Counties. Sacramento, CA, May 1, 2019.

GRADES FOR TOP TEN CITIES IN CALIFORNIA

Unfortunately, for years California’s top ten most 

populous cities have done little to improve their 

grades and none have earned an overall grade 

of an “A.” Elected of cials in California’s most 

populated areas must do more to ensure their 

residents are protected from the harmful effects 

of tobacco.



APPENDIX A: California Tobacco Control Policies by the Numbers

Total Number of Tobacco Control Policies  
Over Five Years

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Smokefree Outdoor Air

Dining 178 164 153 144 135

Entryways 170 159 152 142 125

Public Events 167 157 145 138 129

Recreation 
Areas

404 392 384 365 358

Service Areas 171 162 148 141 129

Sidewalks 86 76 67 60 54

Worksites 64 58 55 52 47

Smokefree Housing

Apartments 78 69 65 57 48

Condos 69 60 56 51 43

Common 
Areas

153 143 141 133 127

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products

Tobacco 
Retailer 
Licencing

196 179 172 164 155

Emerging Issues

SHS 
De nition

271 227 196 155 155

Licensing 
De nition

170 147 135 107 108

Retailer 
Location 
Restriction

88 77 71 66 53

Sales in 
Pharmacies

36 21 15 9 8

Flavored 
Tobacco

63 29 15 7 6

Minimum 
Pack Size

30 18 11 8 6

A 8% 44 communities

B 10% 56 communities

C 19% 103 communities

D 16% 87 communities

F 46% 247 communities

Breakdown of 
Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade

A
B

C

D

F

15

APPENDIX A



APPENDIX B: Top of the Class Demographic Breakdown

 
Community

2019
Population

Median House-
hold Income

Latino  
Origin

White  
Only *

Black  
Only *

Asian  
Only *

Two or  
More Races*

California 39,927,315  $ 67,169 38.8% 37.9% 5.5% 13.9% 2.9%

Alameda 79,316  $ 89,045 11.5% 42.7% 7.3% 31.1% 6.0%

Albany 19,393  $ 87,694 13.0% 47.1% 4.1% 26.8% 5.7%

Belvedere 2,148  $ 213,500 4.9% 87.6% 0.0% 3.6% 3.9%

Benicia 27,570  $ 95,225 14.8% 61.9% 5.7% 10.4% 6.3%

Berkeley 123,328  $ 75,709 11.0% 54.6% 8.3% 19.6% 5.5%

Beverly Hills 34,627  $ 103,698 5.8% 78.8% 1.4% 9.8% 3.8%

Calabasas 24,239  $ 114,143 7.4% 76.5% 0.9% 9.8% 5.1%

Clayton 11,653  $ 146,225 9.4% 75.8% 0.9% 7.2% 5.8%

Compton 98,711  $ 48,117 66.8% 1.1% 30.4% 0.8% 0.4%

Contra Costa County** 173,406  $ 88,456 25.3% 44.9% 8.3% 15.8% 4.7%

Corte Madera 10,047  $ 134,902 9.0% 78.9% 1.2% 5.2% 3.7%

Daly City 109,122  $ 86,342 23.7% 12.7% 3.6% 56.3% 2.5%

Dublin 64,577  $ 138,007 9.8% 39.7% 4.6% 39.9% 5.2%

El Cajon 105,559  $ 49,445 29.2% 56.4% 5.4% 3.3% 4.5%

El Cerrito 25,459  $ 96,914 11.3% 47.1% 5.2% 28.6% 7.2%

Fairfax 7,721  $ 98,092 9.7% 81.8% 0.2% 4.3% 4.0%

Fremont 232,532  $ 122,191 13.5% 21.3% 2.9% 57.3% 3.7%

Half Moon Bay 12,631  $ 110,900 28.3% 62.6% 0.2% 5.1% 2.8%

Healdsburg 12,501  $ 77,928 33.7% 62.6% 0% 1.1% 2.2%

Huntington Park 59,350  $ 38,106 96.7% 1.6% 0.8% 0.6% 0.0%

Lafayette 26,327  $ 152,609 7.5% 76.7% 0.9% 9.8% 4.9%

Larkspur 12,578  $ 95,592 8.7% 79.9% 1.6% 5.3% 3.7%

Los Gatos 30,988  $ 132,671 7.4% 72.5% 1.5% 14.2% 4.1%

Manhattan Beach 35,922  $ 148,899 8.6% 74.7% 0.5% 10.6% 4.9%

Marin County** 69,343  $ 104,703 15.9% 71.5% 2.1% 5.7% 3.6%

Mill Valley 14,675  $ 141,698 7.4% 83.4% 0.1% 4.6% 4.6%

Novato 54,115  $ 89,812 20.3% 64.4% 2.2% 6.9% 4.2%

Oakley 41,759  $ 89,392 34.9% 42.8% 8.6% 7.5% 4.6%

Palo Alto 69,397  $ 147,537 7.3% 55.6% 1.2% 31.2% 4.1%

Pasadena 146,312  $ 76,264 34.4% 36.5% 9.7% 16.0% 2.7%

Richmond 110,436  $ 61,045 42.0% 17.9% 20.2% 14.7% 3.9%

Ross 2,526  $ 199,531 3.0% 89.5% 2.7% 2.9% 0.8%

San Anselmo 12,902  $ 116,867 4.2% 89.7% 0.6% 2.8% 2.4%

San Rafael 60,046  $ 85,931 29.7% 56.3% 2.3% 6.2% 3.9%

Santa Clara County** 88,368  $ 106,761 26.1% 32.6% 2.4% 34.9% 3.3%

Santa Monica 93,593  $ 86,084 16.0% 65.0% 4.1% 9.9% 4.5%

Saratoga 31,407  $ 173,136 4.0% 44.6% 0.7% 46.9% 3.0%

Sausalito 7,416  $ 110,385 8.5% 84.9% 2.6% 2.4% 0.8%

Sonoma 11,556  $ 76,964 14.4% 80.8% 0.0% 2.6% 2.1%

Sonoma County** 141,781  $ 71,769 26.4% 63.8% 1.4% 3.9% 3.3%

South Pasadena 26,245  $ 92,756 20.2% 41.9% 2.9% 29.0% 5.3%

Tiburon 9,362  $ 151,429 8.7% 83.1% 0.4% 2.7% 3.2%

Union City 74,916  $ 95,625 20.9% 15.5% 4.9% 53.0% 3.7%

Windsor 28,565  $ 91,032 31.7% 60.8% 0.5% 3.5% 2.6%

 

* Latino origin is not included in race breakdown. Data extracted by California Department of Finance and sourced from the U.S. Census Bureau 

** Median household income, race, and Latino origin are not available for county unincorporated. Countywide data were used in these instances

16

APPENDIX B

This table contains more detailed information about the Top of the Class overall “A” grade cities from page 13



APPENDIX C: Local Grading Methodology
The American Lung Association in California established 

where local action is needed and where the greatest 

because tobacco remains the number one preventable 
cause of death in California and because experience 
shows that local action has been the cornerstone 
of the tobacco control movement and public health 
improvement. 

The three tobacco control policy grades that are assigned to each city and county are:

(1) Smokefree Outdoor Air 

(2) Smokefree Housing 

(3) Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products

These three grades plus Emerging Issues Bonus Points are then used to calculate 

an Overall Tobacco Control grade for each municipality. An “n/a” or “not applicable” 

score is given to municipalities in which it is not possible to adopt a speci c type 

of policy due to a complete lack of the entity that is being graded. For example, if 

a city or county doesn’t have any stores that sell tobacco products, then the city is 

awarded an n/a as opposed to 0 points in the Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products 

category, and the grading scales are adjusted accordingly. 

Below is a description of each of the grading categories, a summary of the relevant 

state laws and an explanation of the grade criteria.

Overall Tobacco Control Grade
Description –The Overall Tobacco Control grade is a letter grade awarded to the 

municipality based on its grades in the three categories, plus Emerging Issues 

Bonus Points. 

Grade Criteria – To determine the Overall Tobacco Control grade, the city 

or county is given a point value for each of its grades in the three categories 

(Smokefree Outdoor Air, Smokefree Housing, Reducing Sales of Tobacco 
Products) as follows: A=4; B=3; C=2; D=1; and F=0. These three point values are 

then added together, along with the Emerging Issues Bonus Points section (3 or 

more bonus points = 1 additional point), for a total point value for the Overall 

Tobacco Control grade. The total points are turned into grades based on a scale of: 

A (11-12); B (8-10); C (5-7); D (2-4); and F (0-1).

Grade Scale
Below is a quick 

reference for the 

point scale for the 

four letter grades 

received by each 

city and county.

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade
A: 11-12 pts 

B: 8-10 pts 

C: 5-7 pts 

D: 2-4 pts 

F: 0-1 pts

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air Grade
A: 18+ pts 

B: 13-17 pts 

C: 8-12 pts 

D: 3-7 pts 

F: 0-2 pts

Smokefree Housing 
Grade
A: 10+ pts 

B: 7-9 pts 

C: 4-6 pts 

D: 1-3 pts 

F: 0 pts

Reducing Sales of 
Tobacco Products 
Grade
A: 4 pts 

B: 3 pts 

C: 2 pts 

D: 1 pts 

F: 0 pts

Emerging Issues 
Bonus Points
3+ pts adds one point 

to the Overall Grade

17

APPENDIX C



Smokefree Outdoor Air
Description – Secondhand smoke exposure is proven to be harmful at any level. This recognition that 

secondhand smoke is extremely toxic has bolstered efforts by local elected of cials across the state to 

protect the health of their residents by adopting local ordinances that restrict smoking in a variety of 

outdoor areas ranging from parks to sidewalks.

State Law – California used to have some of the strongest laws in the nation to protect people from 

harmful secondhand smoke exposure. However, these state laws mostly focus on workplaces and other 

indoor areas and only a few laws restricting smoking in outdoor areas, such as those detailed below. Cities 

and counties have the explicit authority to go beyond state law and enact secondhand smoke restrictions 

in outdoor areas.

Grade Criteria – The Smokefree Outdoor Air grade is based on the smoking restrictions adopted by local 

communities in seven outdoor areas – (1) Dining Areas; (2) Entryways; (3) Public Events; (4) Recreation 
Areas; (5) Service Areas; (6) Sidewalks in Commercial Areas; and (7) Worksites. In the ve outdoor 

areas, the city or county is given a point value between 0 and 4 based on the strength of their local 

ordinance. In two of the outdoor areas (Sidewalks in Commercial Areas and Worksites), the city or county 

is given a point value of 0 or 1 based on their local ordinance. These point values for the seven areas are 

then added together to calculate the overall Smokefree Outdoor Air grade using a scale of: A (18+); B (13-

17); C (8-12); D (3-7); and F (0-2).

Dining Areas

Description – Restrictions on smoking in 

outdoor seating areas at restaurants and 

bars.

State Law – Smoking is prohibited in indoor 

dining areas but there are no state law 

restrictions on smoking in outdoor dining 

areas.

Criteria 

4 –  All outdoor dining areas at bars and 

restaurants are 100% smokefree

2 –  Smoking restricted in outdoor dining 

areas but designated smoking areas 

allowed or exceptions made for certain 

types of bars and/or restaurants

0 –  No smoking restrictions in outdoor 

dining areas

Entryways

Description – Restrictions on smoking in places 

within a certain distance of doors, windows, and 

other openings into all enclosed areas where 

smoking is prohibited. 

State Law – Smoking is prohibited within 20 feet 

of entrances, exits, or operable windows of a public 

building, which includes state, county and city 

buildings.

Criteria 

4 –  Smoking prohibited within 20 or more feet of 

entryways

3 –  Smoking prohibited within 15-19 feet of 

entryways

2 –  Smoking prohibited within some distance 

less than 15 feet of entryways or within an 

unspeci ed distance of entryways

0 –  No smoking restrictions for entryways

18

APPENDIX C: LOCAL GRADING METHODOLOGY CONTINUED



Recreation Areas 

Description – Smoking restrictions at parks, 

beaches, trails and other similar recreation 

areas.

State Law – Smoking is prohibited within 25 

feet of tot lots and playgrounds.

Criteria

4 –  All recreation areas are 100% smokefree

3 –  Smoking restricted in all recreation 

areas, but designated smoking areas are 

permitted

2 –  Smoking prohibited in some parks, beaches 

and trails but not all recreation areas

0 –  No smoking restrictions in recreation areas

Public Events

Description – Smoking restrictions at events 

open to the public such as fairs, farmer’s 

markets, parades, concerts and other similar 

events that take place on public property.

State Law – There are no statewide 

restrictions on smoking in outdoor public 

events.

Criteria

4 –  All public events are 100% smokefree

3 –  Smoking restricted at all public events, but 

designated smoking areas are permitted

2 –  Smoking restricted at speci c types of 

public events (such as in all farmer’s 

markets), but not all public events

0 –  No restrictions on smoking at public events

Service Areas 

Description – Smoking restrictions in outdoor 

locations where people stand or wait for services 

including ATM lines, public transit stops, taxi 

stands and ticket lines.

State Law – There are no statewide restrictions on 

smoking in service areas.

Criteria

4 –  Smoking restricted at all service areas 

2 –  Smoking restricted at some types of service areas 

(such as at bus stops) but not all service areas

0 –  No restrictions on smoking in service areas

Smokefree Outdoor Air - Sidewalks in 
Commercial Areas 

Description – Smoking restrictions on sidewalks 

and other pedestrian walkways in commercial 

areas, such as downtown areas and outdoor 

shopping centers.

State Law – There are no statewide restrictions on 

smoking on sidewalks in commercial areas.

Criteria

1 –  Smoking restricted on sidewalks or other 

pedestrian walkways within all commercial 

areas or within a speci ed commercial or 

downtown area

Smokefree Outdoor Air - Worksites

Description – Smoking restrictions in outdoor 

places of employment, such as construction sites.

State Law – There are no statewide restrictions on 

smoking in outdoor worksites.

Criteria

1 –  Smoking restricted for some or all outdoor 

worksites

19

APPENDIX C: LOCAL GRADING METHODOLOGY CONTINUED



Nonsmoking Units in Apartments

Description – Prohibiting smoking within the 

units of multi-unit apartment buildings.

State Law – There are no statewide restrictions 

on smoking in units of multi-unit housing.

Criteria

4 –  Prohibits smoking in 100% of units for both 

new and existing apartments

2 –  Prohibits smoking in 75% or more of new and 

existing apartments units

1 –  Prohibits smoking in 75% or more of new 

apartment units

0 –  No requirements for declaring multi-unit 

housing units nonsmoking

Smokefree Housing
Description – While California has been a leader on protections from secondhand smoke, one area where 

people continue to be unprotected is in multi-unit housing. Secondhand smoke exposure in multi-unit 

housing is a serious health threat because secondhand smoke drifts into housing units from other units, 

balconies, patios and common areas.

State Law – The only statewide smoking restriction in multi-unit housing is a workplace restriction 

prohibiting smoking in indoor common areas (described below) and is not intended to protect the health 

of tenants.  A new state law that went into effect on January 1, 2012 authorizes landlords to prohibit 

smoking in the units they manage.  While it was legal for landlords to prohibit smoking in the apartments 

they own and manage prior to this law, that authority is now speci cally articulated in state law.  Cities 

and counties are allowed to go beyond state law in enacting secondhand smoke restrictions for multi-unit 

housing and the new state law does not preempt these local ordinances.

Grade Criteria – Cities and counties have taken a variety of approaches in passing local ordinances to 

try to address the problem of secondhand smoke in multi-unit housing. The overall Smokefree Housing 

grade is based on the grades for three types of smokefree housing policies – (1) Nonsmoking Units in 
Apartments; (2) Nonsmoking Units in Condominiums; (3) Nonsmoking Common Areas. For three of the 

policy areas, the city or county is given a point value between 0 and 4 based on the strength of their local 

ordinance the point values for the three areas are then added together to calculate the overall Smokefree 

Housing Grade. The point values are added and given a grade using a scale of: A (10+); B (7-9); C (4-6); D 

(1-3); and F (0). 

20

APPENDIX C: LOCAL GRADING METHODOLOGY CONTINUED



Nonsmoking Units in 
Condominiums

Description – Prohibiting smoking 

within the units of multi-unit 

condominium buildings.

State Law – There are no statewide 

restrictions on smoking in units of 

multi-unit housing.

Criteria

4 –  Prohibits smoking in 100% of units 

for both new and existing condos

2 –  Prohibits smoking in 75% of new 

and existing condos units

1 –  Prohibits smoking in 75% or more 

of new condos units

0 –  No requirements for declaring 

multi-unit housing units 

nonsmoking

Nonsmoking Common Areas

Description – Smoking restrictions in both indoor common 

areas, which include hallways, stairwells, laundry rooms 

and recreation rooms, and outdoor common areas, which 

include swimming pools, play areas, outdoor eating areas 

and courtyards of multi-unit housing.

State Law – Smoking is prohibited in indoor common areas 

of apartments and condominiums if the areas are places 

of employment. These areas are places of employment 

if there is an employee who works on the property, 

such as an on-site property manager, security guard or 

maintenance worker.

Criteria

4 –  Smoking restricted in all indoor and outdoor common 

areas, including ordinances that allow for designated 

smoking areas in outdoor common areas 

2 –  Smoking restricted in all indoor common areas, but not 

outdoor common areas

0 –  No restrictions on smoking in common areas

21

APPENDIX C: LOCAL GRADING METHODOLOGY CONTINUED



Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products
Description – An important aspect of reducing the smoking prevalence rates in California is to reduce the 

availability and sales of tobacco products. This most ef cient way to do this is through the tobacco retail 

environment. 

State Law – California has several statewide laws related to access to and sales of tobacco products that 

are described in the policy areas below. The state allows municipalities to go beyond state law in enacting 

restrictions in these policy areas.

Grade Criteria – The Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products grade is determined by the ordinances adopted 

by cities/counties in one area, Local Tobacco Retailer Licensing Ordinance. For this policy area, the city 

or county is given a point value between 0 and 4 based on the strength of their ordinance. The point value 

regarding the Tobacco Retailer Licensing Ordinance is then used to calculate the overall Reducing Sales of 

Tobacco Products grade using a scale of: A (4); B (3); C (2); D (1); and F (0).

22

APPENDIX C: LOCAL GRADING METHODOLOGY CONTINUED



Local Tobacco Retailer Licensing Ordinance

Description – Youth under the age of 21 are 

often able to purchase tobacco products at all 

types of retailers, ranging from convenience 

stores and gas stations to large chain grocery 

stores and pharmacies, even though it is illegal to 

sell tobacco products to minors. To combat this 

problem many cities and counties in California are 

passing ordinances that require tobacco retailers 

to obtain a license to sell tobacco products, which 

allows municipalities to keep track of tobacco 

retailers, conduct enforcement activities to ensure 

compliance with state and local laws and penalize 

retailers who sell to minors.

State Law – It is illegal in the state to sell or give 

tobacco products to anyone under the age of 21. 

There are laws in California to punish the business 

owner or the clerk when an illegal sale is made. 

Tobacco retailers are also required to obtain a 

state tobacco retailer license with an annual fee 

of $265, which has generally been used to combat 

black market sales and tax evasion.

Criteria – In order for a local licensing ordinance 

to effectively reduce illegal sales to minors, it must 

contain four provisions: (1) requiring tobacco 

retailers to pay an annual fee that suf ciently 

covers administration and enforcement efforts, 

including compliance checks; (2) requirement 

that all retailers obtain a license to sell tobacco 

and renew it annually; (3) provision that any 

violation of a local, state or federal tobacco 

law is considered a violation of the license; 

and (4) nancial deterrent through nes and 

penalties for violations that includes suspension 

and revocation of the license. Of these four 

provisions, it is essential that the licensing 

ordinance requires a suf cient fee that will 

cover the administration and enforcement of the 

license to ensure that these activities occur.  

A city/county can get credit for meeting 

the annual fee requirement if it uses other 

sustainable funding sources (such as funds from 

the Master Settlement Agreement) that are 

dedicated for administration and enforcement of 

the retailer license. 

The grade for Local Tobacco Retailer Licensing 

Ordinance section is based on the provisions of 

the ordinance that a city or county has adopted 

with the following scale:

4 –  Licensing ordinance with suf cient annual 

fee and the other 3 provisions outlined above

3 –  Licensing ordinance with suf cient annual 

fee and 2 of the other 3 provisions outlined 

above

2 –  Licensing ordinance with suf cient annual 

fee and 1 of the other 3 provisions outlined 

above

1 –  Licensing ordinance with suf cient annual 

fee and 0 of the other 3 provisions outlined 

above or licensing ordinance with insuf cient 

annual fee and any of the other 3 provisions 

outlined above

0 –  No licensing ordinance or a licensing 

ordinance with none of the provisions 

outlined above

23

APPENDIX C: LOCAL GRADING METHODOLOGY CONTINUED



Emerging Issue Bonus Points Methodology
Description –To combat ways the tobacco industry promotes the use of tobacco, cities and counties are 

adopting policies in new and challenging areas to reduce the prevalence of smoking in California. 

Grade Criteria – The Emerging Issues section includes 6 possible bonus points and factors them into 

the Overall Tobacco Control Grade. Bonus points are available in the following issue areas (1) Emerging 
; (2) 

Licensing Ordinances (3) Tobacco Retailer Location Restrictions; (4) Sales of Tobacco Products in 
Pharmacies; (5) Flavored Tobacco Product; and (6) Minimum Packaging of Cigars. Receiving a total of  

3 or more of these bonus points adds one point to the Overall Tobacco Control points.

Emerging Products 
 

Secondhand Smoke

Description – The tobacco 

industry is constantly 

creating and marketing new 

tobacco products. These 

products are often targeted 

to kids and can continue to 

attract new users to tobacco 

products. One such product 

is electronic cigarettes. 

State Law – State law 

restricts electronic 

cigarettes in the same 

places where it restricts 

traditional cigarettes.

Criteria  

1 bonus point – There 

is a strong de nition of 

smoke, smoking or tobacco 

product that would include 

electronic cigarettes or 

other new and emerging 

tobacco products in a 

jurisdiction’s secondhand 

smoke laws, and the 

jurisdiction’s secondhand 

smoke laws extend further 

than the state laws.

 
Tobacco Retailer License

Description – The tobacco industry is constantly creating and 

marketing new tobacco products. These products are often targeted 

to kids and can continue to attract new users to tobacco products. 

One such product is electronic cigarettes. 

State Law – It is illegal to sell electronic cigarettes to anyone under 

the age of 21. 

Criteria  

1 bonus point – There is a strong de nition of smoke, smoking or 

tobacco product that would include electronic cigarettes or other 

new and emerging tobacco products in a jurisdiction’s tobacco 

retailer licensing ordinance. 

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products 
Flavored Tobacco Products

Description – Another tool used by tobacco companies to target 

youth and gain new customers is to produce tobacco products in a 

myriad of avors. Restricting the avors of tobacco helps to reduce 

the appeal to youth.

State Law – There are no statewide laws restricting the sale of 

avored tobacco products. 

Criteria

1 bonus point – The sale of avored tobacco products, including 

cigars, little cigars, pipe tobacco and electronic cigarettes is 

prohibited.

24

APPENDIX C: LOCAL GRADING METHODOLOGY CONTINUED



Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products 
Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies

Description – Cities and counties can restrict sales 

of tobacco products at pharmacies. Pharmacies are 

traditionally places where people go to purchase 

products to get healthy or improve their health. 

The availability of tobacco products at pharmacies 

associates them with other healthy products and 

with the general health focus of these stores. Selling 

tobacco at pharmacies is contrary to a pharmacy’s 

purpose and sends a mixed message to consumers 

and youth. 

State Law – There is no statewide law that 

restricts pharmacies from selling tobacco products. 

Pharmacies that elect to sell tobacco products, like 

all other types of tobacco retailers, must obtain a 

statewide tobacco retailer license.

Criteria

1 bonus point – Tobacco products are prohibited 

from being sold at all pharmacies or at certain types 

of pharmacies in the city/county

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products 
Minimum Pack Size of Cigars

Description – Tobacco products are often sold 

individually to make them less expensive, and more 

enticing to youth. Establishing policies to ensure 

minimum packaging, or a minimum unit in which 

cigars can be sold in, will increase the purchase price 

and help protect youth from the health dangers of 

smoking little cigars and cigarillos.

State Law – There is no statewide law that restrict 

the sale of cigars in individual or small packages. 

Criteria

1 bonus point – Prohibits the sale of cigars in 

individual or small packages, which increases the 

price and makes them less attractive to youth.

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products 
Tobacco Retailer Location 
Restrictions

Description – Cities and counties can 

restrict where tobacco retailers are located 

and can prohibit them from being located 

within a certain distance, such as within 

1,000 feet, of schools and parks. This 

type of policy can be enacted in several 

ways including through conditional use 

permits, other zoning restrictions and local 

tobacco retailer licensing ordinances. By 

reducing the presence of tobacco retailers 

in locations where youth congregate, this 

type of policy can reduce sales of tobacco 

products to youth and assist with efforts to 

reduce youth smoking. Furthermore, the 

number of tobacco stores in a neighborhood 

can have an effect on youth smoking 

behaviors in that neighborhood and in some 

disadvantaged neighborhoods, the numbers 

of tobacco retailers is far greater than in less 

disadvantaged neighborhoods.

State Law – There are no statewide laws 

restricting tobacco retailers from being 

within a certain distance of schools and 

parks based on proximity to other retailers 

or populations.

Criteria

1 bonus point – The city/county restricts 

businesses that sell tobacco from being 

located within a certain distance of schools 

and/or parks through a conditional use 

permit, other zoning restrictions or a local 

tobacco retailer licensing ordinance. Or the 

city/county prohibits a tobacco retailer from 

being located within a certain distance of 

other retailers to avoid a high concentration 

in certain areas. Or there is a limit to the 

number of tobacco retailer licenses that can 

be issued.

25

APPENDIX C: LOCAL GRADING METHODOLOGY CONTINUED



APPENDIX D: Raise Your Grade 
As is evidenced by the 44 cities and counties that have overall “A” grades, strong tobacco control policies 

can work in any community. So how can your community improve its health and raise its grade? Below is 

a worksheet that can be used to determine what types of policies could improve the health of your city 

or county and help raise its grade. Just ll in the points for the policies your community already has in the 

right-hand column and see how many more points you will need to increase your grade. These policies will 

improve the health of your communities and ensure that tobacco is kept out of the hands of children. 

Smokefree Outdoor Air

1 Point 2 Points 3 Points 4 Points Total Points

Dining Allows 
designated 
smoking areas 
or includes 
exceptions

100% 
smokefree

Entryways Less than 
15 feet of all 
entryways 
or within an 
unspeci ed 
distance 

Within 15-19 
feet of all 
entryways

20 or more 
feet from all 
entryways

Public Events Some types of 
public events 
but not all 

Allows 
designated 
smoking areas

100% 
smokefree

Recreation Areas Some parks, 
beaches and 
trails 

 Allows 
designated 
smoking areas 

100% 
smokefree

Service Areas Some types of 
service areas 
but not all

All service 
areas

Sidewalks Some or all 
sidewalks 
or other 
pedestrian 
walkways 

Worksites Some or 
all outdoor 
worksites

18+ Points: A         13 - 17 Points: B         8 - 12 Points: C         3 - 7 Points: D         0 - 2 Points: F Total:

26

APPENDIX D



Smokefree Housing

1 Point 2 Points 3 Points 4 Points Total Points

Nonsmoking Units 
in Apartments

Prohibits 
smoking 
in 75% or 
more of new 
apartment 
units

75% or more 
of new and 
existing 
apartment 
units 

75-100% of 
units for both 
new and existing 
apartments

Nonsmoking Units 
in Condominiums

Prohibits 
smoking in 
75% or more 
of new condos 
units

75% or more 
of new and 
existing 
condos units

75-100% of units 
for both new and 
existing condos

Nonsmoking 
Common Areas

Indoor 
common areas

Indoor and outdoor 
common areas 

10+ Points: A         7 - 9 Points: B         4 - 6 Points: C         1 - 3 Points: D         0 Points: F Total:

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products

Policy Provisions: 

(1) Require tobacco retailers to pay an annual fee that suf ciently covers administration and enforcement efforts,  
        including compliance checks; 

(2) Requirement that all retailers obtain a license to sell tobacco and renew it annually; 

(3) Provision that any violation of a local, state or federal tobacco law is considered a violation of the license; and 

(4) Financial deterrent through nes and penalties for violations that includes suspension and revocation of the license.

1 Point 2 Points 3 Points 4 Points Total Points

Tobacco 
Retailer 
Licensing

A suf cient annual 
fee and 0 of the other 
3 provisions outlined 
above or licensing 
ordinance with 
insuf cient annual 
fee and any of the 
other 3 provisions 
outlined above

A suf cient 
annual fee and 
1 of the other 
3 provisions 
outlined above

A suf cient 
annual fee and 
2 of the other 
3 provisions 
outlined above

A suf cient 
annual fee 
and the other 
3 provisions 
outlined above

4+ Points: A         3 Points: B         2 Points: C         1 Points: D         0 Points: F Total:

27

APPENDIX D: RAISE YOUR GRADE CONTINUED



Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Bonus Point

Secondhand Smoke 
(Bonus Point)

There is a strong de nition of smoke, smoking or tobacco product that would 
include electronic cigarettes or other new and emerging tobacco products 
in a jurisdiction’s secondhand smoke laws and the jurisdiction’s secondhand 
smoke laws extend further than the state laws.

Tobacco Retailer 
License (Bonus Point)

There is a strong de nition of smoke, smoking or tobacco product that would 
include electronic cigarettes or other new and emerging tobacco products in 
a jurisdiction’s tobacco retailer licensing ordinance.

Tobacco Retailer 
Location Restrictions 
(Bonus Point)

Restricts businesses that sell tobacco from being located within certain 
distance of schools and/or parks. Or the policy prohibits a tobacco retailer 
from being located within a certain distance of other retailers to avoid high 
concentration in certain areas. Or there is a limit to the number of tobacco 
retailer licenses that can be issued.

Sales in Pharmacies 
(Bonus Point)

Prohibit sales all or some pharmacies 

Flavored Tobacco 
Products (Bonus Point)

The sale of avored tobacco products, including cigars, little cigars, pipe 
tobacco and electronic cigarettes is prohibited.

Minimum Pack Size of 
Cigars (Bonus Point)

Prohibit the sale of cigars in individual or small packages, which increases the 
price and makes them less attractive to youth.

Total:

Each of the six Emerging Issues can receive 1 bonus point. Receiving a total of 3 or more of these bonus points adds one 
point to the Overall Tobacco Control points.

28

APPENDIX D: RAISE YOUR GRADE CONTINUED



Ala
m

eda

Liv
erm

ore

D
ublin

Ple
asa

nto
n

Ala
m

eda C
ounty

 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

O
akla

nd

Fre
m

ont

U
nio

n C
ity

Alb
any

N
ew

ark

Em
ery

vill
e

San Leandro

Berk
ele

y

Pie
dm

ont

H
ayw

ard

29

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade A A A A B A B B D B C C B A D

TOTAL POINTS 13 13 13 11 8 12 8 9 3 10 6 6 10 12 4

Smokefree Outdoor Air A A A A A A B B C B A B A A B

Dining 2 2 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4

Entryways 4 4 4 4 4 4 0 4 4 4 4 2 4 4 4

Public Events 4 4 4 2 4 4 2 0 0 0 4 0 4 4 0

Recreation Areas 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 2 0 4 4 4 4 4 4

Service Areas 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4

Sidewalks 1 1 1 0 0 1 1 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0

Worksites 1 1 1 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1 0

TOTAL POINTS 20 20 22 18 21 22 15 15 12 16 22 14 21 21 16

Smokefree Housing A A A B A B F D D C C B D B D

Nonsmoking Apartments 4 4 4 2 4 2 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 4 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 4 4 4 2 4 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 4 4 4 4 4 4 0 2 2 4 4 4 2 4 2

TOTAL POINTS 12 12 12 8 12 8 0 2 2 4 4 8 2 8 2

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products A A A B F A A A F A F F A A F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 4 4 4 3 0 4 4 4 0 4 0 0 4 4 0

TOTAL POINTS 4 4 4 3 0 4 4 4 0 4 0 0 4 4 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 0 0 1 1 1 1 0

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 1 1 1 1 0 1 1 1 0 1 0 0 1 1 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 0 0 1 1 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 1 1 1 0 0 1 1 1 0 1 0 0 1 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 1 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0

TOTAL POINTS 5 4 6 3 2 5 5 4 1 3 1 1 5 4 0

Alameda
County



Alp
in

e C
ounty

 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

30

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade D

TOTAL POINTS 3

Smokefree Outdoor Air B

Dining 0

Entryways 4

Public Events 2

Recreation Areas 2

Service Areas n/a

Sidewalks n/a

Worksites 0

TOTAL POINTS 8

Smokefree Housing F

Nonsmoking Apartments n/a

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0

TOTAL POINTS 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0

TOTAL POINTS 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 1

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0

TOTAL POINTS 1

Alpine
County



Am
ador

Ply
m

outh

Io
ne

Sutt
er C

re
ek

Jackso
n

Am
ador C

ounty
 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

31

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade F F F F F F

TOTAL POINTS 0 1 1 0 0 0

Smokefree Outdoor Air F D D F F F

Dining 0 0 0 0 0 0

Entryways 0 0 0 0 0 0

Public Events 0 0 0 0 0 0

Recreation Areas 0 3 4 0 0 0

Service Areas 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sidewalks 0 0 0 0 0 0

Worksites 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 3 4 0 0 0

Smokefree Housing F F F F F F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0 0 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F F F F F F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0 0 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 0 1 1 0 0 0

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0 0 0 0 0 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0 0 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 1 1 0 0 0

Amador
County



Big
gs

O
ro

vill
e

Chic
o

Para
dise

G
rid

le
y

Butt
e C

ounty
 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

32

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade F D F C D F

TOTAL POINTS 0 3 0 6 4 1

Smokefree Outdoor Air F C F F B F

Dining 0 2 0 0 2 0

Entryways 0 4 0 0 4 0

Public Events 0 0 0 0 2 0

Recreation Areas 2 4 0 0 2 0

Service Areas 0 0 0 0 4 0

Sidewalks 0 0 0 0 0 0

Worksites 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 2 10 0 0 14 0

Smokefree Housing F D F D D D

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 2 0 2 2 2

TOTAL POINTS 0 2 0 2 2 2

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F F F A F F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 0 0 4 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 4 0 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 0 1 0 1 1 1

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0 0 0 1 0 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0 0 1 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0 0 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 1 0 3 1 1

Butte
County



Angels 
Cam

p
Cala

vera
s C

ounty
 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

33

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade F F

TOTAL POINTS 0 0

Smokefree Outdoor Air F F

Dining 0 0

Entryways 0 0

Public Events 0 0

Recreation Areas 0 0

Service Areas 0 0

Sidewalks 0 0

Worksites 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0

Smokefree Housing F F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 0 0

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0

Calaveras
County



Colu
sa

W
ill

ia
m

s
Colu

sa
 C

ounty
 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

34

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade F F F

TOTAL POINTS 1 1 0

Smokefree Outdoor Air D D F

Dining 0 0 0

Entryways 0 0 0

Public Events 0 0 0

Recreation Areas 4 4 2

Service Areas 0 0 0

Sidewalks 0 0 0

Worksites 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 4 4 2

Smokefree Housing F F F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F F F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 0 0 0

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0 0 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0

Colusa
County



Antio
ch

Lafa
yett

e

Concord

O
rin

da

Ple
asa

nt H
ill

M
ora

ga

El C
err

ito

Pitt
sb

urg

W
aln

ut C
re

ek

Bre
ntw

ood

M
art

in
ez

D
anvill

e

Pin
ole

San P
ablo

Cla
yto

n

O
akle

y

San R
am

on

H
erc

ule
s

Ric
hm

ond

Contr
a C

ost
a C

ounty
 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

35

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade F F A C C A C A C F A D C F C A C C B A

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 11 6 7 13 5 12 6 0 11 3 6 1 7 13 5 6 8 13

Smokefree Outdoor Air F F B C D A B A A F A B A D B A F A A A

Dining 0 0 4 2 0 4 2 4 4 0 4 4 4 0 2 4 0 4 4 4

Entryways 0 0 0 0 0 4 4 4 4 0 4 4 4 0 3 4 0 4 4 4

Public Events 0 0 4 2 0 4 4 4 4 0 4 4 4 0 3 4 0 4 0 4

Recreation Areas 0 0 4 2 4 4 4 4 4 0 4 4 4 4 4 4 0 4 4 4

Service Areas 0 0 4 2 0 4 2 4 4 0 4 0 4 0 4 4 0 4 4 4

Sidewalks 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0

Worksites 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 16 9 4 22 16 21 21 0 20 16 20 4 17 20 0 20 18 20

Smokefree Housing F F A F A A C B C F C F C F C A F C A A

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 4 0 4 4 0 2 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 4 0 0 4 4

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 4 0 4 4 0 2 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 4 0 0 4 4

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0 4 0 4 4 4 4 4 0 4 0 4 0 4 4 0 4 4 4

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 12 0 12 12 4 8 4 0 6 0 6 0 6 12 0 4 12 12

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F F A A D A F A F F A F F F C A A F F A

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 0 4 4 1 4 0 4 0 0 4 0 0 0 2 4 4 0 0 4

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 4 4 1 4 0 4 0 0 4 0 0 0 2 4 4 0 0 4

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 0 0 0 1 0 1 1 1 1 0 0 1 1

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0 0 0 1 1 1 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 1 1 0 0 1

Retailer Location Restrictions 1 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 1

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 1

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 1

TOTAL POINTS 1 0 1 2 3 5 2 4 0 0 3 0 1 2 2 6 3 0 1 6

Contra Costa
County



Cre
sc

ent C
ity

D
el N

ort
e C

ounty
 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

36

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade D F

TOTAL POINTS 4 1

Smokefree Outdoor Air B D

Dining n/a 0

Entryways 4 4

Public Events 4 0

Recreation Areas 4 0

Service Areas 0 0

Sidewalks 0 0

Worksites 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 12 4

Smokefree Housing F F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 1 0

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 1 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 1 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 3 0

Del Norte
County



Pla
cerv

ill
e

South
 L

ake Tahoe

El D
ora

do C
ounty

 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

37

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade F F F

TOTAL POINTS 1 1 0

Smokefree Outdoor Air D D F

Dining 0 0 0

Entryways 0 0 0

Public Events 0 0 0

Recreation Areas 3 4 2

Service Areas 2 0 0

Sidewalks 0 0 0

Worksites 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 5 4 2

Smokefree Housing F F F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F F F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 0 0 0

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0 0 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0

El Dorado
County



Clo
vis

Kin
gsb

urg

Fow
le

r

Reedle
y

Selm
a

O
ra

nge C
ove

H
uro

n

San Joaquin

Coalin
ga

M
endota

Fre
sn

o

Sanger

Fire
baugh

Parli
er

Kerm
an

Fre
sn

o C
ounty

 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

38

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade F F B F F F F F F F C F F F D F

TOTAL POINTS 1 0 10 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 6 1 1 0 2 0

Smokefree Outdoor Air D F C F D F D D F D C D D F C F

Dining 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0

Entryways 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 4 0

Public Events 2 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 4 0

Recreation Areas 3 2 4 0 4 0 4 4 0 4 4 4 4 0 4 2

Service Areas 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sidewalks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Worksites 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 5 2 8 0 4 0 4 4 0 4 12 6 4 0 12 2

Smokefree Housing F F A F F F F F F F F F F F F F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 12 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F F A D F F F F F F A F F F F F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 0 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 1 1 1 1 0 1 0

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 1 0 2 0 1 0 1 0 1 1 1 1 1 0 2 0

Fresno
County



O
rla

nd
W

ill
ow

s
G

le
nn C

ounty
 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

39

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade D D F

TOTAL POINTS 3 3 0

Smokefree Outdoor Air B B F

Dining 2 2 0

Entryways 4 4 0

Public Events 2 0 0

Recreation Areas 3 3 0

Service Areas 4 4 0

Sidewalks 0 0 0

Worksites 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 15 13 0

Smokefree Housing F F F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F F F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 1 1 0

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0 0 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 1 1 0

Glenn
County



Arc
ata

Fern
dale

Rio
 D

ell

Blu
e L

ake

Fort
una

Eure
ka

Trin
id

ad
H

um
bold

t C
ounty

 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

40

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade C C C F C F F F

TOTAL POINTS 6 6 6 0 6 0 0 0

Smokefree Outdoor Air A A A F A F F F

Dining 2 2 2 0 4 0 0 0

Entryways 4 4 4 0 4 0 0 0

Public Events 4 3 4 0 4 0 0 0

Recreation Areas 4 4 4 0 4 0 0 0

Service Areas 4 4 4 0 4 0 0 0

Sidewalks 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0

Worksites 1 1 1 0 1 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 20 18 20 0 21 0 0 0

Smokefree Housing C C C F C F F F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 4 4 4 0 4 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 4 4 4 0 4 0 0 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F F F F F F F F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 1 1 1 0 1 0 0 0

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 1 1 1 0 1 0 0 0

Humboldt
County



Bra
w

le
y

El C
entr

o

Im
peria

l

Cale
xic

o

H
oltv

ill
e

Calip
atr

ia

W
est

m
orla

nd
Im

peria
l C

ounty
 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

41

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade F B F D F F F F

TOTAL POINTS 0 8 0 2 0 1 0 0

Smokefree Outdoor Air F B F D F D F F

Dining 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0

Entryways 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0

Public Events 2 4 0 4 0 0 0 0

Recreation Areas 0 4 0 0 0 3 0 2

Service Areas 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sidewalks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Worksites 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 2 16 0 4 0 3 0 2

Smokefree Housing F D F D F F F F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 2 0 2 0 0 0 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F A F F F F F F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0

Imperial
County



Bish
op

In
yo C

ounty
 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

42

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade D F

TOTAL POINTS 2 0

Smokefree Outdoor Air D F

Dining 0 0

Entryways 0 0

Public Events 0 0

Recreation Areas 4 2

Service Areas n/a n/a

Sidewalks 0 0

Worksites 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 4 2

Smokefree Housing F F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas n/a 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 1 0

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 1 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 1 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 3 0

Inyo
County



Arv
in

Shaft
er

D
ela

no

Tehachapi

M
cFarla

nd

Bakers
eld

Taft

M
aric

opa

Calif
orn

ia
 C

ity

W
asc

o

Rid
gecre

st

Kern
 C

ounty
 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

43

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade C F D D F D F D D C D D

TOTAL POINTS 5 0 4 4 0 4 1 4 4 5 4 4

Smokefree Outdoor Air D F F F F F D F F D F F

Dining 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Entryways 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Public Events 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Recreation Areas 4 0 2 2 0 0 4 2 0 4 0 2

Service Areas 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sidewalks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Worksites 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 4 0 2 2 0 0 4 2 0 4 0 2

Smokefree Housing F F F F F F F F F F F F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products A F A A F A F A A A A A

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 4 0 4 4 0 4 0 4 4 4 4 4

TOTAL POINTS 4 0 4 4 0 4 0 4 4 4 4 4

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 1 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 1 0 1 1 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 2 0 2 2 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 2

Kern
County



Avenal

Lem
oore

Corc
ora

n
H

anfo
rd

Kin
gs C

ounty
 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

44

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade F F C F F

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 6 0 0

Smokefree Outdoor Air F F A F F

Dining 0 0 4 0 0

Entryways 0 0 4 0 0

Public Events 0 0 4 0 0

Recreation Areas 0 0 4 2 0

Service Areas 0 0 4 0 0

Sidewalks 0 0 0 0 0

Worksites 0 0 1 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 21 2 0

Smokefree Housing F F C F F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0 4 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 4 0 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F F F F F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 0 0 1 0 0

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0 0 0 0 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0 0 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 1 0 0

Kings
County



Cle
arla

ke
Lakeport
Lake C

ounty
 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

45

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade D F F

TOTAL POINTS 4 1 0

Smokefree Outdoor Air A D F

Dining 4 0 0

Entryways 4 0 2

Public Events 4 0 0

Recreation Areas 4 4 0

Service Areas 4 0 0

Sidewalks 0 0 0

Worksites 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 20 4 2

Smokefree Housing F F F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F F F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 1 0 1

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0 0 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 1 0 1

Lake
County



Susa
nvill

e
Lass

en C
ounty

 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

46

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade F F

TOTAL POINTS 1 0

Smokefree Outdoor Air D F

Dining 0 0

Entryways 0 0

Public Events 2 0

Recreation Areas 4 0

Service Areas 0 0

Sidewalks 0 0

Worksites 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 6 0

Smokefree Housing F F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 1 0

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 1 0

Lassen
County



Agoura
 H

ill
s

Bell

Art
esia

Bra
dbury

Covin
a

Cars
on

Bell 
G

ard
ens

Azusa

Cala
basa

s

Culv
er C

ity

Com
pto

n

Alh
am

bra

Bell
ow

er

Avalo
n

Burb
ank

Cudahy

Cla
re

m
ont

Arc
adia

Beverly
 H

ill
s

Com
m

erc
e

Bald
w

in
 P

ark

Cerr
ito

s

47

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade D F D D F F B D F C A F B A B C F F A F F B

TOTAL POINTS 3 1 2 4 1 0 10 4 0 5 13 0 9 11 9 5 1 1 12 1 0 9

Smokefree Outdoor Air B D C F D F B A F D A F B A A D D D A D F D

Dining 2 0 0 0 0 0 4 4 0 0 4 0 2 4 4 0 0 0 4 0 0 2

Entryways 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 4 0 2 2 0 4 4 4 0 0 0 4 0 0 0

Public Events 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 3 0 2 3 0 3 4 4 0 0 0 4 0 0 0

Recreation Areas 4 4 4 0 2 0 4 3 0 4 4 0 3 4 4 4 4 3 4 4 0 4

Service Areas 4 0 0 0 4 0 4 4 0 0 4 0 4 4 4 0 0 0 4 0 0 0

Sidewalks 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0

Worksites 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 15 4 8 0 6 1 16 19 0 8 19 0 17 22 21 4 4 3 21 4 0 6

Smokefree Housing F F F F F F B F F A A F C C D F F F A F F A

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 4 4 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 4

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 4 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 4

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 4 4 0 4 4 2 0 0 0 4 0 0 4

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0 0 0 8 0 0 12 12 0 4 6 2 0 0 0 12 0 0 12

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F F F A F F A F F F A F A A A A F F A F F A

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 0 0 4 0 0 4 0 0 0 4 0 4 4 4 4 0 0 4 0 0 4

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 4 0 0 4 0 0 0 4 0 4 4 4 4 0 0 4 0 0 4

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 1 0 0 1 0 0 0

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 1 1 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 1

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 1 1 1 2 1 1 2 1 0 1 4 0 2 3 1 2 0 0 2 1 0 2

Los Angeles
County (1/4)



D
ia

m
ond B

ar

G
le

ndora

El M
onte

H
id

den H
ill

s

La P
uente

In
gle

w
ood

H
aw

th
orn

e

G
ard

ena

In
dust

ry

Lakew
ood

La M
ira

da

D
ow

ney

H
aw

aiia
n G

ard
ens

El S
egundo

H
untin

gto
n P

ark

La V
ern

e

La C
anada F

lin
tr

id
ge

D
uart

e

H
erm

osa
 B

each

La H
abra

 H
eig

hts

G
le

ndale

Ir
w

in
dale

48

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade F F C B D C B F C C B F A F C F C F F F C F

TOTAL POINTS 0 1 5 10 4 6 10 1 5 6 10 0 13 0 6 0 6 0 1 0 6 0

Smokefree Outdoor Air F D D D F D A D D C A F A F C F C F D F D F

Dining 0 0 0 0 0 2 2 0 0 0 4 0 4 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0

Entryways 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 2 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Public Events 0 3 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 4 4 0 4 0 4 0 3 0 2 0 0 0

Recreation Areas 2 4 4 4 2 4 4 4 4 4 4 0 4 0 4 2 4 0 4 2 4 0

Service Areas 0 0 2 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 2 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sidewalks 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Worksites 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 2 7 6 4 2 6 20 4 4 8 18 0 22 0 8 2 11 0 6 2 4 0

Smokefree Housing F F F A F F C F F F F n/a A F F F F F F F F F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0 4 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0 4 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0 0 4 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 12 0 0 6 0 0 0 0 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F F A A A A A F A A A F A F A F A F F F A F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 0 4 4 4 4 4 0 4 4 4 0 4 0 4 0 4 0 0 0 4 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 4 4 4 4 4 0 4 4 4 0 4 0 4 0 4 0 0 0 4 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 0 1 0 1 0 1 1 1 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 1

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0 1 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 2 1 3 0 3 2 1 2 0 6 0 4 0 1 0 1 0 2 0 3 1

Los Angeles
County (2/4)



Lancast
er

M
anhatt

an B
each

Long B
each

M
onte

re
y P

ark

Rancho P
alo

s V
erd

es

Palo
s V

erd
es E

st
ate

s

M
onro

via

Lynw
ood

Palm
dale

Rolli
ng H

ill
s

Rolli
ng H

ill
s E

st
ate

s

Pom
ona

Law
ndale

M
ayw

ood

Los A
ngele

s

N
orw

alk

Redondo B
each

Pasa
dena

Lom
ita

M
onte

bello

Pic
o R

iv
era

M
alib

u

Para
m

ount

49

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade D C C C C C C A D F D C F C F F A F F F B F F

TOTAL POINTS 4 5 5 7 7 4 6 13 4 1 4 6 1 7 0 0 12 0 0 1 9 0 0

Smokefree Outdoor Air F D D C B F C A F D F C D D F F A F F D A F F

Dining 0 0 0 2 2 0 4 4 0 0 2 4 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 4 0 0

Entryways 0 0 0 0 4 0 4 4 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 4 0 0

Public Events 0 0 0 2 2 0 2 4 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 4 0 0 0 2 0 0

Recreation Areas 0 4 4 4 3 2 2 4 2 4 0 4 3 3 2 0 4 2 2 3 4 0 2

Service Areas 2 0 0 2 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 4 0 0

Sidewalks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0

Worksites 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 2 4 4 10 11 2 12 21 2 4 2 12 3 5 2 0 21 2 2 3 20 0 2

Smokefree Housing F F F D F F F A F F F F F D F F A F F F F F F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 12 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 12 0 0 0 0 0 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products A A A A A A A A A F A A F A F F A F F F A n/a F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 0 4 4 0 4 0 0 4 0 0 0 4 0

TOTAL POINTS 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 0 4 4 0 4 0 0 4 0 0 0 4 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 0 0 0 1 1 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 1 1 0 0 0 1 1 0 1 1

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 1 0 1 0 1 1 1 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 1 0 1 1 2 3 1 4 0 1 1 1 1 3 0 0 1 1 1 0 3 1

Los Angeles
County (3/4)



Rose
m

ead

Santa
 M

onic
a

San G
abrie

l

South
 G

ate

W
est

la
ke V

ill
age

Torr
ance

Sig
nal H

ill

Santa
 C

la
rit

a

Tem
ple

 C
ity

W
est

 H
olly

w
ood

San D
im

as

Sie
rr

a M
adre

San M
arin

o

South
 P

asa
dena

W
hitt

ie
r

W
aln

ut

San F
ern

ando

South
 E

l M
onte

W
est

 C
ovin

a

Santa
 F

e S
prin

gs

Vern
on

Los A
ngele

s C
ounty

 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

50

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade C F B C F F F A C F C F A B F F F D C F F C

TOTAL POINTS 5 1 8 5 0 1 1 11 5 0 6 1 11 9 1 0 1 3 5 0 1 7

Smokefree Outdoor Air D D A D F D D A D F C D B A D F D F D F D C

Dining 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 4 4 0 4 0 4 4 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 4

Entryways 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 4 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Public Events 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Recreation Areas 4 4 4 4 0 4 3 4 2 0 4 3 4 4 4 0 4 2 0 0 4 4

Service Areas 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 4 4 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 2

Sidewalks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Worksites 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 4 4 20 4 0 4 3 18 6 0 8 3 17 20 4 0 4 2 6 0 4 10

Smokefree Housing F F F F F F F B F F F F B D F F F F F F F F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 4 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8 0 0 0 0 8 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products A F A A F F F A A F A F A A F F F B B F F A

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 4 0 4 4 0 0 0 4 4 0 4 0 4 4 0 0 0 3 3 0 0 4

TOTAL POINTS 4 0 4 4 0 0 0 4 4 0 4 0 4 4 0 0 0 3 3 0 0 4

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 0 1 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 1 0 1 1 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 1

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1

TOTAL POINTS 0 1 1 0 0 1 0 2 0 0 2 0 3 2 1 0 0 1 3 0 0 5

Los Angeles
County (4/4)



Chow
chill

a
M

adera
M

adera
 C

ounty
 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

51

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade F D F

TOTAL POINTS 0 2 0

Smokefree Outdoor Air F C F

Dining 0 4 0

Entryways 0 0 0

Public Events 0 0 0

Recreation Areas 2 4 2

Service Areas 0 0 0

Sidewalks 0 0 0

Worksites 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 2 8 2

Smokefree Housing F F F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F F F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 0 1 0

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0 0 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 1 0

Madera
County



Belv
edere

San A
nse

lm
o

Lark
sp

ur

Sausa
lit

o

N
ovato

Cort
e M

adera

San R
afa

el

M
ill

 V
alle

y

Fairf
ax

Tib
uro

n

Ross

M
arin

 C
ounty

 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

52

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade A A A A A A A A A A A A

TOTAL POINTS 8 12 12 12 12 13 8 13 13 11 9 12

Smokefree Outdoor Air A A A A A A A A A A A A

Dining 4 4 2 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 2

Entryways 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4

Public Events 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 3 3 4 4

Recreation Areas 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4

Service Areas 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4

Sidewalks 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 1 0

Worksites 1 1 1 1 1 1 0 1 1 1 0 1

TOTAL POINTS 21 21 19 21 21 22 20 21 21 20 21 19

Smokefree Housing A B B B A A A A A B A B

Nonsmoking Apartments 4 2 2 2 4 4 4 4 4 2 4 2

Nonsmoking Condominiums 4 2 2 2 4 4 4 4 4 2 4 2

Nonsmoking Common Areas 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4

TOTAL POINTS 12 8 8 8 12 12 12 12 12 8 12 8

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products n/a A A A A A n/a A A A n/a A

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 4 4 4 4 4 1 4 4 4 4

TOTAL POINTS n/a 4 4 4 4 4 n/a 4 4 4 n/a 4

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 1 1 1 0 1 1 1 1 1 0 1 1

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 1

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 1 1 1 0 1 0 1 1 0 1 1

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 1 1 1 0 1 0 1 1 1 0 1

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 1 1 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 1 5 5 4 2 6 2 5 5 2 3 5

Marin
County



M
arip

osa
 C

ounty
 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

53

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade D

TOTAL POINTS 3

Smokefree Outdoor Air B

Dining 4

Entryways 4

Public Events 2

Recreation Areas 4

Service Areas 2

Sidewalks 0

Worksites 0

TOTAL POINTS 16

Smokefree Housing F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0

TOTAL POINTS 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0

TOTAL POINTS 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 1

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0

TOTAL POINTS 1

Mariposa
County



Fort
 B

ra
gg

W
ill

its

Poin
t A

re
na

U
kia

h

M
endocin

o C
ounty

 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

54

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade C F C D C

TOTAL POINTS 6 0 6 4 5

Smokefree Outdoor Air D F C F F

Dining 0 0 0 0 0

Entryways 2 0 0 0 0

Public Events 0 0 4 0 0

Recreation Areas 4 0 4 2 0

Service Areas 0 0 0 0 0

Sidewalks 1 0 0 0 0

Worksites 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 7 0 8 2 0

Smokefree Housing D F F F D

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 2 0 0 0 2

TOTAL POINTS 2 0 0 0 2

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products A n/a A A A

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 4 4 4 4

TOTAL POINTS 4 4 4 4

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 1 0 0 0 0

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 1 0 0 0 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0 0 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 2 0 0 0 0

Mendocino
County



Atw
ate

r

Liv
in

gst
on

M
erc

ed

D
os P

alo
s

Los B
anos

G
ust

in
e

M
erc

ed C
ounty

 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

55

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade F F F F F F F

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Smokefree Outdoor Air F F F F F F F

Dining 0 n/a n/a n/a 0 0 0

Entryways 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Public Events 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Recreation Areas 2 0 0 0 0 2 0

Service Areas 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sidewalks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Worksites 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 2 0 0 0 0 2 0

Smokefree Housing F F F F F F F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F F F F F F F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0 0 0 0 1 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0 0 1 0

Merced
County



Altu
ra

s
M

odoc C
ounty

 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

56

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade B F

TOTAL POINTS 8 0

Smokefree Outdoor Air B F

Dining 4 0

Entryways 4 0

Public Events 0 0

Recreation Areas 4 0

Service Areas 4 0

Sidewalks 0 1

Worksites 1 0

TOTAL POINTS 17 1

Smokefree Housing F F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products A F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 4 0

TOTAL POINTS 4 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 1 0

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 1 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 1 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 3 0

Modoc
County



M
am

m
oth

 L
akes

M
ono C

ounty
 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

57

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade C D

TOTAL POINTS 6 4

Smokefree Outdoor Air A A

Dining 4 4

Entryways 4 4

Public Events 4 4

Recreation Areas 4 3

Service Areas 4 4

Sidewalks 0 0

Worksites 1 0

TOTAL POINTS 21 19

Smokefree Housing C F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 4 0

TOTAL POINTS 4 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 1 1

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 1

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 1 2

Mono
County



Carm
el-b

y-t
he-S

ea

Paci
c G

ro
ve

G
re

en
eld

Sole
dad

Sand C
ity

M
arin

a

D
el R

ey O
aks

Salin
as

Kin
g C

ity

G
onzale

s

Seasid
e

M
onte

re
y

M
onte

re
y C

ounty
 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

58

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade C F C F F F C C C F D F C

TOTAL POINTS 5 0 5 0 0 0 6 7 6 1 2 0 6

Smokefree Outdoor Air D F D F F F C B D D D F D

Dining 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 4 0 0 0 0 0

Entryways 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0

Public Events 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0

Recreation Areas 4 0 4 0 2 2 2 4 4 2 4 2 3

Service Areas 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sidewalks 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 1 0 0 0

Worksites 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 5 0 4 0 2 2 9 17 4 3 4 2 3

Smokefree Housing F F F F F F F A D F F F D

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 2 0 0 0 2

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 2 0 0 0 2

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products A F A F F F A F A F F F A

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 4 0 4 0 0 0 4 0 4 0 0 0 4

TOTAL POINTS 4 0 4 0 0 0 4 0 4 0 0 0 4

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 0 1

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 1 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 1 0 2 0 0 0 2 2 1 0 3 0 2

Monterey
County



Am
eric

an C
anyon

St. 
H

ele
na

Calis
to

ga

Yountv
ill

e

N
apa

N
apa C

ounty
 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

59

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade D F F F F D

TOTAL POINTS 2 1 1 1 1 2

Smokefree Outdoor Air D D D D D D

Dining 0 0 0 0 0 0

Entryways 0 0 0 0 0 0

Public Events 0 0 0 0 0 0

Recreation Areas 4 3 4 4 4 3

Service Areas 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sidewalks 0 0 0 0 0 0

Worksites 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 4 3 4 4 4 3

Smokefree Housing F F F F F D

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0 0 0 0 2

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0 0 2

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F F F F F F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0 0 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 1 0 0 1 0 1

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 1 0 0 0 0 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 1 0 0 0 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0 0 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 3 0 0 1 0 1

Napa
County



G
ra

ss
 V

alle
y

N
evada C

ity
Tru

ckee
N

evada C
ounty

 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

60

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade C C F F

TOTAL POINTS 6 7 0 0

Smokefree Outdoor Air C C F F

Dining 0 0 0 0

Entryways 4 4 0 0

Public Events 0 0 0 0

Recreation Areas 3 4 0 0

Service Areas 0 0 0 0

Sidewalks 1 1 0 0

Worksites 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 8 9 0 0

Smokefree Housing F F F F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products A A F F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 4 4 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 4 4 0 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 1 1 0 0

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 1 1 0 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 1 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 1 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 2 4 0 0

Nevada
County



Alis
o V

ie
jo

Founta
in

 V
alle

y

Buena P
ark

Ir
vin

e

Los A
la

m
ito

s

Laguna N
ig

uel

G
ard

en G
ro

ve

Cypre
ss

Laguna H
ill

s

N
ew

port
 B

each

La P
alm

a

Anaheim

Fulle
rt

on

Cost
a M

esa

Laguna B
each

M
iss

io
n V

ie
jo

La H
abra

Bre
a

H
untin

gto
n B

each

Lake F
ore

st

D
ana P

oin
t

Laguna W
oods

61

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade F F F F F F D F F F F C C C F D F F D F D F

TOTAL POINTS 1 1 0 1 1 0 4 1 0 0 0 6 6 5 1 6 0 0 2 1 2 1

Smokefree Outdoor Air D D F D D F A D F F F A A A D A F F C D C D

Dining 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 4 4 4 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0

Entryways 4 2 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 2 4 4 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0

Public Events 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 4 4 2 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0

Recreation Areas 2 0 2 3 4 2 4 4 2 2 2 4 4 4 4 4 0 2 4 2 2 4

Service Areas 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 4 4 4 0 4 0 0 0 0 4 0

Sidewalks 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0

Worksites 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 6 2 2 3 4 2 20 4 2 2 2 20 22 18 4 18 0 2 5 2 6 4

Smokefree Housing F F F F F F F F F F F C C D F C F F F F F F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 4 2 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 4 2 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 1 1 1 1 1 0 1 0 0 1 0 1 1 1 1 0 0 0 1 0 1 0

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 1 2 1 1 2 0 1 0 0 1 0 1 2 1 2 0 0 0 1 0 1 0

Orange
County (1/2)



O
ra

nge

Sta
nto

n

San C
le

m
ente

Yorb
a L

in
da

Vill
a P

ark

Santa
 A

na

Pla
centia

Tust
in

San Ju
an C

apist
ra

no

Rancho S
anto

 M
arg

arit
a

W
est

m
in

st
er

Seal B
each

O
ra

nge C
ounty

 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

62

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade F D F F F D D F F F F F F

TOTAL POINTS 0 2 0 1 2 6 4 1 1 0 1 0 1

Smokefree Outdoor Air F C F D D D D D D F F F D

Dining 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Entryways 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Public Events 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

Recreation Areas 0 4 0 3 2 4 4 4 4 0 0 0 2

Service Areas 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sidewalks 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Worksites 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 5 0 3 2 4 4 4 4 0 0 0 4

Smokefree Housing F F F F F F F F F F F F F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F F F F F A F F F F F F F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 0 1 0 0 1 0 1 1 1 0 1 0 0

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 1 0 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 1 0 1 1 1 3 1 1 1 3 0 0

Orange
County (2/2)



Auburn

Loom
is

Rose
vill

e

Colfa
x

Rocklin

Lin
coln

Pla
cer C

ounty
 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

63

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade C F F F F F F

TOTAL POINTS 6 0 0 1 0 1 1

Smokefree Outdoor Air D F F D F D D

Dining 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Entryways 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Public Events 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Recreation Areas 4 0 2 3 2 4 2

Service Areas 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sidewalks 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Worksites 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 4 0 2 3 2 4 3

Smokefree Housing F F F F F F F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products A F F F F F F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 4 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 4 0 0 0 0 0 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 1 0 0 1 0 0 0

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 1 0 0 0 1 0 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 1 0 0 0 1 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 1 0 0 0 0 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 4 0 0 1 2 0 0

Placer
County



Port
ola

Plu
m

as C
ounty

 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

64

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade F F

TOTAL POINTS 0 1

Smokefree Outdoor Air F D

Dining 0 0

Entryways 0 0

Public Events 0 0

Recreation Areas 0 4

Service Areas 0 0

Sidewalks 0 0

Worksites 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 4

Smokefree Housing F F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F D

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 1

TOTAL POINTS 0 1

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 0 0

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0 1

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 1

Plumas
County



Bannin
g

Coro
na

Calim
esa

In
dia

n W
ells

N
orc

o

Lake E
lsi

nore

East
vale

Cath
edra

l C
ity

Juru
pa V

alle
y

Palm
 S

prin
gs

M
urr

ie
ta

Beaum
ont

D
ese

rt
 H

ot S
prin

gs

Canyon L
ake

In
dio

Palm
 D

ese
rt

M
enife

e

Bly
th

e

H
em

et

M
ore

no V
alle

y

Coachella

La Q
uin

ta

65

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Riverside
County (1/2)

Overall Tobacco Control Grade C C F C D D D C D C B F F C C F D C B D C C

TOTAL POINTS 5 5 0 5 4 4 4 5 4 5 9 0 0 5 6 0 4 5 8 4 6 5

Smokefree Outdoor Air D D F D F F F D F D A F F D C F F D B F A D

Dining 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 4 0

Entryways 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 0 4 0

Public Events 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 4 0

Recreation Areas 4 4 0 4 0 0 2 4 2 3 4 0 2 3 3 2 0 3 4 2 4 4

Service Areas 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 4 0 4 0

Sidewalks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0

Worksites 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0

TOTAL POINTS 4 4 0 4 0 0 2 4 2 3 20 0 2 3 9 2 0 3 15 2 22 4

Smokefree Housing F F F F F F F F F F D F F F F F F F D F F F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products A A F A A A A A A A A F F A A F A A A A D A

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 4 4 0 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 0 0 4 4 0 4 4 4 4 1 4

TOTAL POINTS 4 4 0 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 0 0 4 4 0 4 4 4 4 1 4

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 1 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 1 1 1 1 0 1

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 1 1 0 2 1 0 1 1 1 1 2 0 0 1 2 0 1 1 1 1 0 1



Perr
is

San Jacin
to

W
ild

om
ar

Rancho M
ira

ge

Tem
ecula

Riv
ers

id
e

Riv
ers

id
e C

ounty
 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

66

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Riverside
County (2/2)

Overall Tobacco Control Grade D D C D B C C

TOTAL POINTS 4 4 5 4 10 5 5

Smokefree Outdoor Air F F D F A D D

Dining 0 0 0 0 2 0 0

Entryways 0 0 0 0 4 0 0

Public Events 0 0 0 0 3 0 0

Recreation Areas 2 0 3 0 4 3 3

Service Areas 0 0 4 0 4 0 0

Sidewalks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Worksites 0 0 0 0 1 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 2 0 7 0 18 3 3

Smokefree Housing F F F F C F F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0 0 0 4 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0 4 0 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products A A A A A A A

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 4 4 4 4 4 4 4

TOTAL POINTS 4 4 4 4 4 4 4

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 0 0 1 0 1 0 0

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 1 1 2 1 2 1 1



Citr
us H

eig
hts

G
alt

Rancho C
ord

ova

Elk
 G

ro
ve

Is
le

to
n

Folso
m

Sacra
m

ento
Sacra

m
ento

 C
ounty

 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

67

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade C C D F F B C C

TOTAL POINTS 6 6 4 0 0 10 6 5

Smokefree Outdoor Air A C C F F A D D

Dining 4 4 0 0 0 4 0 0

Entryways 4 0 0 0 0 4 0 0

Public Events 4 0 3 0 0 4 0 0

Recreation Areas 4 3 3 2 0 4 3 2

Service Areas 4 0 2 0 0 4 0 2

Sidewalks 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0

Worksites 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 22 8 8 2 0 20 3 4

Smokefree Housing C F C F F D F F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 4 0 4 0 0 2 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 4 0 5 0 0 2 0 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F A F F F A A A

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 4 0 0 0 4 4 4

TOTAL POINTS 0 4 0 0 0 4 4 4

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 1 0 1 1 0 1 0 0

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 1 0 1 0 0 1 1 1

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 2 0 2 1 0 3 3 1

Sacramento
County



H
olli

st
er

San Juan B
autis

ta

San B
enito

 C
ounty

 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

68

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade D F F

TOTAL POINTS 4 0 0

Smokefree Outdoor Air F F F

Dining 0 2 0

Entryways 0 0 0

Public Events 0 0 0

Recreation Areas 0 0 0

Service Areas 0 0 0

Sidewalks 0 0 0

Worksites 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 2 0

Smokefree Housing F F F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products A F F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 4 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 4 0 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 0 0 0

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 1 0 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 1 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 2 0 0

San Benito
County



Adela
nto

Fonta
na

Big
 B

ear L
ake

Lom
a L

in
da

Tw
enty

nin
e P

alm
s

O
nta

rio

H
esp

eria

Chin
o H

ill
s

N
eedle

s

Vic
to

rv
ill

e

San B
ern

ard
in

o

Apple
 V

alle
y

G
ra

nd Terr
ace

Chin
o

M
ontc

la
ir

U
pla

nd

Redla
nds

Bars
to

w

H
ig

hla
nd

Ria
lto

Colto
n

Rancho C
ucam

onga

69

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

San Bernardino
County (1/2)

Overall Tobacco Control Grade C D F F F F C F F F F C F F F D F F F F F F

TOTAL POINTS 6 2 0 0 0 1 5 1 1 0 0 6 0 0 1 2 1 1 0 0 0 1

Smokefree Outdoor Air D D F F F D D D D F F A F F D C D D F F F D

Dining 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Entryways 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Public Events 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 2 2 0 0 0 0 0

Recreation Areas 4 4 0 0 2 3 4 4 4 0 0 4 0 0 4 4 4 4 2 0 2 4

Service Areas 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sidewalks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Worksites 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 4 4 0 0 2 3 4 4 4 0 0 22 0 0 4 10 6 4 2 0 2 4

Smokefree Housing F F F F F F F F F F F C F F F F F F F F F F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products A D F F F F A F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 4 1 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 4 1 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 1 0 0 0 1

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 3 1 0 0 0 0 2 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 1 0 0 0 1



Yucaip
a

Yucca V
alle

y
San B

ern
ard

in
o C

ounty
 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

70

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

San Bernardino
County (2/2)

Overall Tobacco Control Grade F F F

TOTAL POINTS 1 0 1

Smokefree Outdoor Air D F D

Dining 0 0 0

Entryways 0 0 0

Public Events 0 0 2

Recreation Areas 4 2 2

Service Areas 0 0 2

Sidewalks 0 0 0

Worksites 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 4 2 6

Smokefree Housing F F F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F F F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 0 0 1

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0 0 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 1



Carls
bad

Im
peria

l B
each

D
el M

ar

O
ceansid

e

San M
arc

os

Lem
on G

ro
ve

Encin
ita

s

San D
ie

go

Chula
 V

ist
a

La M
esa

El C
ajo

n

Pow
ay

Sola
na B

each

Coro
nado

N
atio

nal C
ity

Vist
a

Esc
ondid

o

Sante
e

San D
ie

go C
ounty

 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

71

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade F C D D A D D F F C D D F D C F B C F

TOTAL POINTS 1 6 4 4 11 2 2 1 1 5 2 3 1 4 5 1 8 6 1

Smokefree Outdoor Air D C A A A C C D D D C B D D D D A D D

Dining 4 4 2 4 4 4 0 0 0 0 4 4 0 2 0 0 4 0 0

Entryways 0 0 4 4 4 0 2 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 4 0 0

Public Events 0 0 4 4 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0

Recreation Areas 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 4 4 4 4

Service Areas 0 2 4 2 4 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 4 2 2

Sidewalks 0 0 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Worksites 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 7 10 19 20 22 10 8 6 5 6 9 14 5 7 5 6 20 6 6

Smokefree Housing F F F F C F F F F F F F F F F F F F F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F A F F A F F F F A F F F B A F A A F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 4 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 3 4 0 4 4 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 4 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 3 4 0 4 4 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 1 1 1 1 1 1 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 1 2 1 1 3 1 1 1 1 2 2 1 1 1 2 1 2 3 1

San Diego
County



San F
ra

ncisc
o

72

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade B

TOTAL POINTS 9

Smokefree Outdoor Air B

Dining 2

Entryways 3

Public Events 4

Recreation Areas 4

Service Areas 4

Sidewalks 0

Worksites 0

TOTAL POINTS 17

Smokefree Housing D

Nonsmoking Apartments 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 2

TOTAL POINTS 2

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products A

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 4

TOTAL POINTS 4

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 1

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 1

Retailer Location Restrictions 1

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 1

Flavored Tobacco Products 1

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0

TOTAL POINTS 5

San Francisco
County



Esc
alo

n

M
ante

ca

Sto
ckto

n

Lath
ro

p

Rip
on

Lodi

Tra
cy

San Joaquin
 C

ounty
 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

73

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade F F F F F F F F

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1

Smokefree Outdoor Air F F F F F D F D

Dining 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0

Entryways 0 0 0 0 0 4 2 0

Public Events 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Recreation Areas 0 2 2 0 0 0 0 2

Service Areas 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2

Sidewalks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Worksites 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 2 2 0 0 6 2 4

Smokefree Housing F F F F F F D F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F F F F F F F F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

San Joaquin
County



Arr
oyo G

ra
nde

M
orr

o B
ay

Pism
o B

each

Ata
sc

adero

Paso
 R

oble
s

G
ro

ver B
each

San L
uis 

O
bisp

o

San L
uis 

O
bisp

o C
ounty

 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

74

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade C C C D C D B C

TOTAL POINTS 5 6 5 4 5 4 10 5

Smokefree Outdoor Air D A D A B A A D

Dining 0 4 0 4 4 4 2 0

Entryways 0 4 0 4 4 4 4 0

Public Events 0 4 0 3 4 4 4 0

Recreation Areas 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 2

Service Areas 0 4 0 4 0 4 4 0

Sidewalks 0 1 1 1 0 1 1 1

Worksites 0 0 0 1 0 1 1 0

TOTAL POINTS 4 21 5 21 16 22 20 3

Smokefree Housing F C F F C F C F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 4 0 0 4 0 4 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 4 0 0 4 0 4 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products A F A F F F A A

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 4 0 4 0 0 0 4 4

TOTAL POINTS 4 0 4 0 0 0 4 4

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 1 1 0 1 1 1 1 0

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 1 0 1 0 0 0 1 1

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 2 1 1 1 1 1 2 1

San Luis Obispo
County



Ath
ert

on

Fost
er C

ity

Burli
ngam

e

M
ill

bra
e

W
oodsid

e

Redw
ood C

ity

H
ill

sb
oro

ugh

D
aly

 C
ity

Port
ola

 V
alle

y

South
 S

an F
ra

ncisc
o

Belm
ont

H
alf 

M
oon B

ay

Colm
a

Paci
ca

San C
arlo

s

Bris
bane

M
enlo

 P
ark

San M
ate

o

East
 P

alo
 A

lto

San B
ru

no

San M
ate

o C
ounty

 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

75

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade F B B C C A C B A n/a B C B D B B B B B F B

TOTAL POINTS 0 8 8 6 7 11 5 8 13 4 10 7 9 4 8 10 9 9 9 0 9

Smokefree Outdoor Air F A D C A A C A A A A F D F D B D C D F D

Dining 0 4 0 0 4 4 4 4 4 n/a 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 2 0 0

Entryways 0 4 0 0 4 4 2 4 4 n/a 4 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0

Public Events 0 4 0 4 4 4 2 4 2 4 3 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0

Recreation Areas 0 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 0 4 0 4 4 4 4 4 2 4

Service Areas 0 4 2 0 4 4 0 4 4 n/a 4 0 0 0 0 4 0 4 0 0 0

Sidewalks 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1 n/a 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0

Worksites 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 21 6 8 20 22 12 21 19 9 18 0 4 0 4 17 4 12 7 2 4

Smokefree Housing n/a A A A F B F A A n/a C A A F A A A A A n/a A

Nonsmoking Apartments 4 4 4 0 4 0 4 4 0 4 4 0 4 4 4 4 4 4

Nonsmoking Condominiums 4 4 4 0 0 0 4 4 0 4 4 0 4 4 4 4 4 4

Nonsmoking Common Areas 4 4 2 0 4 0 4 4 4 4 4 0 4 4 4 4 4 4

TOTAL POINTS 12 12 10 0 8 0 12 12 4 12 12 0 12 12 12 12 12 12

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F F B F B B B F A n/a B B A B B B B B B F B

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 0 3 0 3 3 3 0 4 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 0 3

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 3 0 3 3 3 0 4 3 3 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 0 3

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 0 1 1 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 0 0 1 1 1 1 0 1

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 1 0 0 0 1 1 0 1

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 1

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 1

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 1 2 1 1 3 2 1 4 1 4 1 2 3 0 1 3 2 4 0 4

San Mateo
County



Buellt
on

Solv
ang

G
uadalu

pe

Santa
 B

arb
ara

Carp
in

te
ria

Lom
poc

G
ole

ta

Santa
 M

aria

Santa
 B

arb
ara

 C
ounty

 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

76

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade D B B F F C C D B

TOTAL POINTS 2 10 9 0 1 6 7 4 10

Smokefree Outdoor Air C A B F D B C A B

Dining 2 4 2 0 0 2 0 4 2

Entryways 4 4 4 0 0 2 4 4 4

Public Events 0 3 0 0 0 4 0 4 4

Recreation Areas 4 4 3 0 3 4 4 4 3

Service Areas 2 4 4 0 0 4 0 4 4

Sidewalks 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 1 0

Worksites 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 12 21 13 0 3 17 8 21 17

Smokefree Housing F C D F F D F F C

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 4 2 0 0 2 0 0 4

TOTAL POINTS 0 4 2 0 0 2 0 0 4

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F A A F F C A F A

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 4 4 0 0 2 4 0 4

TOTAL POINTS 0 4 4 0 0 2 4 0 4

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 1 0 1 0 1 1 1 1 1

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0 1 1 0 0 0 1 0 1

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 1

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 1

TOTAL POINTS 1 2 3 0 1 1 5 1 5

Santa Barbara 
County



Cam
pbell

M
onte

 S
ere

no

Los A
lto

s

San Jose

Sunnyvale

M
ounta

in
 V

ie
w

Los G
ato

s

Sara
to

ga

Cupert
in

o

M
org

an H
ill

Los A
lto

s H
ill

s

Santa
 C

la
ra

G
ilr

oy

Palo
 A

lto

M
ilp

ita
s

Santa
 C

la
ra

 C
ounty

 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

77

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade B C C D F A D n/a C D A B B A B A

TOTAL POINTS 8 7 5 4 0 12 2 7 2 13 8 8 11 8 13

Smokefree Outdoor Air A C D A F A C n/a B C A B A A A A

Dining 4 4 2 4 0 4 4 2 4 4 4 4 4 4 4

Entryways 4 4 0 2 0 4 0 4 4 4 2 4 4 4 4

Public Events 4 0 0 4 0 4 0 3 2 4 2 4 2 4 2

Recreation Areas 4 4 2 4 0 4 4 3 2 4 4 4 4 4 4

Service Areas 4 0 0 4 0 4 0 4 0 4 4 4 4 4 4

Sidewalks 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0

Worksites 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 1

TOTAL POINTS 20 12 4 19 0 22 8 16 12 22 16 20 19 21 19

Smokefree Housing F F F F F B F n/a F F A C A C A A

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 4 0 4 1 4 4

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 4 0 4 4

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 4 4 4 4 4 4

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0 0 8 0 0 0 0 12 4 12 5 12 12

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products A A A F n/a A F n/a A F A B F A F A

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 4 4 4 0 4 0 4 0 4 3 0 4 0 4

TOTAL POINTS 4 4 4 0 4 0 4 0 4 3 0 4 0 4

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 1 1 0 1 0 1 1 1 1 1 0 1 1 1 1

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 1 1 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 1 0 1

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 1 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 0 1

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 1

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 1

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 2 5 2 1 0 5 1 2 2 5 0 1 5 1 5

Santa Clara
County



Capito
la

W
ats

onvill
e

Santa
 C

ru
z

Scott
s V

alle
y

Santa
 C

ru
z C

ounty
 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

78

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade B B B B B

TOTAL POINTS 10 10 8 9 9

Smokefree Outdoor Air A B C B B

Dining 2 2 0 0 4

Entryways 4 4 4 2 4

Public Events 4 0 0 4 0

Recreation Areas 4 3 3 3 4

Service Areas 4 4 4 4 0

Sidewalks 1 1 0 0 1

Worksites 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 19 14 11 13 13

Smokefree Housing D C D D D

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 2 4 2 2 2

TOTAL POINTS 2 4 2 2 2

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products A A A A A

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 4 4 4 4 4

TOTAL POINTS 4 4 4 4 4

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 1 1 1 1 1

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 1 1 1 1 1

Retailer Location Restrictions 1 1 1 0 1

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0 1 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 1 1 0 1 1

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 4 4 3 4 4

Santa Cruz 
County



Anders
on

Reddin
g

Shast
a L

ake
Shast

a C
ounty

 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

79

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade D D F D

TOTAL POINTS 3 2 1 2

Smokefree Outdoor Air C D F D

Dining 0 2 0 0

Entryways 3 0 0 0

Public Events 3 0 2 2

Recreation Areas 2 4 0 2

Service Areas 0 0 0 0

Sidewalks 1 1 0 1

Worksites 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 9 7 2 5

Smokefree Housing D D D D

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 2 2 2 2

TOTAL POINTS 2 2 2 2

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F F F F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 1 1 1 1

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0 0 0 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 1 0 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 2 1 1 1

Shasta 
County



Loyalto
n

Sie
rr

a C
ounty

 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

80

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade F F

TOTAL POINTS 0 1

Smokefree Outdoor Air F D

Dining 0 0

Entryways 0 2

Public Events 0 0

Recreation Areas 0 2

Service Areas 0 0

Sidewalks 0 0

Worksites 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 4

Smokefree Housing F F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 0 1

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 n/a

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 1

Sierra 
County



D
orr

is

W
eed

Fort
 Jones

M
ount S

hast
a

D
unsm

uir

Yre
ka

M
onta

gue

Etn
a

Tule
la

ke

Sisk
iy

ou C
ounty

 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

81

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade F F F F F D F F F F

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0

Smokefree Outdoor Air F F F F F B F F F F

Dining 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0

Entryways 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Public Events 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0

Recreation Areas 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 2 0 2

Service Areas 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sidewalks 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0

Worksites 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0 0 13 0 2 0 2

Smokefree Housing F F F F F D F F F F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F F F F F F F F F F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0

Siskiyou
County



Benic
ia

Rio
 V

ist
a

Vacavill
e

D
ix

on

Suisu
n C

ity

Fair
eld

Valle
jo

Sola
no C

ounty
 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

82

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade A F F F F F D F

TOTAL POINTS 13 0 1 0 1 1 3 1

Smokefree Outdoor Air A F D F D D C D

Dining 4 0 2 0 0 0 0 0

Entryways 4 0 2 0 0 0 0 0

Public Events 4 0 0 0 2 0 0 0

Recreation Areas 4 0 2 0 3 3 4 3

Service Areas 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 0

Sidewalks 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Worksites 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 22 0 6 0 5 3 8 3

Smokefree Housing A F F F F F D F

Nonsmoking Apartments 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 n/a

Nonsmoking Condominiums 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 4 0 0 0 0 0 2 0

TOTAL POINTS 12 0 0 0 0 0 2 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products A F F F F F F F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 1

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 6 0 2 0 1 0 0 1

Solano
County



Clo
verd

ale

Sonom
a

Peta
lu

m
a

Santa
 R

osa

Cota
ti

W
in

dso
r

Rohnert
 P

ark

H
eald

sb
urg

Sebast
opol

Sonom
a C

ounty
 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

83

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade C B A B B B B A A A

TOTAL POINTS 7 8 12 8 8 8 8 13 12 13

Smokefree Outdoor Air A A B A A A A A B A

Dining 4 2 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4

Entryways 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4

Public Events 4 4 4 3 4 4 4 4 4 3

Recreation Areas 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 3

Service Areas 4 4 0 4 4 4 4 4 0 4

Sidewalks 1 1 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0

Worksites 1 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 22 19 16 20 20 21 21 21 16 18

Smokefree Housing C A A A A A A A A A

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4

Nonsmoking Common Areas 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4

TOTAL POINTS 4 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F F A F F F F A A A

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 4 4 4

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 4 4 4

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 1 1

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 1 1

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Flavored Tobacco Products 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0

TOTAL POINTS 5 1 3 1 2 1 1 5 5 4

Sonoma
County



Cere
s

Turlo
ck

N
ew

m
an

Patt
ers

on

H
ughso

n

W
ate

rf
ord

O
akdale

M
odest

o

Riv
erb

ank

Sta
nisl

aus C
ounty

 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

84

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade F D D F F F D D F F

TOTAL POINTS 1 2 2 0 0 1 4 2 1 1

Smokefree Outdoor Air F D D F F F F D D F

Dining 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0

Entryways 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Public Events 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Recreation Areas 2 4 4 0 2 2 2 4 2 0

Service Areas 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sidewalks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Worksites 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 2 4 6 0 2 2 2 4 4 0

Smokefree Housing D D D F F D F D F D

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 2 2 2 0 0 2 0 2 0 2

TOTAL POINTS 2 2 2 0 0 2 0 2 0 2

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F F F F F F A F F F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 0 1 1 0 0 1 0 1 1 0

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 1 1 0

Stanislaus
County



Liv
e O

ak
Yuba C

ity
Sutt

er C
ounty

 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

85

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade F F D

TOTAL POINTS 1 1 4

Smokefree Outdoor Air D D A

Dining 0 0 4

Entryways 0 0 2

Public Events 0 0 4

Recreation Areas 4 4 4

Service Areas 0 0 4

Sidewalks 0 0 0

Worksites 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 4 4 18

Smokefree Housing F F n/a

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 n/a

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 n/a

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0 n/a

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F F F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 0 0 1

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0 0 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 1

Sutter 
County



Corn
in

g
Red B

lu
ff

Teham
a

Teham
a C

ounty
 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

86

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade F F F F

TOTAL POINTS 1 0 0 0

Smokefree Outdoor Air D F F F

Dining 0 0 0 0

Entryways 0 0 2 0

Public Events 0 0 0 0

Recreation Areas 3 2 0 0

Service Areas 0 0 0 0

Sidewalks 0 0 0 0

Worksites 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 3 2 2 0

Smokefree Housing F F F F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F F F F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 1 0 1 0

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0 0 0 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 1 0 1 0

Tehama 
County



Trin
ity

 C
ounty

 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

87

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade F

TOTAL POINTS 1

Smokefree Outdoor Air D

Dining 0

Entryways 0

Public Events 2

Recreation Areas 2

Service Areas 0

Sidewalks 0

Worksites 0

TOTAL POINTS 4

Smokefree Housing F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0

TOTAL POINTS 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0

TOTAL POINTS 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 1

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0

TOTAL POINTS 1

Trinity 
County



D
in

uba

W
oodla

ke

Lin
dsa

y

Tula
re

Exete
r

Port
erv

ill
e

Farm
ers

vill
e

Visa
lia

Tula
re

 C
ounty

 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

88

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade F F F F F F F F F

TOTAL POINTS 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Smokefree Outdoor Air D D F F F F F F F

Dining 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Entryways 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Public Events 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0

Recreation Areas 4 4 0 2 0 2 0 0 2

Service Areas 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sidewalks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Worksites 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 4 4 0 2 0 2 2 0 2

Smokefree Housing F F F F F F F F F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F F F F F F F F F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Tulare
County



Sonora
Tuolu

m
ne C

ounty
 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

89

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade F D

TOTAL POINTS 0 2

Smokefree Outdoor Air F D

Dining 0 2

Entryways 0 0

Public Events 0 2

Recreation Areas 0 0

Service Areas 0 0

Sidewalks 0 0

Worksites 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 4

Smokefree Housing F D

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 2

TOTAL POINTS 0 2

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 0 0

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0

Tuolumne 
County



Cam
aril

lo

Sim
i V

alle
y

O
ja

i

Ventu
ra

Port
 H

uenem
e

Fill
m

ore

Thousa
nd O

aks

O
xnard

M
oorp

ark

Santa
 P

aula

Ventu
ra

 C
ounty

 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

90

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade C F C D B F F F D C D

TOTAL POINTS 6 0 7 2 9 0 0 0 3 5 4

Smokefree Outdoor Air A F A D A F F F B B A

Dining 4 0 4 2 4 0 0 0 2 4 4

Entryways 4 0 4 0 4 0 0 0 4 0 4

Public Events 4 0 4 2 4 0 0 0 3 2 4

Recreation Areas 4 0 4 3 4 0 0 0 2 4 4

Service Areas 4 0 4 0 4 2 0 0 4 4 4

Sidewalks 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0

Worksites 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

TOTAL POINTS 21 0 22 7 20 2 0 0 16 14 21

Smokefree Housing C F B D F F F F F C F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 4 0 4 2 0 0 0 0 0 4 0

TOTAL POINTS 4 0 8 2 0 0 0 0 0 4 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F F F F A F F F F F F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 1

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 1 0 1 0 4 0 0 0 0 1 1

Ventura
County



D
avis

W
oodla

nd

W
est

 S
acra

m
ento

W
in

te
rs

Yolo
 C

ounty
 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

91

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade B D C C C

TOTAL POINTS 9 4 5 7 5

Smokefree Outdoor Air A D D C F

Dining 4 0 0 0 0

Entryways 4 0 0 4 0

Public Events 4 0 0 4 0

Recreation Areas 4 3 4 3 0

Service Areas 4 2 0 0 0

Sidewalks 1 0 0 0 1

Worksites 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 21 5 4 11 1

Smokefree Housing D F F F F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 2 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 2 0 0 0 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products A B A A A

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 4 3 4 4 4

TOTAL POINTS 4 3 4 4 4

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 1 1 0 1 0

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 1 1 1 1 1

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0 0 0 1

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0 1 1

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 2 2 1 3 3

Yolo
County



M
ary

sv
ill

e
W

heatla
nd

Yuba C
ounty

 

U
nin

corp
ora

te
d

92

Overall Tobacco 
Control Grade 
A: 11-12
B: 8-10
C: 5-7

D: 2-4
F: 0-1

Determined by 
grades and points 
from other three 
categories
A: 4
B: 3

C: 2
D: 1

F: 0

Smokefree 
Outdoor Air 
Grade
A: 18+
B: 13-17
C: 8-12

D: 3-7
F: 0-2

Smokefree 
Housing Grade
A: 10+
B: 7-9
C: 4-6

D: 1-3
F: 0

Reducing Sales 
of Tobacco 
Products Grade
A: 4
B: 3
C: 2

D: 1
F: 0

STATE OF TOBACCO CONTROL 2020 - CALIFORNIA LOCAL GRADES

Overall Tobacco Control Grade F F F

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 1

Smokefree Outdoor Air F F D

Dining 0 0 0

Entryways 0 0 2

Public Events 0 0 0

Recreation Areas 0 0 3

Service Areas 0 0 0

Sidewalks 0 0 0

Worksites 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 5

Smokefree Housing F F F

Nonsmoking Apartments 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Condominiums 0 0 0

Nonsmoking Common Areas 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0

Reducing Sales of Tobacco Products F F F

Tobacco Retailer Licensing 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0

Emerging Issues Bonus Points

Emerging Products De nition - Secondhand Smoke 0 0 0

Emerging Products De nition - Licensing 0 0 0

Retailer Location Restrictions 0 0 0

Sale of Tobacco Products in Pharmacies 0 0 0

Flavored Tobacco Products 0 0 0

Minimum Pack Size of Cigars 0 0 0

TOTAL POINTS 0 0 0

Yuba
County



































































































































































































































ORDINANCE NO. 2020-06

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF 
THE CITY OF ESCONDIDO, CALIFORNIA, 
AMENDING CHAPTER 22A OF THE 
ESCONDIDO MUNICIPAL CODE TO 
ENHANCE INDOOR AND OUTDOOR AIR 
REGULATIONS BY REGULATING WHERE 
SMOKING IS ALLOWED IN THE CITY OF 
ESCONDIDO

WHEREAS, smoking leads to disease and disability and harms nearly every organ 

of the body.  More than 16 million Americans are living with a disease caused by smoking; 

and 

WHEREAS, tobacco product use remains the leading cause of preventable death 

in the United States, killing more than 480,000 people each year.  For every person who 

dies because of smoking, at least 30 people live with a serious smoking-related illness; 

and 

WHEREAS, secondhand smoke exposure contributes to approximately 41,000 

deaths among nonsmoking adults and 400 deaths in infants each year; and  

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Escondido (“City”) seeks to encourage 

healthier lifestyles and the City recognizes that the use of tobacco products has 

devastating health consequences.  The negative effects from smoking and secondhand 

smoke exposure constitute a harm which the City has a substantial government interest 

in preventing and/or abating; and  

WHEREAS, the City desires to provide protection for the public health, safety, and 

general welfare by enacting new laws to regulate where smoking is prohibited to protect 

everyone’s right to breathe clean air; and

 WHEREAS, nothing in this ordinance shall be interpreted or applied so as to create 



any requirement, power, or duty that is preempted by state or federal law.  

The City Council of the City of Escondido, California, DOES HEREBY ORDAIN as 

follows: 

SECTION 1. That proper notices of a public hearing have been given and public 

hearings have been held before the City Council on this issue.

SECTION 2. That Chapter 22A of the Escondido Municipal Code is hereby 

repealed and replaced as follows:

Sec. 22A-1. Definitions. 

In this chapter, the following words and phrases shall have the following meanings:

City-owned building means a building owned and occupied, or leased and 

occupied, by the city, except for a residential space.

Dining area means any non-residential location where food or beverages are 

served by a business or routinely consumed by customers. This includes, but is not limited 

to, restaurant or bar seating areas and patios.

Public open space means any established parcel or area of land unoccupied by 

buildings, driveways and parking areas, open to the public, and intended for uses 

including outdoor recreation, education, and scenic and visual enjoyment by the public at 

large. “Public open spaces” include, but are not limited to, city parks, canyons, ranches, 

forests and agricultural lands, the immediate surrounding areas of lakes, streams and 

rivers and other scenic areas owned or controlled by the City. A municipal golf course 

shall not be included within the definition of “public open space.”

Public place means any unenclosed area to which the public is invited or in which 

the public is permitted, except for city-owned buildings. “Public places” include retail 

stores, retail service establishments, retail food production and market establishments, 



restaurants, theaters, waiting rooms, reception areas, educational facilities, health 

facilities, public transportation facilities, and all other areas to which members of the public 

are invited. A private residence shall not be included within the definition of “public place.”

Smoke or smoking shall have the meaning as defined in Cal. Bus & Prof Code 

Section 22950.5(c).

Tobacco product shall have the meaning as defined in Cal. Bus & Prof Code 

Section 22950.5(d).

Trail means any path within a city park or public open space dedicated to 

pedestrian, bicycle, or bridle traffic. “Trail” shall also include any pathway dedicated to 

bicycle traffic within a city park or public open space.

Section 22A-2. Prohibitions. 

(a) State and Federal Smoking Prohibitions.  It is unlawful to smoke in any 

place where state and federal tobacco laws regulate the use of tobacco products.  

(b) Local Smoking Prohibitions.  It is unlawful to smoke in the following places 

within the City of Escondido:

(1) Any public open space or trail, including designated parking areas of any 

City recreational area;

(2) Any outdoor public space within the public right-of-way, including but not 

limited to roads, alleyways, sidewalks, entryways, waiting areas, bus stops, train 

platforms or boarding areas;

(3) Any City-owned parking lot;

(4) Any outdoor community event on all public property, when open to the 

public, such as farmers’ markets, exhibits, parades, concerts, performances, and other 

temporary use activities and events;  



(6) Within eighty (80) feet of the entrance, exit, or operable window of a City-

owned or operated building, including designated parking areas of any City-owned or 

operated building;

(7) Any dining area and within twenty-five (25) feet of the entrance, exit, or 

operable window of any dining area, on public and private property; and

(8) Outside any public place where a sign is posted prohibiting smoking in such 

area.

(c) It shall be unlawful for individuals under the age of 21 years to use or 

possess tobacco products.

(1) Exemption.  This subsection does not apply to active duty military personnel 

who are eighteen (18) years of age or older, in compliance with State law.

Section 22A-3. Violations and penalties.

Any person who violates any of the provisions of this chapter is guilty of an 

infraction except for the fourth or each additional violation of a provision within one (1) 

year which shall be a misdemeanor. Penalties for a violation of this chapter shall be as 

designated in Section 1-17.

SECTION 3. California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”).  That the City has 

determined that this Municipal Code Amendment is not a project pursuant to CEQA 

Guidelines Section 15378(b)(2), which provides that a project does not include general 

policy and procedure making. The adoption of this Municipal Code Amendment is also 

not a project pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15378(b)(5), which provides that a 

project does not include organizational and administrative action of government that will 

not result in direct or indirect physical changes in the environment. 



In the alternative, the City has determined that if the adoption of the Municipal 

Code Amendment is a project, it is subject to exemption.  It can be seen with certainty 

that there is no possibility the adoption of this Municipal Code Amendment will have a 

significant adverse effect on the environment because the Municipal Code Amendment 

prohibits the use of tobacco products in certain areas.  The adoption of this Municipal 

Code Amendment is therefore exempt from California Environmental Quality Act review 

pursuant to the common sense exemption found in CEQA Guidelines Section 

15061(b)(3).  It is also categorically exempt under CEQA Guidelines Section 15308, 

which exempts from CEQA any projects by a regulatory agency for the protection of the 

environment.  The Ordinance constitutes a regulatory activity whose purpose is to protect 

air quality and prevent adverse health effects of air pollutants cause by smoking.  

Pursuant to CEQA, a Notice of Exemption relative to the Ordinance was adopted and will 

be filed with the County Clerk at a time and in a manner as described by law.  

SECTION 4. SEPARABILITY.  If any section, subsection sentence, clause, 

phrase or portion of this Ordinance is held invalid or unconstitutional for any reason by 

any court of competent jurisdiction, such portion shall be deemed a separate, distinct and 

independent provision and such holding shall not affect the validity of the remaining 

portions.

SECTION 5. That the adoption of this Ordinance is not intended to affect or disrupt 

the continuity of the City’s business or administration of its law, including but not limited 

to the following:  

 Actions and proceedings that began before the effective date of this 

ordinance;



 Prosecution for ordinance violations committed before the effective date of 

this ordinance; and/or

 The amount, or collection, of license, fee, penalty debt, forfeiture, or 

obligations due and unpaid as of the effective date of this ordinance.

SECTION 6. That the City Clerk is hereby directed to certify to the passage of this 

ordinance and to cause the same or a summary to be published one time within 15 days 

of its passage in a newspaper of general circulation, printed and published in the City of 

Escondido.



Staff Report - Council

Current Business Item No. 11 March 4, 2020 File No. 0840-40

SUBJECT: 2020 Census Complete Count Outreach Update

DEPARTMENT: Community Development Department / Housing and Neighborhood Services

RECOMMENDATION:

It is requested that the City Council receive the staff report and presentation. No action is required at 
this time except to provide direction to staff as appropriate.

FISCAL ANALYSIS: 

Last October San Diego Association of Governments (“SANDAG”) awarded $77,636.81 to the City of 
Escondido (“City”) from the California Complete Count – Census 2020 pass-through grant from the 
State Government Operations Agency. 

An accurate census count has a significant effect on federal funding levels for state and local 
governments.  The State of California (“State”) receives more than $76 billion of funding per year based 
on Census data.  In 2018, the City received over $3 million dollars from federal block grants, including 
Community Development Block Grant Program (“CDBG”), HOME Investment Partnerships Program 
(“HOME”), Emergency Solutions Grant Program (“ESG”), Homeland Security, and Traffic Safety. An 
undercount could cost California $1,000 in federal funding per person annually.

PREVIOUS ACTION:

On May 22, 2019, the City Council adopted Resolution No. 2019-58 recognizing the importance of the 
2020 Census and supporting the City’s participation in helping to ensure a complete, fair, and accurate 
count.

On October 23, 2020, the City Council authorized the Director of Communications and Community 
Services to accept a 2020 Census Complete Count Outreach Grant in the amount of $77,636.81 from 
SANDAGto reach out to Hard to Count (“HTC”) areas in Escondido to help to ensure a complete count.

BACKGROUND:

Every ten years, the federal government is mandated by the Constitution of the United States to count 
all persons living in the United States through the decennial census. The U.S. Census Bureau will 
conduct Census 2020 in March through July 2020. The data collected during the census is used to 
calculate the number of federal dollars each state receives for programs as well as federal 
representation. The Top Ten Census guided federal programs are: Medicaid, federal direct student 
loans, Supplemental Nutritional Assistance (“SNAP”), Medicare Supplemental Medical Insurance (Part 
B), Highway Planning and Construction, Pell Grants, Section 8 Housing Choice Vouchers, Temporary 



2020 Census Complete Count Outreach Update 
March 4, 2020
Page 2

Assistance for Needy Families, very low to moderate income housing loans, and Title 1 grants to local 
education agencies.

In every census, there are certain socioeconomic and demographic factors that can influence self-
response. In Escondido, the most predominant HTC groups are children younger than five years old, 
seniors, and limited English proficiency residents. An HTC index of 37 was chosen as the statewide 
minimum threshold for Census tracts or block groups requiring additional outreach. There are 48 
census tracts in Escondido with an HTC index of 37 or higher (see Attachment 1). An estimated 89,677 
people live within these block groups. These neighborhoods are characterized by households with one 
or more of the following characteristics: low-income, include young children, live in multi-family units, 
or have limited English-proficiency. The 2020 Census will be the first on-line census, so additional 
support and outreach will be made available to seniors and residents who do not have broadband 
service in their homes. 

PUBLIC OUTREACH:

The City received $77,636.81 in state funds to increase awareness of the upcoming Census and to 
reduce barriers for completion of the Census questionnaire. These funds will be used both directly by 
the City and by partner community-based organizations (“CBOs”). Thus far, the City has designed and 
published materials for Escondido’s community co-branded with the State and County of San Diego 
logos. These materials are being distributed to housing complexes throughout the HTC area, affordable 
housing complexes outside of the HTC area, community partners who work with HTC communities, 
schools, and City facilities. City volunteers will also distribute door hangers throughout the HTC area. 
The City has coordinated with local organizations to host Census information booths at community 
events including the Dia de Los Muertos Festival, Christmas Parade and Multi-Cultural Fair, and 
Farmers Market. Additionally, the City will sponsor a banner over Broadway and Washington Avenue, 
a video to be aired on the City website and Channel 19, and advertisements on the back cover of the 
spring Recreation Guide, utility bills, and on the California Center for the Arts Escondido (“CCAE”) 
marquis.

In order to reduce barriers to completing the Census, the City will also facilitate three Questionnaire 
Assistance Centers (“QAC”) from mid-March through the end of April. QACs are physical locations 
where the public can get information about the Census in their native language. These locations also 
provide online access to complete the questionnaire. The Escondido Public Library and Park Avenue 
Community Center will each host a QAC daily. Additionally, City staff is working with housing complexes 
and Neighborhood Health to have a traveling QAC to assist people.

APPROVED AND ACKNOWLEDGED ELECTRONICALLY BY:

Bill Martin, Director of Community Development Mike Strong, Assistant Director of Planning
2/27/20 10:04 a.m. 2/26/20 5:52 p.m.

ATTACHMENTS:

1. Attachment 1: Escondido Hard-to-Count Census Blocks



·|}þ78

§̈¦15

§̈¦15

Rt F

JUNIPER

BORDEN

EL NORTE

VIA RANCHO

OLD MILKY

CL
OV

ER
DA

LE

ESCONDIDO

WASHINGTON

OAK HILL

SA
NP

AS
QU

AL

NO
RD

AH

L

MISSION

GRAND

CH
ES

TN
UT

FELICITA

SHERIDAN
SUNSET

LAHO
NDA

ROSE

BO
UG

HE
R

COUNTRY CLUB

INTERSTATE 15

LA
KEWOHLFORD

09TH

05TH

13TH 17TH

ROCK SPRINGS

CITRACADO

AUTO PARK

VISTA

MIDWAY

IDAHO

BE
AR

VA
LL

EY

HA
RMONY GROVE

IR
ISGOLD

EN
CIR

CLE

DATE

IVY

ASH

TULIP

CITRUS

BROADWAY

HA
LE

KNOB HILL

BARHAM
LINCOLN

WO
OD

LA
ND NUTMEG

WANEK

CONWAY

BE
NN

ET
T

RICHLAN D

MOUNTA
IN

MEA
D

OW

VALLEY

M
E Y ERS

CENTRE CITY

HIGHLAND VALLEY

LA
K

E
DA

VID
DE

L D
IO

S

Council Districts and
Hard-to-Count Census Blocks±

0 0.5 1
Miles

 S:\GIS\Projects\CommServices\20160829 Karen Youel CDBG\CDBG and Neighborhood Groups 2019 letter.mxd  5/9/2019 

Hard to Count Block Groups
Council District 1
Council District 2
Council District 3
Council District 4
City Boundary

ATTACHMENT 1



Staff Report - Council

Current Business Item No. 12 March 4, 2020 File No. 0480-70

SUBJECT: SB 2 Planning Grant Award announcement and next steps towards developing a 
Housing Element Update, Sector Feasibility Study, and East Valley Specific Plan.

DEPARTMENT: Community Development Department, Planning Division

RECOMMENDATION:

It is recommended that the City Council approve a budget adjustment of $310,000 (see Attachment 6); 
authorize the release of the request for proposals (“RFPs”); and receive, consider, and provide staff 
direction on the preliminary approach to inform and engage the public, as the City updates its future 
housing policies.

FISCAL ANALYSIS: 

The action before the City Council is an overview of the next steps towards developing plans/studies 
that will be considered by the City Council in 2021. There is no fiscal impact associated with this 
overview.  The grant award of $310,000 pays for activities that would otherwise have been paid for by 
the General Fund.  Prior to entering into any contracts for professional services, an off-cycle budget 
appropriation of $310,000 is necessary to complete the work for the grant-funded activities.  

PREVIOUS ACTION:

On October 9, 2019, the City Council approved Resolution No. 2019-156, authorizing the submittal for 
a SB 2 Planning Grant application to support planning efforts and increase the supply and affordability 
of homes in Escondido, and, if awarded, to accept the grant funds, complete a budget adjustment, and 
complete grant documents on behalf of the City of Escondido.    

BACKGROUND:

The construction of new safe, decent, and attainable housing in California, and the San Diego region 
in particular, has been slowing down – further depleting the already limited inventory of homes.  High 
demand for housing often pushes prices out of reach for lower and moderate-income households.  In 
order for the private market to adequately address the housing needs and demand, local governments 
must adopt plans and regulatory systems that provide opportunities for housing development.  
Therefore, local governments have a responsibility to facilitate the improvement, preservation, and 
development of housing.  

To assure local governments establish and attain these goals, the State, through Government Code 
Section 65580 et. seq., requires that local governments prepare, and implement an update to their 
Housing Element portion of the General Plan.  This section of the Government Code, called Housing 



Senate Bill 2 Grant Award and RFP Release
March 4, 2020
Page 2

Element law, has become the main vehicle which the State affects local housing and land use policies.  
The content and process by which a Housing Element is prepared is prescribed in State law, which 
requires local governments to adequately plan for existing and projected housing needs of all economic 
segments of the City.  The element addresses in greater detail, the identification and analysis of housing 
needs and a statement of goals, policies, programs strategies, quantified objectives, financial 
resources, and scheduled programs for the preservation, improvement and development of housing.  
It also includes a component of fair housing programs and policies.  Over the years, the City of 
Escondido has implemented a number of valuable programs that have assisted lower income families 
(i.e. Community Development Block Grants, Section 8 financing programs) as well as approved lower 
income housing projects.  However, with a changing demographic and aging population, it is becoming 
even more important to properly plan and provide for affordable housing for all income levels.
 
The 2017 Legislative Housing Package provided a renewed focus on housing and offered fifteen (15) 
different bills aimed at injecting new regulatory and financial resources to address housing construction, 
the state’s housing shortage, and high housing costs.  Chapter 354, Statutes of 2017 (SB 2) was part 
of this legislative package.  SB 2 established a new, permanent source of funding intended to increase 
the affordable housing stock in California.  On, January 16, 2020, the City received formal award 
announcement of $310,000 to prepare a Housing Element Update, Sector Feasibility Study, and create 
a Specific Plan for the East Valley Target Area.  The award announcement (provided in Attachment 1) and 
SB 2 Program reflects the State’s commitment to work in partnership with local governments to address 
California’s critical housing needs.  Local governments are using the grant awards to accelerate 
housing production by streamlining the approval of affordable housing and promoting development 
consistent with the state’s planning priorities, among other related activities.

PROJECT ANALYSIS:

The City was awarded grant funding to develop three different housing plans/studies: 1) a Housing 
Element Update, 2) a Sector Feasibility Study, and 3) a specific plan for the East Valley Target Area.  
The anticipated scope of projects covered by the City’s SB 2 Planning Grant are listed below:  
 

The Housing Element portion of the General Plan identifies housing needs and 
establishes clear goals and objectives to inform future housing decisions, including how 
best to accommodate population growth.  This portion of the grant funds will allow the 
City to assess current conditions, plan for the future, and advance a progressive set of 
programs and initiatives to develop, conserve, and maintain housing opportunities, health 
in housing, and fair housing choices for current and future residents.  The Housing 
Element reflects the vital role housing plays in ensuring the shared prosperity of our 
region.

 
The Sector Feasibility Study explores all the direct and indirect costs associated with new 
construction to better understand market conditions and patterns of housing and community 
development policy.  This study, often referred to as a developer pro-forma, may help offer a 
general framework for defining realistic goals that respond to the challenges faced by different 



Senate Bill 2 Grant Award and RFP Release
March 4, 2020
Page 3

markets and would provide guidance on the differing scales of interventions, role of public 
subsidy, and timeframes required for affordable housing projects (i.e. calling attention to 
programs that can be used to influence housing market outcomes in one or more ways).  It may 
also help the City identify the right regulatory and non-regulatory approaches to right-sizing code 
standards to facilitate new housing development by understanding the amount of housing 
development expected under the existing regulations and learn if more housing can be achieved 
through various zoning incentives or development standards modifications.  The City could also 
determine how best to speed up approvals and permit processing by understanding the timing 
and cost associated with entitlement and permit processing. 

The East Valley Specific Plan will be a comprehensive planning and zoning document for a 
defined geographic area of the city, located just east of the former, downtown hospital site.  The 
planning area of the East Valley Target Area, as it currently exists, is a function of past decisions 
and policies. A lot has changed since the area developed, including the adoption of the 2012 
General Plan.  Creating a specific plan for this area of the city would help establish a link between 
implementing policies of the General Plan and the future, individual development proposals 
within the defined area.  It is envisioned that the target area will accommodate additional housing 
opportunities, so the Specific Plan should be closely coordinated with the Housing Element 
Update and Sector Feasibility Study.

The overall process provides residents, businesses, and other community members with an opportunity 
to vision a future for the City, as well as a specific area of the City, that reflects community-supported 
solutions and commonly-shared priorities.  It is anticipated that the work program take approximately 
twelve (12) to fourteen (14) months to complete.  In order to obtain guidance on the development of 
these plans and studies, it would be prudent for the City to explore its options as thoroughly as possible 
through a RFP process.  The area of planning and zoning law is dynamic and it would be advantageous 
for the City to explore all of its options and obtain competitive quotes from various consultants or 
vendors.  Draft copies of the RFPs are provided in Attachments 3-5.  The RFP for each plan/study 
creates a clear focus on specific criteria that is important to the City and each respective RFP requests 
that each respondent submit a proposed scope of work and an itemized breakdown of all costs 
associated with completing all elements of the project.  After bids are received and screened at a City 
staff level, the City Council may discuss the proposals and negotiate modifications of the proposal, draft 
scope of work, terms and conditions and pricing with the prospective respondents as a part of the 
selection process.  City Council consultant selection would occur at a future meeting in April.

PUBLIC OUTREACH 

The City will be undertaking a strategically focused public involvement process to help engage 
residents, businesses, and other community members in the development of three different housing 
studies and plans.  Since the Housing Element, Sector Feasibility Study, and East Valley Specific Plan 
are related to each other, consolidating the work program in terms of project management into one 
project will help ensure that activities and tasks are grouped to be more efficient.  This in turn will also 
lead to more effective public outreach and community engagement activities.  



Senate Bill 2 Grant Award and RFP Release
March 4, 2020
Page 4

 
The draft Public Participation Plan (“PPP”) for the Housing Element Update, Sector Feasibility Study, 
and East Valley Specific Plan establishes goals for the outreach effort, as well as specific engagement 
and coordination elements.  It is provided as Attachment 2.  Although it will remain in draft form until 
consultant services are procured and outreach elements of each contract refine the approach to 
engagement, the purpose of the attachment is to weave various outreach activities together into a 
coordinated and transparent process and solicit early input from the City Council.  (In addition to the 
actions listed in the draft PPP, the process will also include additional elements that is supported by 
consultant services.)  The PPP, when finalized, will also serve as a source document to show how and 
when information will be presented to the public, including different community groups, and the City 
Council in their consideration of policy making priorities and/or implementation decisions.

At their March 4, 2020 meeting, the City Council may express specific elements that they would like to 
see implemented as part of the overall engagement strategy.  This will be incorporated into the overall 
work program to the extent feasible.  The PPP will become finalized after consultant selection in April 
2020.  Implementation of the PPP would occur shortly thereafter and continue for the duration of the 
work program.
 
ENVIRONMENTAL STATUS

The action before the City Council is statutorily exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act 
(“CEQA”) pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15262, Feasibility and Planning Studies.  This action 
involves only ongoing study in preparing various housing related programs and authorization to pursue 
grant funding.  Public input received and technical information prepared during the proposed process 
would be utilized in preparing environmental documents to analyze their impact on the physical 
environment.

APPROVED AND ACKNOWLEDGED ELECTRONICALLY BY:

Bill Martin, Director of Community Development Mike Strong, Assistant Director of Planning
2/27/20 10:04 a.m. 2/26/20 5:52 p.m.

ATTACHMENTS:

1. Attachment 1 – SB 2 Award Announcement Letter
2. Attachment 2 – Draft PPP
3. Attachment 3 – Draft Housing Element Update RFP
4. Attachment 4 – Draft Sector Feasibility Study RFP
5. Attachment 5 – Draft East Valley Specific Plan RFP
6. Attachment 6 – Off-Cycle Budget Allocation Form



STATE OF CALIFORNIA - BUSINESS, CONSUMER SERVICES AND HOUSING AGENCY GAVIN NEWSOM, Governor  
DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DIVISION OF HOUSING POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
2020 W. El Camino Avenue, Suite 500 
Sacramento, CA 95833 
(916) 263-2911 / FAX (916) 263-7453
www.hcd.ca.gov

January 16, 2020 

Bill Martin  
Director of Community Development 
City of Escondido 
201 N. Broadway 
Escondido, CA 92025 

RE: 2019 Planning Grants Program Award 

Dear Bill Martin: 

The California Department of Housing and Community Development (Department) is 
pleased to announce that the City of Escondido has been approved for funding under 
the SB 2 Planning Grants Program (Program). The Department has determined that the 
application submitted in response to the Notice of Funding Availability released on 
March 28, 2019, meets Program requirements. This letter, therefore, constitutes a 
conditional commitment of an award in the amount of $310,000. 

The Program reflects the state’s commitment to work in partnership with local 
governments to address California’s critical housing needs. Local governments are 
using the grant awards to accelerate housing production by streamlining the approval of 
affordable housing and promoting development consistent with the state’s planning 
priorities, among other related activities.  

Congratulations on your successful application. Staff will be contacting you shortly to 
initiate the process of preparing the Standard Agreement for fund distribution. For 
further information, please contact John Buettner at (916) 263-1500. 

Sincerely, 

Zachary Olmstead 
Deputy Director

ATTACHMENT 1



Attachment 2

A. Purpose of a Public Participation Plan:

The City of Escondido (“City”) is undertaking this public involvement process to help engage residents, 
businesses, and other community members in the development of three different housing studies and 
plans.  To achieve success for the three studies and plans, the City needs to have a well-thought out 
planning process.  Since the studies are related to each other, consolidating the work program in terms of 
project management will help ensure that activities and tasks are grouped to be more efficient.  This in 
turn will also lead to more effective public outreach and community engagement activities.  

The Public Participation Plan (“PPP”) for the housing studies and plans establishes goals for the outreach 
effort, as well as specific scheduling, engagement, and coordination elements.  The purpose of the PPP is 
to weave various outreach activities together into a coordinated process.  This PPP will also serve as a 
source document to show how and when information will be presented to the public, including different 
community groups, and the City Council in their consideration of policy making priorities and/or 
implementation decisions.

B. Studies/Plans Overview:

The City was awarded grant funding to develop three different hosing studies and plans: a Housing 
Element update (“HEU”), a Sector Feasibility Study, and a specific plan for the East Valley Target Area 
(“EVSP”).  

HEU: The Housing Element of the General Plan identifies housing needs and establishes 
clear goals and objectives to inform future housing decisions, including how best to 
accommodate population growth.  This HEU will allow the City to assess current 
conditions, plan for the future, and advance a progressive set of programs and initiatives 
to develop, conserve, and maintain housing opportunities, health in housing, and fair 
housing choices for current and future residents.  The HEU reflects the vital role housing 
plays in ensuring the shared prosperity of our region.    

Sector Feasibility Study:  The one tool that more and more communities around the country to 
better understand the housing market and recent housing market performance is to review is 
conduct a residential section housing market study.  The Sector Feasibility Study explores all the 
direct and indirect costs to new construction to better understand market conditions and patterns 
of housing and community development policy and investment strategy.  This may help offer a 
general framework for defining realistic goals that respond to the challenges faced by different 
markets and would provide guidance on the differing scales of interventions, role of public 
subsidy, and timeframes required for affordable housing projects (i.e. calling attention to 
programs that can be used to influence housing market outcomes in one or more ways).



Attachment 2

EVSP:  A specific plan is a comprehensive planning and zoning document for a defined geographic 
area of the city.  The planning area of the East Valley Target Area, as it currently exists, is a function 
of past decisions and policies. A lot has changed since the area developed, including the adoption 
of the 2012 General Plan.  Creating a specific plan for this area of the city would help establish a 
link between implementing policies of the General Plan and the future, individual development 
proposals within the defined area.  It is envisioned that the target area will accommodate 
additional housing opportunities, so the EVSP should be closely coordinated with the HEU and 
Sector Feasibility Study.

C. Defining the “Housing and Community Investment Study:”

These three housing studies and plans will be linked together, through a common work program theme, 
called the “Housing and Community Investment Study.”  The Coastal Mobility and Livability Study (CMLS), 
as a theme, is the “face” or “brand” of the studies/plans and is something that people will recognize.  It is 
simple enough to be memorable and also helps distinguish it from other City activities and projects.  The 
study directly explores the link between safe, decent, and attainable housing and community investment 
opportunities.

Public participation is a critical component of the Housing and Community Investment Study planning 
process, because ultimately, its success will depend on community support.  Therefore, this PPP seeks to 
develop a way to provide clear and ongoing information, encourage meaningful dialog, gather feedback 
and build consensus among local stakeholders.  This will be achieved through a variety of methods, which 
are outlined in the plan, all with the goal of being as inclusive as possible. 

D. Outreach Goals:

Public participation will help ensure that the Housing and Community Investment Study is developed to 
identify community-supported solutions.  Since housing is a basic need of all people, regardless of income 
level, household type, etc., there is a need to engage a broad spectrum of stakeholders.  Therefore, public 
participation will need to be achieved in a variety of ways.  The outreach and coordination goals for the 
Housing and Community Investment Study are as follows: 

1. Develop well-targeted messages to raise awareness about the Housing and Community 
Investment Study.  

2. Succinctly communicate the purpose, benefits, and reason for the Housing and Community 
Investment Study, and the relationship that the three housing studies/plans (HEU, Sector 
Feasibility Study, and EVSP) have with each other.  

3. Create opportunities for broad community input and engage a diverse group of people that 
represents a cross-section of perspectives, with particular emphasis on typically under-served or 
underrepresented populations of the city, including Spanish speakers, youth/students, seniors, 
and disadvantaged community members.  The plan isn’t just about making what we have better, 



Attachment 2

it is also about attracting new residents, businesses, and visitors to the city.  For this purpose, 
stakeholders and organizations should be unified in their visions to keep Plan implementation 
consistently positive and to help build public private partnerships. 

4. Calling on local groups has helped ensure that a wide audience is reached (including but not 
limited to resident groups, HOAs, business membership groups, non-profits, schools, churches, 
etc.). 

E. Information Sharing and Engagement Strategies: 

The purpose of the PPP is to weave various outreach activities together into a coordinated process.  To 
provide information about the Housing and Community Investment Study, gather meaningful feedback 
and build consensus among local stakeholders, initial outreach will focus on re-establishing stakeholder 
networks and ask these stakeholders to re-engage in the planning process.  This network building will 
involve multiple forms of outreach, which are outlined below. 

SECTION 1: Information Sharing 

Communications for the Housing and Community Investment Study will be simple and will outline how 
and when public input will be used to inform various components of the project.  Outreach materials will 
limit the use of planning jargon and technical terms.  Outreach materials will be graphic-rich and limit the 
use of text, where appropriate.  Outreach materials will be produced in English and Spanish, and Spanish 
language facilitators will be available at outreach events.  The following sections describe specific 
elements communications and information sharing.  
 
1a. Press and Media Notifications 
 

Objective and Overview.  The purpose of the press and media notifications is to reach out to local 
media outlets in order to get media coverage and boost project exposure to reach wide audiences, 
which will lead to increased public participation.  Press releases will be circulated to announce 
public workshops and hearings, and the City will work with local media outlets and encourage 
them to follow the planning process and include features in local publications.

Timing:  Notifications and communications will be created at key points in the study process.

1b. Fact Sheet 
 

Objective and Overview:  In the beginning it will be important to document the overall purpose 
and goals of the Housing and Community Investment Study work program.  The message needs 
to identify a “call of action” to make the project appealable and interesting to broad audiences 
that may be unfamiliar with conventional planning projects.  The purpose of developing the fact 
sheets is to provide a concise but thorough overview of the project, and what it means.  At a 



Attachment 2

minimum, the fact sheet will contain information on the Housing and Community Investment 
Study timeline, stakeholder involvement and public comment opportunities, and contact details.  
The fact sheet will also include the Community Workshop schedule and location information, 
making them useful for pre-workshop publicity.  The fact sheet will include an electronic format 
suitable for website posting, e-mail distribution, and printing.  Spanish versions of the three fact 
sheets will be prepared once the English version has been finalized.   
 
Timing:  The fact sheet will be produced in summer 2020, in advance of the first round of outreach.

1c. City Website 
 

Objective and Overview: The purpose of the Housing and Community Investment Study webpage, 
hosted at the link below, is to establish a one-stop source for all project information and for 
collecting public input.  The website will be used to post fact sheets, working documents, maps 
and illustrations, past agenda reports and council actions, and for the public to sign-up to receive 
newsletters.   

Link: https://www.escondido.org/HCIS

Timing:  The webpage has already launched, with updates as needed throughout the planning 
process.

1d. Newsletters 
 

Objective and Overview:  The e-newsletter will be brief informational packets/emails with links to 
the project website and other relevant information.  The purpose of the e-newsletter is to provide 
up-to-date information about the project, announce milestones, and let the public know of public 
meetings and workshops and other opportunities to provide input.   
 
Timing:  The e-newsletter will be distributed to at key milestones, such as the availability of a 
document and/or to announce upcoming public input opportunities.  It is anticipated that there 
will 5 to 7 newsletters, depending on the status and progression of the project.

1e. Social Media  
 

Objective and Overview:  Regular updates about the projects, key milestones, and opportunities 
for public comment will be shared on the City’s social media channels.  The purpose of social 
media posts will be to use already-established online platforms in order to reach the widest 
audience and garner additional public participation.  Posts will encourage community members 
to share the posts directly in order to encourage broad distribution of information. 
 



Attachment 2

Timing: Social media posts will be made at key milestones, such as the availability of a document 
and/or to announce upcoming public input opportunities. The update timing and purpose will be 
comparable to the e-newsletter timing and purpose described above.

1f. Commission Presentations and Community Advisory Group Meetings 
 

Objective and Overview:  To facilitate public participation at key milestones and to ensure the 
public has the opportunity to share their input, staff will provide standing item presentations on 
the Housing and Community Investment Study to each of the City’s Commissions and Committees.  
This will ensure that all City Commissions and Committees have an opportunity to be involved.  
Opportunities will also be provided for the public attending these meetings to share their 
comments and ask questions. 
 
To expand Study exposure and increase participation opportunities, City staff will also provide 
informational presentation to any stakeholder group on request (resident, business, or other 
community group).  This will also include soliciting interest from the Community Advisory Groups.  
Presentation to be similar in scope to the Commission and Committee presentations, but would 
allow for group Q&A or active feedback and participation.  
 
Timing:  Regular status update presentations to City Commissions and Committees will be 
provided once every several months for the duration of the work program.  More detailed 
presentations will be made at key milestones, with the Planning Commission, such as the 
availability of a document and/or to announce upcoming public input opportunities. 

1g.  City Council presentations

Objective and Overview:  To facilitate public participation at key milestones and to ensure the 
public has the opportunity to share their input, staff will provide two status check-ins with the 
City Council on the Housing and Community Investment Study.  This will ensure that the City 
Council can steer the process and provide direction as necessary prior to public hearings to review 
and consider the final HEU, Sector Feasibility Study, and EVSP. 
 
Timing:  Detailed presentations will be made at key milestones, such as the availability of a 
document and/or to announce upcoming public input opportunities. 

SECTION 2: Engagement Strategies 

Communications for the Housing and Community Investment Study will be simple and will outline how 
and when public input will be used to inform various components of the project.  The following 
engagement strategies will be utilized to collect community input.  Outreach materials will be produced 
in English and Spanish, and Spanish language facilitators will be available at outreach events.  



Attachment 2

2a. Community Workshops 
 

Objective and Overview:  Provide a welcoming environment, open to the general public, where 
attendees can learn about the Housing and Community Investment Study and provide feedback 
at key points in the technical process.  Workshop formats will be designed to both educate 
participants about the HEU, Sector Feasibility Study, and EVSP; and its benefits and to collect input 
that can help guide the three studies/plans.  Workshop formats are anticipated to be small group 
discussions, topical breakout sessions, and/or exhibits where people can post notes, comment 
cards, etc.  Two rounds of workshops/open houses will occur as part of the overall work program; 
however, more may occur as needed to ensure community-supported solutions are achieved.  
And it is anticipated that most of the workshop events will be conducted out in different areas of 
the city to ensure that meetings are conveniently located; and there are several dates and times 
to provide input and speak one-on-one with the project team.     

Timing: Anticipated timing is expected to occur during the summer or fall 2020.

2b. Supplemental Pop-Up Outreach 
 

Objective and Overview:  In order to capture opinions of those that may not typically attend 
community meetings, Pop-Up Outreach will supplement in-person workshops.  Pop-Up Outreach 
would piggy-back on existing community events, such as school events, community gatherings, 
and/or festivals.  This Pop-Up Outreach may occur the same day as the in-person workshops or 
may occur within roughly the same 3-week period as the in-person workshops.  Questions/Study 
content presented would be comparable to the in-person workshops.  

Timing: Anticipated timing of the Pop-Up Outreach is expected to occur during the summer, fall, 
and winter 2020, as needed to ensure community-supported solutions are achieved.

2c. Online Surveys and Community Questionnaires 
 

Objective and Overview:  The purpose of providing supplemental online or community 
questionnaires is to provide additional ways for residents, businesses, and other community 
members to provide input.  This forum (online community input) is intended to appeal to a 
broader audience that may not typically attend community workshops or meetings; or 
households that choose to participate out of the convenience of their own home.  In addition to 
the traditional workshop setting, residents, businesses, and other community members will also 
be encouraged to use the online tool during outreach efforts, or encourage their friends to do so.   

Timing: The surveys will be conducted during the first round of workshops to supplement data 
collection.



Attachment 2

2d. Stakeholder Interviews 
 

Objective and Overview:  To supplement input received through the workshops and surveys, it 
will be helpful to have conversations with stakeholders to get a better understanding of 
opportunities and to identify barriers and roadblocks that may need to be removed.  Information 
can be gathered through a series of focus groups and interview with more than 50 local experts 
in housing, community development, real estate, lending, and property management who work 
across a wide range of sub-markets, populations, and geographies served. An internal City 
Steering Committee, with staff from Planning, Housing, Economic Development, Real Estate, 
Assessment, Law, Code Enforcement, etc. also helped to guide and inform the study.

Timing:  The interviews will be conducted after the first round of workshops.



Attachment 3

Request for Proposals
HEU 2021-2019

1

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 
FOR HOUSING ELEMENT 

UPDATE

[date], 2020

The City of Escondido (“City”) is requesting proposals to support the development of an 
updated Housing Element.  The City must update its Housing Element as mandated by State 
law for the 2021-2029 planning cycle, with completed certification by the California Department 
of Housing and Community Development (“HCD”).  See Request for Proposals (“RFP”) for more 
details.  The RFP documents may be obtained at the following link:

https://www.escondido.org/purchasing.aspx.

Proposals shall be submitted either in a sealed envelope (with the proposal on a CD, solid-state 
data storage device, or thumb/flash drive) or submitted by email (provide a file transfer if the 
attachments are greater than 9.5 MBs) plainly identifying the RFP and consultant’s name and 
address.  Proposals shall be delivered to the attention of Mike Strong, Assistant Planning 
Director, with the City of Escondido, Planning Division, 201 North Broadway, Escondido, 
CA 92078; or emailed to mstrong@escondido.org.  Proposals must be received by 5:00 pm 
PST on March 27, 2020, in order to be considered timely for the purpose of selecting a 
consultant to provide the requested services.    

Responders to this solicitation should be concise – and keep it simple.  The contents of the 
proposal and/or other material submitted should reflect the “shortness” of the overall procurement 
schedule.   

Successful proposers will be asked to sign a Personal Services Contract (“Consulting 
Agreement”) with the City prior to being given notice to proceed.  A sample Consulting Agreement 
is attached as part of the RFP documents.  Proposers must evaluate this Consulting Agreement 
and agree with the terms and conditions contained therein unless written objections are included 
with their proposal.  The City will review the objections and content of any such objection in the 
proposal evaluation process.

For additional information regarding this RFP, please contact Mike Strong, at (760) 839-4556 or 
by email at mstrong@escondido.org.   



Attachment 3

Request for Proposals
HEU 2021-2019

2

SECTION I – SUMMARY 

This Request for Proposals (“RFP”) solicits proposals from qualified consultants, firms, and/or a 
team comprised of different companies (“Consultant”) to provide professional services to update 
the City’s Housing Element to include the policies, strategies, and actions the City will undertake 
to facilitate the construction of new housing and preservation of existing housing to meet the 
needs of the population during the planning period (2021-2029) in all economic segments of the 
community. The implementation of SB 375 (2007) requires that the next Housing Element be 
certified by the State in April 2021.  

The Housing Element update project shall be guided by the following objectives:

 Comply with all City and state legal and regulatory requirements.
 Produce a comprehensive document that addresses current and projected housing 

conditions and needs in the City.
 Ensure residents and stakeholders are engaged and participate in the update 

process to facilitate community buy-in.
 Achieve milestones with sufficient time for City and state oversight and review.
 Effectively coordinate with other consultants and City staff.

To respond to this RFP, an interested party should submit one (1) electronic copy (in Adobe 
Acrobat PDF file format) of its proposal to:
 

Mike Strong, Assistant Planning Director
City of Escondido
201 North Broadway
mstrong@escondido.org

Proposals shall be submitted either in a sealed envelope (with the proposal on a CD, solid-state 
data storage device, or thumb/flash drive) or submitted by email (provide a file transfer if the 
attachments are greater than 9.5 MBs) plainly identifying the RFP and consultant’s name and 
address.  Proposals must be received by 5:00 pm PST on Friday, March 27, 2020.  Late 
proposals will not be considered.  Proposals must address all information requested in this 
RFP.  A proposal may add information not requested in this RFP, but the information should be 
in addition to, not instead of, the requested information and format. 

SECTION II – BACKGROUND 

The City of Escondido invites proposals from qualified consulting firms that are able to engage 
our community leaders, residents, businesses, and other community members in developing the 
2021- 2019 Cycle 6 Housing Element.  The Housing Element will be updated to include the 
policies, strategies, and actions the City will undertake to facilitate the construction of new housing 



Attachment 3

Request for Proposals
HEU 2021-2019

3

and preservation of existing housing to meet the needs of the population during the planning 
period.  In accordance with State law, the Housing Element must include:

 a complete analysis of the specific housing needs and an inventory of the resources 
and constraints relevant to addressing the housing needs. 

 an inventory of land suitable for residential development to meet the City’s housing 
needs. 

 identification and analysis of potential and actual governmental constraints.
 identification of specific programs to implement the policies and goals.
 other analysis, policies, and goals required to comply with applicable State law.

The previous 2013-2021 Cycle 5 Housing Element was adopted by the City Council in May 2012 
and was certified by the California Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD).  
The existing Housing Element remains a relevant planning policy document.  Therefore, much of 
the effort associated with the professional services contract will be to update the existing housing 
needs and inventory and update the existing document to be compliant with recent State housing 
legislation packages.  On July 5, 2018, HCD determined the San Diego region would need to plan 
for 171,685 housing units (Regional Housing Needs Assessment [“RHNA”] Determination) during 
the 6th Housing Element Cycle (2021-2029). As the council of governments for the San Diego 
region, the San Diego Association of Governments (“SANDAG”) is responsible for developing a 
methodology for allocating the regional housing need among the region’s 19 jurisdictions.  The 
Board of Directors for SANDAG adopted the RHNA Plan on November 22, 2019.  The State 
requires that Cycle 6 Housing Elements be certified 18 months after that date. The RHNA 
allocation for Escondido is significant.  Escondido faces a number of challenges in meeting RHNA 
targets.  The City is virtually built out with limited vacant land to provide additional housing.

The Final 6th Cycle Regional Housing Needs Assessment Methodology can be found at 
https://www.sandag.org/uploads/projectid/projectid_189_26874.pdf and may be used to 
understand the allocation assignments and their methodology.  The City of Escondido 2012 
Housing Element document can be found on the City’s website 
(https://www.escondido.org/general-plan.aspx), and may be used as a foundation for 
understanding the City’s unique vision and needs, which will serve as a basis for the Housing 
Element update.

SECTION III – SCOPE OF WORK 

At a minimum, the consultant is expected to complete the following tasks:

1. Update housing, population, employment, and existing conditions.
2. Assess housing conditions and immediate needs, including special housing needs.
3. Incorporate the RHNA figures as provided by the adopted RHNA Plan.



Attachment 3

Request for Proposals
HEU 2021-2019

4

4. Investigate, analyze, and address all new State housing laws and make recommendations 
to the City on their implementation and incorporation into applicable City codes and 
regulations.

5. Assess all existing Housing Element programs and other relevant City housing programs 
and determine their effectiveness and to make future recommendations as needed.

6. Conduct public outreach and facilitate meaningful public input.  Ideally, several platforms 
to engage different populations should be utilized to formulate realistic and community-
supported solutions to address housing challenges in the community.  The consultant 
should assume, at a minimum, to provide services related to supplemental material and 
graphics, and technical and in-person assistance, with implementation at public workshop 
and public hearings. 

7. Prepare a draft 2021-2029 Housing Element and submit to HCD for review.  Coordinate 
document review, and address recommended modifications and comments by HCD, until 
such time that the document is deemed substantially in compliance with state law.

8. Identify sections of the City’s General Plan Land Use Element and Public Safety Element, 
if any, that may need to be amended to be in compliance with State law, including all 
tables, maps, etc. consistent with the draft 2021-2029 Housing Element.

9. Attend Planning Commission and City Council public hearings.
10. Submit a City Council approved 2021-2029 Housing Element to HCD.

To satisfy the scope of work, the consultant should be familiar with State requirements and HCD 
guidance regarding Housing Element law and recent changes regarding site inventory and fair 
housing.  The consultant should be able to demonstrate an ability to keep projects on time and 
within the allocated budget.  During the course of preparing a draft and final Housing Element, 
the consultant should be able to effectively utilize technical expertise related to housing and 
actively engage a variety of community stakeholders and communicate ideas effectively in various 
forms.   

SECTION IV – BUDGET 

The City anticipates a consultant budget not-to-exceed $135,000 including reimbursables. 

Payment for services will be based on an hourly rate (time) and materials, and a not-to-exceed 
amount.  The City will retain ten percent (10%) from the amounts invoiced until satisfactory 
completion of work and the final invoice has been processed.  A partial payment computed by 
multiplying the base fee by this percentage shall then become due and payable, provided 
however, that no more than ninety percent (90%) of the total fee will be paid during the 
performance of the services.  The balance of said fee shall become due and payable upon 
completion of all duties under the Consultant Agreement.

In connection with the work covered by the Consulting Agreement the City may, at any time during 
the process of the work, order additional work or materials incidental thereto.  For example, if 



Attachment 3

Request for Proposals
HEU 2021-2019

5

additional meetings or if additional responses to comments are necessary.  If any such work and 
materials are not listed as a pay item with a contract unit price or if compensation is not included 
under the terms of the Consulting Agreement, such work will be designated as Extra Work, and 
shall be performed by the consultant as directed.  In the event the completion of specific tasks 
identified in the Scope of Work significantly exceeds the hours originally budgeted for under the 
Scope of Work, the consultant, subject to prior written approval by the City, may bill for such 
additional time at the rate corresponding to the task(s) in question under a proposed rate 
schedule.

Please note that the consultant will not be allowed to perform work in excess of the described 
services in the Consulting Agreement without the prior, written approval of the City.  Before any 
Extra Work is initiated, the consultant shall identify the kind, cost, and estimated quantities of the 
Extra Work to be done.  Any increase or reallocation in compensation must be authorized and 
funded in advance.  No compensation for Extra Work or any other change in the contract will be 
allowed unless the Extra Work or change has been authorized in writing by the City, any 
necessary contract amendment is approved, and the compensation or method of determining 
such compensation is stated in such written authority.  All requests for Extra Work shall be in a 
written Change Order submitted to and approved by the City prior to the commencement of such 
work.

SECTION V – INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 

A. General 

1. All proposals must be made in accordance with the conditions of this RFP.  Failure to 
address any of the requirements may be grounds for rejection of this proposal. 

2. All information should be complete, specific, and as concise as possible.  Respondents 
are liable for all errors or omissions contained in their submittals. 

3. Proposals should include any additional information that the respondent deems pertinent 
to the understanding and evaluation of the bid. 

4. The City may modify the RFP or issue supplementary information or guidelines during the 
proposal preparation period prior to the due date. 

5. Proposals shall constitute firm offers.  Proposals may not be modified after the due date. 
All proposals shall constitute firm offers valid for ninety (90) days from the due date.  All 
proposals should be signed by an authorized representative of the bidder.  Once 
submitted, proposals may be withdrawn, modified and resubmitted up until the due date.  
Any correction or re-submission of proposals will not extend the submittal due date. 



Attachment 3

Request for Proposals
HEU 2021-2019

6

6. All responses to this RFP become property of the City and will be kept confidential until a 
recommendation for award of a contract has been announced.  Thereafter, submittals are 
subject to public inspection and disclosure under the California Public Records Act.  If a 
respondent believes that any portion of its submittal is exempt from public disclosure, it 
may mark that portion “confidential.”  The City will use reasonable means to ensure that 
such confidential information is safeguarded, but will not be held liable for inadvertent 
disclosure of the information.  Proposals marked confidential in their entirety will not be 
honored, and the City will not deny public disclosure of any portion of submittals so 
marked.  By submitting a proposal with portions marked “confidential” a respondent 
represents it has a good faith belief that such portions are exempt from disclosure under 
the California Public Records Act and agrees to reimburse the City for, and to indemnify, 
defend, and hold harmless the City, its officers, employees, and agents, from and against 
any and all claims, damages, losses, liabilities, suits, judgments, fines, penalties, costs, 
and expenses, including without limitation, attorneys’ fees, expenses, and court costs of 
any nature whatsoever, arising from or relating to the City’s non-disclosure of any such 
designated portions of a proposal.

7. The City, at its option, may interview bidders. The interviews will be for the purpose of 
clarifying the proposals.  Submittal of new proposal material at an interview will not be 
permitted.  Interviews may involve a presentation and/or a question-and-answer session.  

8. The City’s expectation of any consultant with which the City contracts holds  values that 
align with the City’s values of highly ethical conduct, fiscal responsibility, respect for the 
City and others, and excellent customer service delivery.

9. The City reserves the right to reject any and all proposals or to negotiate individually with 
one or more consultants, and to select one or more consultants if determined to be in the 
best interest of the City.  A proposal may be immediately rejected at any time if it arrives 
after the deadline, or is not in the prescribed format, or is not signed by an individual 
authorized to represent the firm.  No responsibility is assumed for delays caused by 
delivery service.  Postmarking by the due date will not substitute for actual receipt.  

10. The City also reserves the right to not enter into any agreement, cancel or amend the 
process at any time.

11. Proposals shall include a cost proposal that must list the fully-burdened hourly rates for 
each level of professional and administrative staff to be used to perform the tasks required 
by this RFP, and the length of time that the rates will be valid as well as anticipated percent 
increase to rates over the four-year contract period.  The City reserves the right to 
negotiate all terms and conditions of any agreements entered into. 



Attachment 3

Request for Proposals
HEU 2021-2019

7

12. The cost for developing the proposal is the responsibility of the bidder, and shall not be 
chargeable to the City. 

B. Schedule

This request for proposal will be governed by the following schedule: 

 Proposals due: March 27, 2020 at 5:00 pm PST
 Interview (if held): Week of April 6, 2020
 Award announcement: Week of April 13, 2020
 Approval of Contract: Week of April 20, 2020 

*All dates are subject to change at the discretion of the City.

C. Contents of Proposal 

Submitted proposals must follow the format outlined below and include all requested information.  
Failure to submit proposals in the required format can result in the elimination of the proposal 
from evaluation and consideration. 

Note: The contents of the proposal and/or other material submitted should reflect the “shortness” 
of the overall procurement schedule.   

1. Cover Letter (Section I) – Must include the name, address, and telephone number of the 
company, and must be signed by the person(s) authorized to represent the firm.  This 
section should include the Firm’s contact information, and any relevant information about 
the firm.

3. Summary (Section II) – State overall approach and scope of work proposed.  Try to keep 
your response to one (1) or two (2) pages.

4. Program Schedule (Section III) – Provide example timeframes for completing the 
assignment. The schedule should be realistic, while achieving project adoption by April 
2021.

5. Firm Organization (Section IV) – Provide a statement of your firm’s background and 
related experience in providing similar services to governmental organizations, if any.  
Describe the technical capabilities of the firm and, in particular, the firm’s exposure with 
working with environmental regulations, if any.  Provide references of other, similar 
projects including contact name, title, and telephone number for all references listed. 



Attachment 3

Request for Proposals
HEU 2021-2019

8

6. Project Organization (Section V) – Describe the proposed project management structure 
and project management team.  List all key personnel assigned to the project by level and 
name.  Provide a description of their background, along with a summary of their 
experience in providing similar services for governmental agencies, and any specialized 
expertise they may have.  

7. Cost Proposal (Section VI) – The rate schedule must list the fully-burdened hourly rates 
for each level of professional and administrative staff to be used to perform the tasks 
required by this RFP.  A not-to-exceed amount must be provided.

8. Conflict of Interest (Section VII) – Address possible conflicts of interest with other clients 
affected by consultants’ actions performed by the firm on behalf of the City.  

To eliminate and reduce paperwork and costs, it is preferable that all submittals be transmitted 
electronically in a manner described herein. 

SECTION VI – PROPOSAL EVALUATION 

A panel of City staff will evaluate all proposals.  Proposals will be evaluated on the following 
criteria:

Criteria Description Weight 

Expertise Technical expertise, size and structure 
of the firm and personnel assigned to 
RFP tasks; firm’s ability to perform and 
complete the work in a professional and 
timely manner. 

30% 

Skill Past experience of the firm and, in 
particular, experience of the team 
working on projects of similar scope for 
other governmental agencies. 

20% 

Approach Responsiveness of the proposal, based 
upon a clear understanding of the work 
to be performed. 

20% 

Public Participation Engagement activities and assignment 20%

Cost Cost or cost effectiveness 10%



Attachment 3

Request for Proposals
HEU 2021-2019

9

If two or more proposals receive the same number of points, the City will consider the fully-
burdened hourly rates. 

SECTION VII – SAMPLE CONTRACT 

A sample contract to carry out the work described in this RFP is provided as Attachment A. 



Attachment 4

Request for Proposals
Sector Feasibility Study

1

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 
FOR SECTOR FEASIBILITY 

STUDY

[date], 2020

The City of Escondido (“City”) is requesting proposals to prepare a residential sector feasibility 
study and pro-forma of different development types and densities.  The City must update its 
Housing Element as mandated by State law for the 2021-2029 planning cycle, and analyzing the 
financial/economic feasibility of different types and densities of residential development is a 
complementary component of that work effort.  See Request for Proposals (“RFP”) for more 
details.  The RFP documents may be obtained at the following link:

https://www.escondido.org/purchasing.aspx.

Proposals shall be submitted either in a sealed envelope (with the proposal on a CD, solid-state 
data storage device, or thumb/flash drive) or submitted by email (provide a file transfer if the 
attachments are greater than 9.5 MBs) plainly identifying the RFP and consultant’s name and 
address.  Proposals shall be delivered to the attention of Mike Strong, Assistant Planning 
Director, with the City of Escondido, Planning Division, 201 North Broadway, Escondido, 
CA 92078; or emailed to mstrong@escondido.org.  Proposals must be received by 5:00 pm 
PST on March 27, 2020, in order to be considered timely for the purpose of selecting a 
consultant to provide the requested services.    

Successful proposers will be asked to sign a Personal Services Contract (“Consulting 
Agreement”) with the City prior to being given notice to proceed.  A sample Consulting Agreement 
is attached as part of the RFP documents.  Proposers must evaluate this Consulting Agreement 
and agree with the terms and conditions contained therein unless written objections are included 
with their proposal.  The City will review the objections and content of any such objection in the 
proposal evaluation process.

For additional information regarding this RFP, please contact Mike Strong, at (760) 839-4556 or 
by email at mstrong@escondido.org.   



Attachment 4

Request for Proposals
Sector Feasibility Study

2

SECTION I – SUMMARY 

This Request for Proposals (“RFP”) solicits proposals from qualified consultants, firms, and/or a 
team comprised of different companies (“Consultant”) to provide professional services to analyze 
residential sector feasibility within Escondido (“City”).  The City is interested in understanding the 
impacts of direct and indirect costs on the market demand and availability of market-rate and 
affordable-rate housing opportunities.  The pro forma and nexus analysis of different development 
types and densities (and supporting materials provided as a deliverable) will enable the City to 
consider its various regulatory and non-regulatory approaches to accommodating the 
marketplace and how to treat programmed Housing Element implementation.  The City must 
update its Housing Element as mandated by State law for the 2021-2029 planning cycle, and the 
feasibility study of different types and densities of residential development is a complementary 
component of that work effort.  

To respond to this RFP, an interested party should submit one (1) electronic copy (in Adobe 
Acrobat PDF file format) of its proposal to:
 

Mike Strong, Assistant Planning Director
City of Escondido
201 North Broadway
mstrong@escondido.org

Proposals shall be submitted either in a sealed envelope (with the proposal on a CD, solid-state 
data storage device, or thumb/flash drive) or submitted by email (provide a file transfer if the 
attachments are greater than 9.5 MBs) plainly identifying the RFP and consultant’s name and 
address.  Proposals must be received by 5:00 pm PST on Friday, March 27, 2020.  Late 
proposals will not be considered.  Proposals must address all information requested in this 
RFP.  A proposal may add information not requested in this RFP, but the information should be 
in addition to, not instead of, the requested information and format. 

SECTION II – BACKGROUND 

The City of Escondido invites proposals from qualified consulting firms to help the City develop a 
strategic plan for revitalizing residential development opportunities in the community.  The 
consultant’s role on this task is to prepare a residential sector feasibility study.  As has been well 
reported, Southern California has been experiencing a severe housing shortage, characterized 
by a lack of available units, high demand, and the rising gap between income levels and housing 
costs.  The City must update its Housing Element as mandated by State law for the 2021-2029 
planning cycle.  A key part of this analysis will be to evaluate the effect, if any, that various 
regulatory and non-regulatory factors constrain housing development.  It is anticipated that the 
feasibility study of different types and densities of residential development is a complementary 
component of that work effort.  



Attachment 4

Request for Proposals
Sector Feasibility Study

3

The City is looking to gather adequate information and assess if, and to what degree, housing 
development is financially/economically feasible under rising construction, land, and regulatory 
costs.  This information would be extremely valuable to the City’s Economic Development 
Manager and Housing Manager for marketing purposes.  Estimating the costs to build the 
development, including all anticipated direct and indirect costs and how it will be financed, is 
important in understanding the context of how property owners, developers, and builders choose 
or don’t choose to develop.  Furthermore, the City does not currently have an inclusionary housing 
program.  Should the City decide to pursue an inclusionary program, one factor in determining 
the appropriate program is the cost to the developer of complying with the requirements.  To assist 
the City in understanding the cost associated with an onsite obligation, the consultant must 
estimate the compliance cost to the developer when units are sold/rented at affordable prices.  
This information will be utilized as part of the City’s Housing Element update to offer a useful 
context and/or nexus when considering potential onsite and fee obligations, should policy-makers 
provide that direction.

SECTION III – SCOPE OF WORK 

At a minimum, the consultant is expected to complete the following tasks:

1. Explore options for acceptable rent rates and home values through general market 
research and analysis of housing trends.

2. Recommendations of types of housing and densities that would best serve the study’s 
purpose, with considerations such as zoning, available sites in the land inventory, and 
multi-year projections.

3. Conduct a professional residential sector market analysis and pro forma of five (5) 
prototypes for rental and homeownership on site.  For each five (5) prototypes, perform 
on-site compliance cost analysis for an inclusionary housing program to facilitate an 
understanding about the potential constraints to program implementation for the five (5) 
prototypes.  Also perform 100% low-income affordable housing scenarios for the (5) 
prototypes, with opportunities for rental use on site.  Research and analysis must include 
the potential for partnerships and funding options.  (15 total pro-forma.)

4. Preparation of a draft and final report that documents input assumptions.  Said report must 
include a written synopsis or summary that can be easily extrapolated by the Economic 
Development Manager and Housing Manager for marketing purposes.

SECTION IV – BUDGET 

The City anticipates a consultant budget not-to-exceed $45,000 including reimbursables. 

In connection with the work covered by the Consulting Agreement the City may, at any time during 
the process of the work, order additional work or materials incidental thereto.  For example, if 



Attachment 4

Request for Proposals
Sector Feasibility Study

4

additional meetings or if additional responses to comments are necessary.  If any such work and 
materials are not listed as a pay item with a contract unit price or if compensation is not included 
under the terms of the Consulting Agreement, such work will be designated as Extra Work, and 
shall be performed by the consultant as directed.  In the event the completion of specific tasks 
identified in the Scope of Work significantly exceeds the hours originally budgeted for under the 
Scope of Work, the consultant, subject to prior written approval by the City, may bill for such 
additional time at the rate corresponding to the task(s) in question under a proposed rate 
schedule.

Please note that the consultant will not be allowed to perform work in excess of the described 
services in the Consulting Agreement without the prior, written approval of the City.  Before any 
Extra Work is initiated, the consultant shall identify the kind, cost, and estimated quantities of the 
Extra Work to be done.  Any increase or reallocation in compensation must be authorized and 
funded in advance.  No compensation for Extra Work or any other change in the contract will be 
allowed unless the Extra Work or change has been authorized in writing by the City, any 
necessary contract amendment is approved, and the compensation or method of determining 
such compensation is stated in such written authority.  All requests for Extra Work shall be in a 
written Change Order submitted to and approved by the City prior to the commencement of such 
work.

SECTION V – INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 

A. General 

1. All proposals must be made in accordance with the conditions of this RFP.  Failure to 
address any of the requirements may be grounds for rejection of this proposal. 

2. All information should be complete, specific, and as concise as possible.  Respondents 
are liable for all errors or omissions contained in their submittals. 

3. Proposals should include any additional information that the respondent deems pertinent 
to the understanding and evaluation of the bid. 

4. The City may modify the RFP or issue supplementary information or guidelines during the 
proposal preparation period prior to the due date. 

5. Proposals shall constitute firm offers.  Proposals may not be modified after the due date. 
All proposals shall constitute firm offers valid for ninety (90) days from the due date.  All 
proposals should be signed by an authorized representative of the bidder.  Once 
submitted, proposals may be withdrawn, modified and resubmitted up until the due date.  
Any correction or re-submission of proposals will not extend the submittal due date. 



Attachment 4

Request for Proposals
Sector Feasibility Study

5

6. All responses to this RFP become property of the City and will be kept confidential until a 
recommendation for award of a contract has been announced.  Thereafter, submittals are 
subject to public inspection and disclosure under the California Public Records Act.  If a 
respondent believes that any portion of its submittal is exempt from public disclosure, it 
may mark that portion “confidential.”  The City will use reasonable means to ensure that 
such confidential information is safeguarded, but will not be held liable for inadvertent 
disclosure of the information.  Proposals marked confidential in their entirety will not be 
honored, and the City will not deny public disclosure of any portion of submittals so 
marked.  By submitting a proposal with portions marked “confidential” a respondent 
represents it has a good faith belief that such portions are exempt from disclosure under 
the California Public Records Act and agrees to reimburse the City for, and to indemnify, 
defend, and hold harmless the City, its officers, employees, and agents, from and against 
any and all claims, damages, losses, liabilities, suits, judgments, fines, penalties, costs, 
and expenses, including without limitation, attorneys’ fees, expenses, and court costs of 
any nature whatsoever, arising from or relating to the City’s non-disclosure of any such 
designated portions of a proposal.

7. The City, at its option, may interview bidders. The interviews will be for the purpose of 
clarifying the proposals.  Submittal of new proposal material at an interview will not be 
permitted.  Interviews may involve a presentation and/or a question-and-answer session.  

8. The City’s expectation of any consultant with which the City contracts holds values that 
align with the City’s values of highly ethical conduct, fiscal responsibility, respect for the 
City and others, and excellent customer service delivery.

9. The City reserves the right to reject any and all proposals or to negotiate individually with 
one or more consultants, and to select one or more consultants if determined to be in the 
best interest of the City.  A proposal may be immediately rejected at any time if it arrives 
after the deadline, or is not in the prescribed format, or is not signed by an individual 
authorized to represent the firm.  No responsibility is assumed for delays caused by 
delivery service.  Postmarking by the due date will not substitute for actual receipt.  

10. The City also reserves the right to not enter into any agreement, cancel or amend the 
process at any time.

11. Proposals shall include a cost proposal that must list the fully-burdened hourly rates for 
each level of professional and administrative staff to be used to perform the tasks required 
by this RFP, and the length of time that the rates will be valid as well as anticipated percent 
increase to rates over the four-year contract period.  The City reserves the right to 
negotiate all terms and conditions of any agreements entered into. 



Attachment 4

Request for Proposals
Sector Feasibility Study

6

12. The cost for developing the proposal is the responsibility of the bidder, and shall not be 
chargeable to the City. 

B. Schedule

This request for proposal will be governed by the following schedule: 

 Proposals due: March 27, 2020 at 5:00 pm PST
 Interview (if held): Week of April 6, 2020
 Award announcement: Week of April 13, 2020
 Approval of Contract: Week of April 20, 2020 

*All dates are subject to change at the discretion of the City.

C. Contents of Proposal 

Submitted proposals must follow the format outlined below and include all requested information.  
Failure to submit proposals in the required format can result in the elimination of the proposal 
from evaluation and consideration. 

1. Cover Letter (Section I) – Must include the name, address, and telephone number of the 
company, and must be signed by the person(s) authorized to represent the firm.  

2. Summary (Section II) – State overall approach and scope of work proposed.

3. Project Organization (Section III) – Describe the proposed project management structure 
and project management team.  List all key personnel assigned to the project by level and 
name.  Provide a description of their background, along with a summary of their 
experience in providing similar services for governmental agencies, and any specialized 
expertise they may have.

4. Cost Proposal (Section IV) – The rate schedule must list the fully-burdened hourly rates 
for each level of professional and administrative staff to be used to perform the tasks 
required by this RFP.  A not-to-exceed amount must be provided.

5. Conflict of Interest (Section V) – Address possible conflicts of interest with other clients 
affected by consultants’ actions performed by the firm on behalf of the City.  

To eliminate and reduce paperwork and costs, it is preferable that all submittals be transmitted 
electronically in a manner described herein. 



Attachment 4

Request for Proposals
Sector Feasibility Study

7

SECTION VI – PROPOSAL EVALUATION 

A panel of City staff will evaluate all proposals.  Proposals will be evaluated on the following 
criteria:

Criteria Description Weight 

Expertise Technical expertise, size and structure 
of the firm and personnel assigned to 
RFP tasks; firm’s ability to perform and 
complete the work in a professional and 
timely manner. 

30% 

Skill Past experience of the firm and, in 
particular, experience of the team 
working on projects of similar scope for 
other governmental agencies. 

40% 

Approach Responsiveness of the proposal, based 
upon a clear understanding of the work 
to be performed. 

20% 

Public Participation Engagement activities and assignment 0%

Cost Cost or cost effectiveness 10%

If two or more proposals receive the same number of points, the City will consider the fully-
burdened hourly rates. 



Attachment 4

Request for Proposals
Sector Feasibility Study

8

SECTION VII – SAMPLE CONTRACT 

A sample contract to carry out the work described in this RFP is attached. 



Attachment 5

Request for Proposals
East Valley Specific Plan 

1

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 
FOR PREPARATION OF THE 

EAST VALLEY SPECIFIC PLAN

[date], 2020

The City of Escondido (“City”) is requesting proposals to support the development of a new 
specific plan for an approximate 150-acre portion of the East Valley Parkway Target Area.  
See Request for Proposals (“RFP”) for more details.  The RFP documents may be obtained at 
the following link:

https://www.escondido.org/purchasing.aspx.

Proposals shall be submitted either in a sealed envelope (with the proposal on a CD, solid-state 
data storage device, or thumb/flash drive) or submitted by email (provide a file transfer if the 
attachments are greater than 9.5 MBs) plainly identifying the RFP and consultant’s name and 
address.  Proposals shall be delivered to the attention of Mike Strong, Assistant Planning 
Director, with the City of Escondido, Planning Division, 201 North Broadway, Escondido, 
CA 92078; or emailed to mstrong@escondido.org.  Proposals must be received by 5:00 pm 
PST on March 27, 2020, in order to be considered timely for the purpose of selecting a 
consultant to provide the requested services.    

Responders to this solicitation should be concise – and keep it simple.  The contents of the 
proposal and/or other material submitted should reflect the “shortness” of the overall procurement 
schedule.   

Successful proposers will be asked to sign a Personal Services Contract (“Consulting 
Agreement”) with the City prior to being given notice to proceed.  A sample Consulting Agreement 
is attached as part of the RFP documents.  Proposers must evaluate this Consulting Agreement 
and agree with the terms and conditions contained therein unless written objections are included 
with their proposal.  The City will review the objections and content of any such objection in the 
proposal evaluation process.

For additional information regarding this RFP, please contact Mike Strong, at (760) 839-4556 or 
by email at mstrong@escondido.org.   



Attachment 5

Request for Proposals
East Valley Specific Plan 

2

SECTION I – SUMMARY 

This Request for Proposals (“RFP”) solicits proposals from qualified consultants, firms, and/or a 
team comprised of different companies (“Consultant”) to provide professional services to develop 
a specific plan to focus primarily on the construction of new housing opportunities and streamlined 
provisions in the East Valley Target Area.  

The project shall be guided by the following objectives:

 Comply with all state legal and regulatory requirements (Government Code Sections 
65450 – 65457).

 Produce a comprehensive document that addresses and implements the East Valley 
Parkway Target Area as described in the City’s General Plan.

 Ensure residents and stakeholders are engaged and participate to develop a unique 
vision, while achieving specific objectives for streamlining new housing.

 Achieve milestones with sufficient time for City oversight and review.
 Effectively coordinate with other consultants and City staff.

To respond to this RFP, an interested party should submit one (1) electronic copy (in Adobe 
Acrobat PDF file format) of its proposal to:
 

Mike Strong, Assistant Planning Director
City of Escondido
201 North Broadway
mstrong@escondido.org

Proposals shall be submitted either in a sealed envelope (with the proposal on a CD, solid-state 
data storage device, or thumb/flash drive) or submitted by email (provide a file transfer if the 
attachments are greater than 9.5 MBs) plainly identifying the RFP and consultant’s name and 
address.  Proposals must be received by 5:00 pm PST on Friday, March 27, 2020.  Late 
proposals will not be considered.  Proposals must address all information requested in this 
RFP.  A proposal may add information not requested in this RFP, but the information should be 
in addition to, not instead of, the requested information and format. 

SECTION II – BACKGROUND 

The City of Escondido invites proposals from qualified consulting firms that are able to engage 
our community leaders, residents, businesses, and other community members in a specific plan 
to implement a significant portion of the East Valley Parkway Target Area as described in the 
Land Use Element component of the City’s General Plan.  Pursuant to the General Plan, this area 
of the City may permit additional residential densities, with a minimum of 30 units per acre.  The 
purpose of the specific plan is to provide policy direction and guidance on how this area 



Attachment 5

Request for Proposals
East Valley Specific Plan 

3

(approximately 150 acres) would develop from underutilized residential and commercial land into 
a new neighborhood with a mix of residential, commercial, public, and open space uses.    

The Specific Plan would not only provide the general vision and broad policy concepts to guide 
development for a new residential neighborhood, but also provide the details on the type, location, 
and intensity of uses, define the capacity and design of needed public improvements and 
infrastructure, and determine the resources necessary to finance and implement the public 
improvements and infrastructure needed to support the vision for a new neighborhood. Three 
important and distinctive features of this Specific Plan that will need to be included are: 1) policies 
and implementation measures to ensure multi-modal connectivity and integration of this new 
neighborhood with the older, more established, residential neighborhoods; 2) establishment of 
transitional zones to separate the new neighborhood from existing commercial uses that will likely 
stay and not recycle in the foreseeable future; and 3) creation of objective design guidelines to 
streamline permitting.  It is intended that the Specific Plan set development policies, land use 
regulations, design standards, capital improvement program, and financing program, concisely 
within a single document.  It is anticipated that the overall work program would take twelve (12) 
months to complete. 

The City of Escondido 2012 Land Use Element document can be found on the City’s website 
(https://www.escondido.org/general-plan.aspx), and may be used as a foundation for 
understanding the City’s unique vision and needs of the target area, which will serve as a basis 
for the specific plan.

SECTION III – SCOPE OF WORK 

At a minimum, the consultant is expected to complete the following tasks:

1. Existing conditions report.  Build an existing conditions and opportunities map and report.  
The consultant will evaluate the existing physical and regulatory conditions in the project 
study area.  Information to be included:  existing land use, including the number of existing 
affordable and market rate dwelling units; physical conditions, including structures in poor 
or deteriorating condition; environmental conditions, including areas of known soil or 
groundwater contamination; urban form; pending and approved development projects; 
planned public and private improvement projects; circulation network; transit use; historic 
resources; market conditions and development potential.  

2. Issues and opportunities.  Based on analysis of existing conditions, opportunities in the 
plan area shall be identified, along with potential constraints. 

3. Vision and objectives development strategy.  Revisit the land use plan and policy 
framework of the existing plan to accommodate increased housing density along with 
other transit supportive uses and improvements.  This Strategy will identify policies and 
actions to meet future housing need, including potential zoning changes or incentives to 
address any obstacles to providing affordable housing.



Attachment 5

Request for Proposals
East Valley Specific Plan 

4

4. Develop a land use district plan that facilitates additional housing opportunities and 
streamlined permitting.

5. Development of urban design standards, which promote walkable and livable 
environments within the project area.

6. Conduct public outreach and facilitate meaningful public input.  The planning process for 
this effort must be built on broad public involvement, and on proven methods for finding 
common ground among diverse groups.  Not only is consensus building important for 
specific plan development, also it is critical to long-term implementation of the specific 
plan.
- The City has already identified some the engagement strategies envisioned to occur 

during the course of developing the East Valley Specific Plan. A draft Public 
Participation Plan is provided as an attachment to this RFP.  For this task, responders 
should provide a level of effort that assumes staff implementation of those activities 
listed in the attachment, with the consultant providing supplemental material board 
content and graphics, and technical and in-person assistance with implementation at 
public workshop and public hearings.  Many of the other responsibilities are assigned 
to City staff.  This should provide more resources to the consultant to enhance other 
project components and/or deliverables.  However, as part of this procurement, the 
consultant should identify additional outreach activities that may help broaden the 
reach of the project and add value or diversity to the engagement period(s).

7. Prepare a draft specific plan.  The preparation of the specific plan is expected to be an 
iterative process involving drafting and refinement of the document based on public input 
and comment.  Coordination of the specific plan effort with the Housing Element update 
effort is essential to ensure that additional sites are available and viable for residential 
redevelopment. 

8. Attend Planning Commission and City Council public hearings in March and April 2021 
(est.)

9. Finalize the specific plan, incorporating all comments and requested changes made 
through public hearing deliberations.

SECTION IV – BUDGET 

The City anticipates a consultant budget not-to-exceed $140,000 including reimbursables.   
Consultants need to provide a response that is under this budget and may to identify tasks that 
can be subsidized by staff time and/or resources. 

Payment for services will be based on an hourly rate (time) and materials, and a not-to-exceed 
amount.  The City will retain ten percent (10%) from the amounts invoiced until satisfactory 
completion of work and the final invoice has been processed.  A partial payment computed by 
multiplying the base fee by this percentage shall then become due and payable, provided 
however, that no more than ninety percent (90%) of the total fee will be paid during the 



Attachment 5

Request for Proposals
East Valley Specific Plan 

5

performance of the services.  The balance of said fee shall be payable upon completion of all 
duties under the Consultant Agreement.

In connection with the work covered by the Consulting Agreement the City may, at any time during 
the process of the work, order additional work or materials incidental thereto.  For example, if 
additional meetings or if additional responses to comments are necessary.  If any such work and 
materials are not listed as a pay item with a contract unit price or if compensation is not included 
under the terms of the Consulting Agreement, such work will be designated as Extra Work, and 
shall be performed by the consultant as directed.  In the event the completion of specific tasks 
identified in the Scope of Work significantly exceeds the hours originally budgeted for under the 
Scope of Work, the consultant, subject to prior written approval by the City, may bill for such 
additional time at the rate corresponding to the task(s) in question under a proposed rate 
schedule.

Please note that the consultant will not be allowed to perform work in excess of the described 
services in the Consulting Agreement without the prior, written approval of the City.  Before any 
Extra Work is initiated, the consultant shall identify the kind, cost, and estimated quantities of the 
Extra Work to be done.  Any increase or reallocation in compensation must be authorized and 
funded in advance.  No compensation for Extra Work or any other change in the contract will be 
allowed unless the Extra Work or change has been authorized in writing by the City, any 
necessary contract amendment is approved, and the compensation or method of determining 
such compensation is stated in such written authority.  All requests for Extra Work shall be in a 
written Change Order submitted to and approved by the City prior to the commencement of such 
work.

SECTION V – INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS 

A. General 

1. All proposals must be made in accordance with the conditions of this RFP.  Failure to 
address any of the requirements may be grounds for rejection of this proposal. 

2. All information should be complete, specific, and as concise as possible.  Respondents 
are liable for all errors or omissions contained in their submittals. 

3. Proposals should include any additional information that the respondent deems pertinent 
to the understanding and evaluation of the bid. 

4. The City may modify the RFP or issue supplementary information or guidelines during the 
proposal preparation period prior to the due date. 



Attachment 5

Request for Proposals
East Valley Specific Plan 

6

5. Proposals shall constitute firm offers.  Proposals may not be modified after the due date. 
All proposals shall constitute firm offers valid for ninety (90) days from the due date.  All 
proposals should be signed by an authorized representative of the bidder.  Once 
submitted, proposals may be withdrawn, modified and resubmitted up until the due date.  
Any correction or re-submission of proposals will not extend the submittal due date. 

6. All responses to this RFP become property of the City and will be kept confidential until a 
recommendation for award of a contract has been announced.  Thereafter, submittals are 
subject to public inspection and disclosure under the California Public Records Act.  If a 
respondent believes that any portion of its submittal is exempt from public disclosure, it 
may mark that portion “confidential.”  The City will use reasonable means to ensure that 
such confidential information is safeguarded, but will not be held liable for inadvertent 
disclosure of the information.  Proposals marked confidential in their entirety will not be 
honored, and the City will not deny public disclosure of any portion of submittals so 
marked.  By submitting a proposal with portions marked “confidential” a respondent 
represents it has a good faith belief that such portions are exempt from disclosure under 
the California Public Records Act and agrees to reimburse the City for, and to indemnify, 
defend, and hold harmless the City, its officers, employees, and agents, from and against 
any and all claims, damages, losses, liabilities, suits, judgments, fines, penalties, costs, 
and expenses, including without limitation, attorneys’ fees, expenses, and court costs of 
any nature whatsoever, arising from or relating to the City’s non-disclosure of any such 
designated portions of a proposal.

7. The City, at its option, may interview bidders. The interviews will be for the purpose of 
clarifying the proposals.  Submittal of new proposal material at an interview will not be 
permitted.  Interviews may involve a presentation and/or a question-and-answer session.  

8. The City’s expectation of any consultant with which the City contracts holds values that 
align with the City’s values of highly ethical conduct, fiscal responsibility, respect for the 
City and others, and excellent customer service delivery.

9. The City reserves the right to reject any and all proposals or to negotiate individually with 
one or more consultants, and to select one or more consultants if determined to be in the 
best interest of the City.  A proposal may be immediately rejected at any time if it arrives 
after the deadline, or is not in the prescribed format, or is not signed by an individual 
authorized to represent the firm.  No responsibility is assumed for delays caused by 
delivery service.  Postmarking by the due date will not substitute for actual receipt.  

10. The City also reserves the right to not enter into any agreement, cancel or amend the 
process at any time.



Attachment 5

Request for Proposals
East Valley Specific Plan 

7

11. Proposals shall include a cost proposal that must list the fully-burdened hourly rates for 
each level of professional and administrative staff to be used to perform the tasks required 
by this RFP, and the length of time that the rates will be valid as well as anticipated percent 
increase to rates over the four-year contract period.  The City reserves the right to 
negotiate all terms and conditions of any agreements entered into. 

12. The cost for developing the proposal is the responsibility of the bidder, and shall not be 
chargeable to the City. 

B. Schedule

This request for proposal will be governed by the following schedule: 

 Proposals due: March 27, 2020 at 5:00 pm PST
 Interview (if held): Week of April 6, 2020
 Award announcement: Week of April 13, 2020
 Approval of Contract: Week of April 20, 2020 

*All dates are subject to change at the discretion of the City.

C. Contents of Proposal 

Submitted proposals must follow the format outlined below and include all requested information.  
Failure to submit proposals in the required format can result in the elimination of the proposal 
from evaluation and consideration. 

Note: The contents of the proposal and/or other material submitted should reflect the “shortness” 
of the overall procurement schedule.   

1. Cover Letter (Section I) – Must include the name, address, and telephone number of the 
company, and must be signed by the person(s) authorized to represent the firm.  

3. Summary (Section II) – State overall approach and scope of work proposed.  Try to keep 
your response to one (1) or two (2) pages.

4. Program Schedule (Section III) – Provide example timeframes for completing the 
assignment.  The schedule should be realistic, while achieving project adoption by April 
2021.

5. Firm Organization (Section IV) – Provide a statement of your firm’s background and 
related experience in providing similar services to governmental organizations, if any.  
Describe the technical capabilities of the firm and, in particular, the firm’s exposure with 



Attachment 5

Request for Proposals
East Valley Specific Plan 

8

working with environmental regulations, if any.  Provide references of other, similar 
projects including contact name, title, and telephone number for all references listed. 

6. Project Organization (Section V) – Describe the proposed project management structure 
and project management team.  List all key personnel assigned to the project by level and 
name.  Provide a description of their background, along with a summary of their 
experience in providing similar services for governmental agencies, and any specialized 
expertise they may have.

7. Cost Proposal (Section VI) – The rate schedule must list the fully-burdened hourly rates 
for each level of professional and administrative staff to be used to perform the tasks 
required by this RFP.  A not-to-exceed amount must be provided.

8. Conflict of Interest (Section VII) – Address possible conflicts of interest with other clients 
affected by consultants’ actions performed by the firm on behalf of the City.  

To eliminate and reduce paperwork and costs, it is preferable that all submittals be transmitted 
electronically in a manner described herein. 
SECTION VI – PROPOSAL EVALUATION 

A panel of City staff will evaluate all proposals.  Proposals will be evaluated on the following 
criteria:

Criteria Description Weight 

Expertise Technical expertise, size and structure 
of the firm and personnel assigned to 
RFP tasks; firm’s ability to perform and 
complete the work in a professional and 
timely manner. 

30% 

Skill Past experience of the firm and, in 
particular, experience of the team 
working on projects of similar scope for 
other governmental agencies. 

20% 

Approach Responsiveness of the proposal, based 
upon a clear understanding of the work 
to be performed. 

20% 

Public Participation Engagement activities and assignment 20%



Attachment 5

Request for Proposals
East Valley Specific Plan 

9

Cost Cost or cost effectiveness 10%

If two or more proposals receive the same number of points, the City will consider the fully-
burdened hourly rates. 

SECTION VII – SAMPLE CONTRACT 

A sample contract to carry out the work described in this RFP is provided as Attachment A. 

SECTION VIII – DRAFT PUBLIC PARTICIPATION PLAN

The anticipated outreach engagement activities are listed in the Draft Public Participation Plan, 
provided as Attachment B.



ATTACHMENT 6



Staff Report - Council

  Current Business Item No. 13 March 4, 2020 File No. 0650-10

SUBJECT: Review of Upcoming City Council Redistricting Process

DEPARTMENT: City Clerk

RECOMMENDATION:

It is requested that the City Council receive and file the overview of the City Council Redistricting 
process that will take place following the 2020 Census.

FISCAL ANALYSIS: 

Within sixty (60) days after members of the Independent Districting Commission are appointed, the 
Commission shall adopt a budget and submit it to the City Council. The City Council shall appropriate 
to the Commission and to the City Clerk the funds necessary for the Commission to accomplish its 
task, including paying for an expert consultant.

PREVIOUS ACTION: 

In 2013 the City of Escondido formed an Independent Districting Commission which was vested with 
authority to develop an initial district-based plan for future City Council elections.  It was composed of 
seven members, appointed by a Selection Panel of three retired judges residing in San Diego 
County.   

The Consent Decree (See Attachment 1) entered in San Diego Superior Court Case No. 37-2011-
00060480 established the guidelines and criteria for districting of the City of Escondido. Pursuant to 
the Consent Decree, the Selection Panel appointed Commission members who provided racial, 
geographic, social and ethnic diversity; had a high degree of competency to carry out the 
responsibilities of the Commission; and a demonstrated capacity to serve with impartiality.

With the assistance of an expert consultant, the Commission adopted plans that divided the City into 
four Council districts. The City Council approved the district boundaries on December 4, 2013, (See 
Attachment 2), and by Ordinance No. 2013-17 (See Attachment 3) to be used in the 2014, 2016, 
2018, and 2020 General Elections.

BACKGROUND:

Elections for the City’s four City Council members are conducted under a district-based method in 
which the four City Council members are elected from four districts and the Mayor is elected at-large.

Pursuant to the Consent Decree dated April 19, 2013, the City shall be redistricted at least once 
every ten years, but no later than 120 days before the next City Council election after the national 



Review of Upcoming City Council Redistricting Process 
March 4, 2020
Page 2

decennial census is released. If the next City Council election is within 180 days of the day the 
national decennial census data is released, redistricting shall be completed no later than 120 days 
before the following Council election. 

The City shall establish a seven-member Independent Districting Commission “Commission”, which 
shall be vested with authority to develop an initial district-based plan for future City Council elections. 
To establish a truly independent districting or redistricting commission, the selection process must be 
free of political influence and must be reasonably representative of the City’s diversity. Members of 
the Commission shall be appointed by a panel of three retired judges residing in San Diego County 
“Selection Panel”.

The Independent Districting Commission shall adhere to the procedural and substantive 
requirements set forth in the Consent Decree in developing and adopting future redistricting plans. 
Each redistricting plan shall provide fair and effective representation for all citizens of the City, 
including racial, ethnic, and language minorities, and shall be in conformance with the requirements 
of the United States and California Constitutions, and with federal and state statutes. 

The district boundaries shall comply with the United States Constitution, including containing 
reasonably equal population; shall comply with the federal Voting Rights Act; shall be geographically 
contiguous and drawn to encourage geographic compactness; shall be drawn with respect for 
geographic integrity of any neighborhood and any community of interest, including racial, ethnic, and 
language minorities; and  shall not be drawn for the purpose of favoring or discriminating against an 
incumbent, political candidate, or political party.

The Commission's decisions will be governed by federal and state legal requirements as well as 
criteria specific to Escondido. The United States Constitution requires districts contain roughly equal 
population and it and the federal Voting Rights Act (“VRA”) prohibit racial discrimination. The federal 
VRA also prohibits discrimination because of language minority status, in addition to practices that 
have a discriminatory effect, such as at-large elections or districts that make it harder for a racial or 
language minority group to elect a representative of choice.

Escondido's decisions will also be governed by specific criteria resulting from the consent decree in 
a California VRA case. In ranked order, the Commission must address the following criteria:

 All districts comply with the United States Constitution. This includes that each district 
contains about the same number of people.

 All districts comply with the federal Voting Rights Act. This could mean drawing one or more 
majority-minority districts, if it is possible to do so.

 All districts must be contiguous and encourage compactness.

The timeline for how redistricting will take place in Escondido following the 2020 decennial census is 
as follows:



Review of Upcoming City Council Redistricting Process 
March 4, 2020
Page 3

1. On or before September 1, 2020 

The City Manager will compile a list of retired judges willing to serve on the Districting 
Selection Panel and residing in San Diego County. The three members on the Selection 
Panel will be chosen from that list. The names shall be drawn by the City Manager in the 
fashion described in California Penal Code sections 900(a) and 902. The members of the 
Selection Panel shall be chosen by September 1 of every year in which a national decennial 
census is taken.

The City Clerk will solicit nominations for appointment to the Districting Commission by 
September 1 of every year in which a national decennial census is taken. Individuals or 
organizations desiring to nominate persons for appointment shall do so in writing to the City 
Clerk within the nominating period.

The City Clerk shall remove from the pool any individual who is not a qualified elector in the 
City of Escondido or who, within ten years preceding the date of application:

 Was a candidate for local, federal, or California state office.
 Was a paid employee or paid consultant of the campaign for a California political 

candidate or for a California political committee as defined by federal or state law.
 Was an official or paid employee of any California political party organization.
 Made monetary contributions to California political campaigns or political parties that 

exceed a total of $5,000 during a two-year period, which amount shall be adjusted 
consistent with the consumer price index in future years. 

 Is currently a candidate for local, federal, or California state office.

The City Clerk will transmit the names and information regarding all remaining nominees with 
the names of corresponding nominating individuals and organizations to the Selection Panel 
immediately upon the close of nominations.

2. On or before December 1, 2020 

The Selection Panel shall appoint seven (7) individuals to serve as members of the 
Commission no later than December 1 of every year in which a national decennial census is 
taken.

Persons who accept appointment to the Commission shall, at the time of their appointment, 
file a written declaration with the Clerk stating that within five (5) years of the Commission’s 
adoption of a final districting or redistricting plan, they will not seek election to a City of 
Escondido or Escondido Unified School District public office. 



Review of Upcoming City Council Redistricting Process 
March 4, 2020
Page 4

3. On or before January 30, 2021

Within sixty (60) days after the members of the Commission are appointed, the Commission 
shall adopt a budget and submit it to the City Council. The City Council shall appropriate to 
the Commission and to the City Clerk the funds necessary for the Commission to accomplish 
its task, including paying for an expert consultant.

Once constituted, the Commission shall retain an expert consultant familiar with the 
requirements of the California Voting Rights Act and federal Voting Rights Act, census data 
and its use in redistricting, public engagement in redistricting, and drawing voting districts.

4. On or before April 30, 2021

The Commission shall conduct an open and transparent process that ensures full and 
meaningful public consideration of and comment on the drawing of district lines.

The Commission shall provide public notice of and hold a minimum of six (6) public hearings 
at which all Escondido citizens will have equal opportunity to comment on the drawing of 
district lines.

The public hearings shall be held at six (6) geographically diverse locations throughout 
Escondido. The Commission shall make every reasonable effect to afford maximum public 
access to its proceedings. 

In particular, the Commission shall fix the times and locations of the hearings so as to assure 
accessibility to Escondido’s Latino and other ethnic communities, including Escondido’s 
Chinese, Vietnamese and Filipino communities.

Notice of each of the public hearings shall be provided in English, Spanish, Chinese, 
Vietnamese, and Filipino. 

Spanish, Chinese, Vietnamese, and Filipino translation services shall be provided at each of 
the public hearings.

After having heard comments from the public, and no later than 150 days after the 
Commission’s members are appointed, the Commission shall, in consultation with the expert 
consultant, prepare a preliminary districting plan dividing the City into four (4) Council districts. 

If adopted by the City, those districts shall be used for all future elections of City Council 
members, including their recall, and for filling any vacancy in the office of member of the 



Review of Upcoming City Council Redistricting Process 
March 4, 2020
Page 5

Council until new districts are established. The Commission shall draw proposed district 
boundary lines of the City pursuant to the criteria set forth in the following order or priority:

 Districts shall comply with the United States Constitution, including containing 
reasonably equal population.

 Districts shall comply with the federal Voting Rights Act.
 Districts shall be geographically contiguous and drawn to encourage geographic 

compactness.
 Districts shall be drawn with respect for geographic integrity of any neighborhood and 

any community of interest, including racial, ethnic, and language minorities, to the 
extent possible without violating the requirements of any of the preceding provisions. 
Communities of interest shall not include relationships with political parties, 
incumbents, or political candidates.

 The place of residence of any incumbent or political candidate shall not be considered 
in the drawing of district boundaries. Districts shall not be drawn for the purpose of 
favoring or discriminating against an incumbent, political candidate or political party.

The Commission shall file its designated preliminary districting plan with the City Clerk, along 
with a report outlining the bases on which its decisions were made as to district boundaries 
and explaining its compliance with the criteria outlined in Subsection IX.E of the Consent 
Decree, including any definitions of any terms or standards used in drawing its draft plan. The 
preliminary plan and accompanying report shall be made publicly available.

5. On or before May 30, 2021

During the thirty (30) day period after filing the designated preliminary districting plan with the 
City Clerk, the Commission shall hold at least three (3) public hearings in various geographic 
areas of the City before it makes any modifications. Notice of public hearings shall be 
provided in both English and Spanish, and the public hearings shall be conducted in both 
English and Spanish.

6. On or before June 9, 2021

After having heard comments from the public on the preliminary plan, and no later than forty 
(40) days after filing the preliminary districting plan with the City Clerk, the Commission shall, 
in consultation with the expert consultant, approve a Recommended Districting Plan by 
majority vote. The approved Recommended Districting Plan will be submitted to the City 
Council for its up or down approval.



Review of Upcoming City Council Redistricting Process 
March 4, 2020
Page 6

7. On or before July 19, 2021

The City Council shall hold at least one (1) public hearing on the Recommended Districting 
Plan of the Commission before any adoption of a Final Districting Plan. No later than forty (40) 
days after submission of the Recommended Districting Plan to the City Council, the City 
Council shall either approve or disapprove the Recommended Districting Plan in its entirety. 

If the Council approves the Recommended Districting Plan, it shall become the Final 
Districting Plan and shall be implemented. If the Council disapproves the Recommended 
Districting Plan the Council shall submit in writing to the Commission, the reasons for such 
disapproval. The Commission shall consider any reasons for disapproval submitted to it by the 
Council and shall consider whether to make alterations to the Recommended Districting Plan 
in response to such reasons. Within forty (40) days of the City Council’s submission of its 
reasons for disapproval, the Commission shall submit the same or an altered Recommended 
Districting Plan to the City Council for approval.

CONCLUSION:

The City will conduct a comprehensive redistricting process following the 2020 decennial census by 
establishing a seven-member Independent Districting Commission. The Commission shall be vested 
with authority to develop a district-based plan for future City Council elections. Members of the 
Commission shall be appointed by a panel of three retired judges residing in San Diego County.

The Independent Districting Commission will hold multiple public hearings at geographically diverse 
locations throughout the City of Escondido in order to engage the public in the redistricting process. 

The objective of the Independent Districting Commission is to develop a districting plan that complies 
with the United States Constitution, the federal Voting Rights Act, the California Voting Rights Act, 
and the Consent Decree as described in more detail above.

APPROVED AND ACKNOWLEDGED ELECTRONICALLY BY:

Zack Beck, City Clerk
2/26/20 4:41 p.m.

ATTACHMENTS:

1. Attachment 1 - Consent Decree (San Diego Superior Court Case No. 37-2011-00060480)
2. Attachment 2 - City Council Meeting Minutes, December 4, 2013
3. Attachment 3 - Ordinance No. 2013-17



ATTACHMENT 1



ATTACHMENT 1



ATTACHMENT 1



ATTACHMENT 1



ATTACHMENT 1



ATTACHMENT 1



ATTACHMENT 1



ATTACHMENT 1



ATTACHMENT 1



ATTACHMENT 1



ATTACHMENT 1



ATTACHMENT 1



ATTACHMENT 1



ATTACHMENT 1



ATTACHMENT 1



ATTACHMENT 1



ATTACHMENT 1



ATTACHMENT 1



ATTACHMENT 1



ATTACHMENT 1



ATTACHMENT 1



ATTACHMENT 1



ATTACHMENT 1



ATTACHMENT 1



ATTACHMENT 1



December 4, 2013 Escondido City Council Minutes Book 54 Page 444 

CITY OF ESCONDIDO 

December 4, 2013 
3:30 P.M. Meeting Minutes 

Escondido City Council 

CALL TO ORDER 

The Regular Meeting of the Escondido City Council was called to order at 3:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 
December 4, 2013 in the Council Chambers at City Hall with Mayor Abed presiding. 

ATTENDANCE 

The following members were present: Deputy Mayor Olga Diaz, Councilmember Ed Gallo, 
Councilmember John Masson, Councilmember Michael Morasco, and Mayor Sam Abed.  Quorum present. 

ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 

CLOSED SESSION:  (COUNCIL/SUCCESSOR AGENCY/RRB) 

MOTION:  Moved by Councilmember Diaz and seconded by Councilmember Masson to recess to Closed 

Session.  Motion carried unanimously. 

I. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL--EXISTING LITIGATION (Government Code

54956.9(d)(1)) 

a. Case Name: Palomar Community College District V. City Of Escondido, Et Al. 
Case No: 37-2013-00031457-CU-BC-NC

b. Case Name: City of Escondido, et al. v. Ana J. Matosantos, et al. Sacramento

County Superior Court Case
Case No: 34-2013-00140530

c. Case Name: Gonzalez v. Juan Alva, et al.

Case No: 11-CV-2846-W (WVG)

ATTACHMENT 2



December 4, 2013 Escondido City Council Minutes Book 54 Page 445 

ADJOURNMENT 

Mayor Abed adjourned the meeting at 4:15 p.m. 

_______________________________ _______________________________ 

MAYOR  CITY CLERK 

______________________________________ 

MINUTES CLERK 

ATTACHMENT 2



December 4, 2013 Escondido City Council Minutes Book 54 Page 446 

 

CITY OF ESCONDIDO 

December 4, 2013 
4:30 P.M. Meeting Minutes 

 

Escondido City Council 

CALL TO ORDER 

 

The Regular Meeting of the Escondido City Council was called to order at 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 
December 4, 2013 in the Council Chambers at City Hall with Mayor Abed presiding. 

 

MOMENT OF REFLECTION 
 

FLAG SALUTE 
 

Mayor Abed led the flag salute. 
 

ATTENDANCE 

 
The following members were present:  Deputy Mayor Olga Diaz, Councilmember Ed Gallo, 

Councilmember John Masson, Councilmember Michael Morasco, and Mayor Sam Abed.  Quorum present. 
 

Also present were:  Clay Phillips, City Manager; Jeffrey Epp, City Attorney; Barbara Redlitz, Community 

Development Director; Ed Domingue, Public Works Director; Diane Halverson, City Clerk; and Liane Uhl, 
Minutes Clerk. 

 
PRESENTATIONS 

 

Mayor Abed introduced Community Services Chair of the Escondido Rotary Club, Gloria Tecca, who 
presented the Rotary Club of Escondido Community Grant Award to Library Staff:  Loretta McKinney, 

Cynthia Smith and Cindi Bouvier. 
 

PROCLAMATIONS 
 

Mayor Abed introduced Tony Smock, Lakes & Open Space Superintendent who accepted a proclamation 

for his retirement after 20 years with the City of Escondido.  
 

ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 

 

None 
 

 
 

 

ATTACHMENT 2



December 4, 2013 Escondido City Council Minutes Book 54 Page 447 

 

CONSENT CALENDAR 

 

Councilmember Diaz removed item 9 and Councilmember Gallo removed item 5 from the Consent 
Calendar for discussion. 

 

MOTION:  Moved by Councilmember Morasco and seconded by Councilmember Diaz that the following 
Consent Calendar items be approved with the exception of items 9 and 5.  Motion carried unanimously. 

1. AFFIDAVITS OF PUBLICATION, MAILING AND POSTING (COUNCIL/SUCCESSOR 

AGENCY/RRB) 
2. APPROVAL OF WARRANT REGISTER (Council/Successor Agency ) 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES: Regular Minutes of November 6, 2013  

4. FIREFIGHTERS' ASSOCIATION BARGAINING UNIT CONTRACT - Request Council approve 
a successor Firefighters' Association Safety and Non-Safety Bargaining Unit Contract.  (File No. 

0740-38) 

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Human Resources Department: Sheryl Bennett)  

RESOLUTION NO. 2013-155 
 

5. REVISED CITY OF ESCONDIDO PERSONNEL RULES AND REGULATIONS - Request 

Council approve adopting City of Escondido Personnel Rules and Regulations.  (File No. 0700-80) 

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Human Resources: Sheryl Bennett)  

RESOLUTION NO. 2013-149 

 

Councilmember Gallo asked if military veterans’ equal employment opportunity was included in the 

revised rules. 
 

Jennifer McCain, Assistant City Attorney, indicated they were included. 
 

MOTION:  Moved by Councilmember Gallo and seconded by Councilmember Masson to approve 
adopting City of Escondido Personnel Rules and Regulations and adopt Resolution No. 2013-19.  Motion 

carried unanimously. 

 

6. LIBRARY BUDGET ADJUSTMENT: ADULT LITERACY SERVICES PROGRAM - Request 

Council approve a budget adjustment in the amount of $27,811 received from the California 

State Library Literacy Grant to the Library’s 2013-14 Fiscal Year Operating Budget to fund the 
Adult Literacy Project Account.  (File No. 0430-80) 

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Library and Community Services: Loretta McKinney) 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

ATTACHMENT 2



December 4, 2013 Escondido City Council Minutes Book 54 Page 448 

 

7. APPROVAL OF MICROSOFT LICENSING ENTERPRISE AGREEMENT - Request Council 

authorize the Director of Information Systems to enter into a three year agreement with 
CompuCom Systems Inc. to provide Microsoft Software Assurance via a Microsoft Licensing 

Enterprise Agreement.  (File No. 0600-10 Misc.) 

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Information Systems Department: Mark Becker)  

RESOLUTION NO. 2013-163  

8. BID AWARD for the CORROSION CONTROL SYSTEM FOR THE ESCONDIDO SEWER 

OUTFALL - Request Council authorize the Mayor and City Clerk to execute an agreement with 

American Construction & Supply, Inc. in the amount of $230,335 for the Corrosion Control 
System for the Escondido Sewer Outfall.  (File No. 0600-10 [A-3100]) 

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Utilities Department: Christopher McKinney) 

RESOLUTION NO. 2013-161  

9. DESIGNATION OF ENFORCEMENT AUTHORITY FOR THE ESCONDIDO CAMPAIGN 

CONTROL ORDINANCE - Request Council approve designating George Eiser III, Esq. and the 
law firm of Meyers Nave as the enforcement authority for the Escondido Campaign Control 

Ordinance for the 2014 Municipal Election, as required by the Escondido Municipal Code Section 
2-115.5(c).  (File No. 0680-10) 

Staff Recommendation: Approval (City Attorney's Office: Jeffrey Epp) 

RESOLUTION NO. 2013-143  

 
Councilmember Diaz asked what the hourly rate and retainer were. 

 

Jeffrey Epp, City Attorney, indicated it was difficult to estimate cost, but the hourly rate was set out in 
the retainer agreement.  He also indicated the City would only utilize the law firm if there were problems. 

 
MOTION:  Moved by Councilmember Diaz and seconded by Councilmember Morasco to approve 

designating George Eiser III, Esq. and the law firm of Meyers Nave as the enforcement authority for the 
Escondido Campaign Control Ordinance for the 2014 Municipal Election, as required by the Escondido 

Municipal Code Section 2-115.5(c) and adopt Resolution No. 2013-143.  Motion carried unanimously. 

10. AMENDMENT TO CONTRACT WITH ESCONDIDO DISPOSAL (EDI) FOR ANNUAL 

CONSUMER PRICE INDEX (CPI) INCREASE TO SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLING RATES 
AND FEES FOR RESIDENTIAL COLLECTIONS - Request Council approve revising the rates 

for Residential Solid Waste and Recycling Services effective January 1, 2014, a 0.9032 percent 
increase would apply to all residential collection services.  (File No. 0600-10 [A-2340]) 

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Public Works/Recycling: Ed Domingue) 

RESOLUTION NO. 2013-165  

 
 

 

 
 

 

ATTACHMENT 2



December 4, 2013 Escondido City Council Minutes Book 54 Page 449 

 

CONSENT – RESOLUTIONS AND ORDINANCES (COUNCIL/SUCCESSOR 

AGENCY/RRB) 

The following Resolutions and Ordinances were heard and acted upon by the City Council/Successor 

Agency/RRB at a previous City Council/Successor Agency/Mobilehome Rent Review meeting.  (The title of 
Ordinances listed on the Consent Calendar are deemed to have been read and further reading waived.) 

11. CLARIFICATION OF ZONING CODE AMENDMENT TO REGULATE COTTAGE FOOD 

OPERATIONS (AZ 13-0004) - This item was approved on November 20, 2013 with a vote of 

5/0.  (File No. 0810-20) 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-07(RR) (Adoption and Second Reading) 

 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 
12. CONDUCT PUBLIC HEARING AND ADOPT VOTING DISTRICTS AS RECOMMENDED BY 

THE INDEPENDENT DISTRICTING COMMISSION - Pursuant to the Consent Decree in 
Gomez v. City of Escondido [Case No. 37-2011-00060480], the Independent Districting 

Commission has completed its work and presents proposed districts for the four City Council 

positions.  (File No. 0680-10) 
 

Staff Recommendation: Approval (City Attorney's Office: Jeffrey Epp and City Clerk's Office: 

 Diane Halverson)  

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-17 (Introduction and First Reading) 

 

Mayor Abed opened the public hearing and asked if anyone would like to speak on this issue in any way. 
 

Dana Nuesca, Independent Districting Commission Chair, gave an overview of the process of how 
the district boundary lines were drawn. 

 

Pat Mues, Escondido, urged Council to adopt this districting map. 
 

Robroy Fawcett, Escondido, stated he did not agree with the information from the company compiling 
the data for the district map. 

 
Mayor Abed asked if anyone else wanted to speak on this issue in any way.  No one asked to be heard.  

Therefore, he closed the public hearing. 

 
MOTION:  Moved by Councilmember Diaz and seconded by Councilmember Gallo to approve the 

proposed districts for the four City Council positions and introduce Ordinance No. 2013-17.  Motion 
carried unanimously. 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

ATTACHMENT 2



December 4, 2013 Escondido City Council Minutes Book 54 Page 450 

 

13. ADOPTION OF THE 2013 CALIFORNIA FIRE CODE, MOST CURRENT VERSION OF 

COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO CONSOLIDATED FIRE CODE AND LOCAL AMENDMENTS - 
Request Council approve modifying the City of Escondido Municipal Code to reflect the 2013 

California Fire Code (CFC), the most current version of the County of San Diego Consolidated Fire 
Code and proposed local amendments.  (File No. 0680-50) 

 

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Fire Department: Herb Griffin)  
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-13 (Introduction and First Reading) 
 

Mike Lowry, Fire Chief, and Herb Griffin, Fire Division Chief, gave the staff report and presented a series 
of slides. 

 

Mayor Abed opened the public hearing and asked if anyone would like to speak on this issue in any way. 
  No one asked to be heard.  Therefore, he closed the public hearing. 

 
MOTION:  Moved by Councilmember Morasco and seconded by Councilmember Diaz to approve 

modifying the City of Escondido Municipal Code to reflect the 2013 California Fire Code (CFC), the most 

current version of the County of San Diego Consolidated Fire Code and proposed local amendments and 
introduce Ordinance No. 2013-13.  Motion carried unanimously. 

 

14. ADOPTION OF THE 2013 CALIFORNIA BUILDING, RESIDENTIAL, PLUMBING, 

ELECTRICAL, MECHANICAL AND GREEN BUILDING STANDARDS CODES AND LOCAL 

AMENDMENTS - Request Council approve modifying the City of Escondido Municipal Code to 
reflect the 2013 California Building, Residential, Plumbing, Electrical, Mechanical and Green 

Building Standards Codes and proposed local amendments.  (File No. 0680-50) 

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Director of Community Development/Planning: 
Barbara Redlitz)  

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-11 (Introduction and First Reading)  

 

Tim Draper, Building Official, gave the staff report and presented a series of slides. 
 

Mayor Abed opened the public hearing and asked if anyone would like to speak on this issue in any way.  
No one asked to be heard.  Therefore, he closed the public hearing. 

 

MOTION:  Moved by Councilmember Diaz and seconded by Councilmember Masson to approve 
modifying the City of Escondido Municipal Code to reflect the 2013 California Building, Residential, 

Plumbing, Electrical, Mechanical and Green Building Standards Codes and proposed local amendments 
and Introduce Ordinance No. 2013-11.  Motion carried unanimously. 

 

15. ZONING CODE AMENDMENT (ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY REGULATIONS) AND 

CLIMATE ACTION PLAN (CASE NOS. AZ 13-0003 AND PHG 09-0020) - Request Council 

approve amendments to Article 47 “Environmental Quality Regulations” (EQR) and the 

Environmental Determination (Notice of Exemption); and approve the Escondido Climate Action 
Plan (E-CAP) and proposed CEQA Screening Tables as well as the previously certified EIR and 

associated CEQA findings of Significant Effect, Statement of Overriding Considerations and 
Mitigation Monitoring Program.  (File No. 0810-20) 

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Community Development/Planning: Barbara Redlitz)  

 

ATTACHMENT 2



December 4, 2013 Escondido City Council Minutes Book 54 Page 451 

 

a. ORDINANCE NO. 2013-12 (Introduction and First Reading)  

b. RESOLUTION NO. 2013-153   
 

Jay Petrek, Planning Department, gave the staff report and presented a series of slides. 
 

Mayor Abed opened the public hearing and asked if anyone would like to speak on this issue in any way. 

 
Dave Ferguson, Attorney, urged Council to adopt the Zoning Code Amendment and Climate Action 

Plan. 
 

Mayor Abed asked if anyone else wanted to speak on this issue in any way.  No one asked to be heard.  
Therefore, he closed the public hearing. 

 

MOTION:  Moved by Councilmember Diaz and seconded by Councilmember Morasco to approve 
amendments to Article 47 “Environmental Quality Regulations” (EQR) and the Environmental 

Determination (Notice of Exemption); and approve the Escondido Climate Action Plan (E-CAP) and 
proposed CEQA Screening Tables as well as the previously certified EIR and associated CEQA findings of 

Significant Effect, Statement of Overriding Considerations and Mitigation Monitoring Program, adopt 

Resolution No. 2013-153 and introduce Ordinance No. 2013-12.  Motion carried unanimously. 

16. PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT FOR TRACT 894 (PHG 13-0027) - Request 

Council approve a Development Agreement with a five-year term to authorize construction of the 

previously approved 11-lot residential subdivision within the North Broadway Deficiency Area.  
(File No. 0800-10 Tract 894) 

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Community Development/Planning: Barbara Redlitz)  

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-14R (Introduction and First Reading) 

 
Bill Martin, Planning Department, and Julie Procopio, Public Works Assistant Director, gave the staff 

report and presented a series of slides. 
 

Mayor Abed opened the public hearing and asked if anyone would like to speak on this issue in any way. 

 
Dave Ferguson, Attorney, urged Council to reduce the applicant’s deficiency fee to $12,000 per unit. 

 
Margaret Liles, Escondido, stated she did not agree with the proposed fee reduction. 

 

Delphine Lloyd, Escondido, urged Council to study the neighborhood more fully. 
 

Mayor Abed asked if anyone else wanted to speak on this issue in any way.  No one asked to be heard.  
Therefore, he closed the public hearing. 

 
MOTION:  Moved by Councilmember Morasco and seconded by Mayor Abed to approve a Development 

Agreement with a five-year term to authorize construction of the previously approved 11-lot residential 

subdivision within the North Broadway Deficiency Area, adopting a $12,500 per unit deficiency fee and 
introducing Ordinance No. 2013-14R.  Ayes:  Abed, Gallo, Masson and Morasco.  Noes:  Diaz.  Absent:  

None.  Motion carried. 

17. PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT AND FINDING OF SUBSTANTIAL 

CONFORMANCE FOR TRACT 889 (PHG 13-0028) - Request Council approve a Development 

Agreement with a five-year term to authorize construction of the previously approved 16-lot, TR 
889 residential subdivision within the North Broadway Deficiency Area.  (File No. 0800-10 Tract 

889) 

ATTACHMENT 2



December 4, 2013 Escondido City Council Minutes Book 54 Page 452 

 

Staff Recommendation: Approval (Community Development/Planning: Barbara Redlitz) 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-15R (Introduction and First Reading)  

 
Bill Martin, Planning Department, gave the staff report and presented a series of slides. 

 
Mayor Abed opened the public hearing and asked if anyone would like to speak on this issue in any way. 

 
Dave Ferguson, Attorney, urged Council to approve the proposed development agreement. 

 

Margaret Liles, Escondido, stated she did not agree with the proposed fee reduction. 
 

John Lloyd, Escondido, asked if sewer systems would be included in the project. 
 

Mayor Abed asked if anyone else wanted to speak on this issue in any way.  No one asked to be heard.  

Therefore, he closed the public hearing. 
 

MOTION:  Moved by Councilmember Gallo and seconded by Councilmember Masson to approve a 
Development Agreement with a five-year term to authorize construction of the previously approved 16-

lot, TR 889 residential subdivision within the North Broadway Deficiency Area, adopting $12,500 per unit 
deficiency fee and introducing Ordinance No. 2013-15R.  Ayes:  Abed, Gallo, Masson and Morasco.  Noes:  

Diaz.  Absent:  None.  Motion carried. 

 
 

FUTURE AGENDA 

18. FUTURE AGENDA - The purpose of this item is to identify issues presently known to staff or 

which members of the Council wish to place on an upcoming City Council agenda. Council 

comment on these future agenda items is limited by California Government Code Section 54954.2 
to clarifying questions, brief announcements, or requests for factual information in connection 

with an item when it is discussed. 

Staff Recommendation: None (City Clerk's Office: Diane Halverson) 

 

Councilmember Diaz asked that Council compensation and Park Master Plans be discussed at a future 
agenda. 

COUNCIL MEMBERS SUBCOMMITTEE REPORTS 

 

Councilmember Gallo commented on an article in the newspaper regarding the Homeless in Escondido. 

 
Councilmember Diaz indicated the North County Transit District was purchasing property in Escondido 

near the Transit Center. 
 

Councilmember Masson stated the Economic Development Subcommittee had received an update on the 
CEDS report and branding efforts. 

 

Mayor Abed indicated the Economic Development Subcommittee would continue to meet and discuss 
priorities.  The City would be recruiting volunteers for the 2014 Boards and Commissions in March.  The 

City Manager’s Report was attached and provided information on the community. 

ATTACHMENT 2



December 4, 2013 Escondido City Council Minutes Book 54 Page 453 

 

CITY MANAGER’S UPDATE/BRIEFING  

The most current information from the City Manager regarding Economic Development, Capital 

Improvement Projects, Public Safety and Community Development.  

 CITY MANAGER’S UPDATE  

 

ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 

 

None 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

Mayor Abed adjourned the meeting at 7:35 p.m. 

 
 

 
_______________________________   _______________________________ 

MAYOR       CITY CLERK 

 
 

 
______________________________________  

MINUTES CLERK 
 

 

 
 

ATTACHMENT 2



ATTACHMENT 3



ATTACHMENT 3



ATTACHMENT 3



ATTACHMENT 3



ATTACHMENT 3



ATTACHMENT 3



Staff Report - Council

  Current Business Item No. 14 March 4, 2020 File No. 0650-40

SUBJECT: Review and Consideration of Campaign Contribution Limits

DEPARTMENT: City Attorney

RECOMMENDATION:

It is requested that the City Council review and consider potential amendments to the Escondido 
Municipal Election Campaign Control Ordinance to lower the maximum personal contributions from 
$4,300 for city council candidates and mayoral candidates.  It is further requested that the City 
Council discuss, consider and give staff direction on additional campaign control amendments, if any. 

FISCAL ANALYSIS: 

Any changes to campaign contribution limits for local Escondido mayoral and council district seats 
currently in the Campaign Control Ordinance will have no fiscal impact on the City of Escondido.  

PREVIOUS ACTION:

The Campaign Control Ordinance was last amended in April 2018.

This current matter was continued from the December 18, 2019, City Council agenda to allow for 
further research and consideration.  

BACKGROUND:

In October 2019, Mayor Paul McNamara asked that the issue of local campaign contribution limits be 
placed on the future agenda for review and discussion and has further recommended proposed limits 
for consideration.  Subsequently, Councilmember Olga Diaz asked to supplement the agenda item to 
further consider a limitation when councilmembers accept campaign contributions from persons 
having business before the City Council and for a period of time after a vote.  

State Law Campaign Contribution Limits.

The Political Reform Act (“PRA”) regulates campaign finance and disclosure requirements for state 
and local candidates and committees.  A city may also impose its own limits on campaign 
contributions in municipal elections and impose additional requirements separate from the PRA 
provided those requirements do not prevent compliance with the PRA.  (Government Code § 81013; 
Elections Code § 10202.) The PRA, first enacted in 1974, is intended to ensure that disclosure of 
political contributions is accurate, timely, and truthful; to keep voters informed; to make elections fair 



Review and Consideration of Campaign Contribution Limits 
March 4, 2020
Page 2

by abolishing laws and practices that favor incumbents; and, to provide adequate enforcement 
mechanisms of its provisions.  (Government Code § 81002.)  The California Fair Political Practices 
Commission (“FPPC”) has primary responsibility for the administration and implementation of the 
PRA.  

On October 8, 2019, California enacted AB 571, which amended various sections of California’s 
Elections and Government Codes. Generally, the new enactment establishes limitations on 
contributions to a candidate for local office in the case where the local governing body has not 
adopted its own limits. Starting on January 1, 2021, the “default” limit on campaign contributions shall 
be the amount provided for in the Government Code for contributions to candidates running in state 
legislative races.  Today, the limit for a “person” (as defined by the FPPC) to contribute to a candidate 
is $4,700 per election for state senate and assembly races.  However, the law specifically allows a 
city by ordinance or resolution to impose limits on contributions to candidates for elective city offices 
that are different from the state limit.  (Government Code § 85702.5(a).)  That is, a local jurisdiction 
may enact campaign contribution limits for persons and committees for elective offices in the 
jurisdiction that are stricter or more liberal than the default limit statute.  The law further provides that 
the FPPC is not responsible for the administration or enforcement of the local campaign limitations 
ordinances and the local agency may establish its own administrative, civil or criminal penalties.    

The Escondido Campaign Control Ordinance. 

In 1983, the City of Escondido adopted Ordinance No. 83-46, which provided for Controls on 
Campaign Contributions.  The ordinance was adopted to supplement the PRA. 

The Ordinance is commonly referred to as the Campaign Control Ordinance and it has undergone 
multiple amendments since it was first adopted. For example, in 1997, the Campaign Control 
Ordinance was amended to conform to Proposition 208, which contained newly adopted statewide 
campaign laws.  However, in 1998, a federal court issued a preliminary injunction prohibiting 
enforcement of the new state law finding that the limitations on the amounts of contributions was not 
narrowly drawn to achieve a legitimate purpose in violation of the First Amendment.  California Prolife 
Council v. Scully (E.D. Cal. 1998) 989 F. Supp. 1282. The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals later 
affirmed the injunction in 1999. 

In 2007, the campaign contribution limit was increased to $500 and a Consumer Price Index (“CPI”) 
formula was added to allow for future increases over time. In 2013, the Campaign Control Ordinance 
was amended again to increase campaign contributions to $4,100 and to remove the CPI adjustment.  
The 2013 amendment also removed the prohibitions on cash contributions by allowing such 
contributions up to $25.  

In April 2018, the Campaign Control Ordinance was last amended in an effort to update the 
provisions to be largely consistent with the PRA.  In addition to increasing the personal contribution 
limit to $4,300, the Ordinance made changes to the definitions of “Committee” and “Contribution” to 



Review and Consideration of Campaign Contribution Limits 
March 4, 2020
Page 3

conform to the PRA, changed the amount of allowable cash contributions up to $100, and repealed 
certain provisions relating to credit and checking accounts. No anonymous contributions are now 
allowable under Escondido’s Campaign Control Ordinance.  

Escondido Municipal Code Section 2-103(a), which limits campaign contributions by persons, 
provides:

No person other than a candidate shall make, and no campaign treasurer shall solicit or 
accept, any contribution which will cause the total amount contributed by such person 
with respect to a single election in support of or opposition to such candidate, including 
contributions to all committees supporting or opposing such candidate, to exceed four 
thousand three hundred dollars ($4,300.00).    

Escondido Municipal Code Section 2-100 identifies the purpose and intent of the City’s efforts to 
enact regulations and limitations in local campaigns.  As stated, the purpose of the Code is to 
“preserve an orderly political forum in which individuals may express themselves effectively; to place 
realistic and enforceable limits on the amounts of money that may be contributed to political 
campaigns in municipal elections; to prohibit contributions by organizations in order to develop a 
broader base of political efficacy within the community; to limit the use of loans and credit in the 
financing of municipal election campaigns; and to provide full and fair enforcement of all the 
provisions of this article.”  

The City’s existing Campaign Control Ordinance governs the campaign contribution limits for local 
City Council seat races and allows for campaign contributions below the state-mandated limit. It is 
enforceable today and would continue to be valid and enforceable after AB 571 becomes effective on 
January 1, 2021. The City Council has the authority to make changes to its local campaign 
contribution limits provided they are generally compliant with the PRA and AB 571.    

First Amendment Issues.

In addition to state and local laws, campaign finance laws can also touch on federal constitutional 
issues.  Most notably, Citizens United v. Federal Election Comm’n, 572 U.S. 185 (2014) addressed 
the issue of a whether the government may restrict independent expenditures for political 
communications by entities other than individuals (i.e. corporations, unions, non-profits, etc.). The 
case arose out of a private organization’s efforts to air a film critical of Hillary Clinton who was a 
presidential candidate.  At the time, federal law prevented corporations and unions from making 
campaign expenditures for broadcasts, also known as “electioneering communications,” which 
mention a candidate for office within 60 days of a general election or 30 days before a primary.  The 
United States Supreme Court struck down the law finding that the First Amendment protects 
associations of people in addition to individual speakers and that the identity of the speaker is not the 
proper province of the government to regulate.  As a result, a federal law that prohibited all 



Review and Consideration of Campaign Contribution Limits 
March 4, 2020
Page 4

expenditures by corporations or associations would violate the free speech rights guaranteed by the 
First Amendment.

The decision has been the subject of debate since its inception.  Its relevance to this discussion is 
that the Supreme Court has demonstrated an interest in examining the principles of potential First 
Amendment violations when the government attempts to limit campaign expenditures that may help 
or, in the case of United Citizens, be arguably detrimental to, a candidate for office.  As a result, a city 
enacting controls over the amounts, timing and source of campaign contributions and expenditures 
must be mindful of the exacting review of such constraints on candidates for office and their 
supporters.

Very recently, the United States Supreme Court took up the issue of campaign contribution limits in 
Thompson v. Hebdon, 589 U.S. __ (November 25, 2019) (per curiam).  In Hebdon, the State of 
Alaska limited the amount an individual can contribute to a candidate for political office, or to an 
election-oriented group other than a political party, to $500 per year. A contributor who wished to 
contribute more than the limit to a candidate for office sued the State of Alaska claiming that the low 
maximum contribution amount constituted a violation of the First Amendment.  The District Court and 
Ninth Circuit Court of Appeal rejected the claim and upheld the restriction. The United States 
Supreme Court vacated the Ninth Circuit’s decision and remanded the case to determine whether 
“Alaska’s contribution limits are consistent with our First Amendment precedents.”  While not 
providing clear direction on the Court’s opinion on the merits of the question, the Court’s decision 
discussed certain “danger signs” regarding a government limitation on campaign contributions.  The 
Court looked at (1) whether the limit was “substantially lower than previously [judicially] upheld limits;” 
(2) whether the limit is substantially lower than comparable limits in other states; and (3) whether the 
amount is adjusted for inflation. While not exhaustive of potential problems with a potentially violative 
campaign finance law, these are helpful touchpoints for First Amendment judicial review of any City 
legislation.

Comparative Local Ordinance Limits.

A survey was conducted of the campaign contribution limits enacted by all municipalities in San Diego 
County.  Attachment 1 provides a spreadsheet of the results of that survey.  

To be clear, the campaign contribution limits in other San Diego cities are not controlling of the 
discretion this City Council has on establishing limits for races in this jurisdiction.  However, they may 
serve as a helpful guide in examining the reasonableness and appropriateness of the City 
contribution limitations, particularly in jurisdictions with comparable geographic, population, and 
council district characteristics.  Currently, several cities in the County have no campaign contribution 
limits (Carlsbad, El Cajon, Imperial Beach, National City, and Oceanside).  Assembly Bill 571 will 
apply to those jurisdictions unless they establish their own local limits.  



Review and Consideration of Campaign Contribution Limits 
March 4, 2020
Page 5

Other cities in the County have individual contribution limits that range from $100 (Poway and Solana 
Beach) to $1,000 (Lemon Grove) for City Council races.  Some limits are indexed for inflation, others 
are not.  The City of San Diego’s individual limit for council district elections is $600 and $1,150 for 
the citywide races for Mayor and City Attorney.    

As can be seen from Attachment 1, the City of Escondido’s campaign contribution limit is the highest 
for cities who have adopted some local limitation.  After the implementation of AB 571, for those cities 
who have no limits and choose not to amend their laws, the limitation will default to the limits for state 
legislative races under state law ($4,700).  

In light of potential First Amendment issues, and in furtherance of the city’s desire to eliminate the 
potential of “improper influence, real or potential,” it is always helpful for a city to periodically examine 
the economics and fairness of its current campaign financing ordinance.  The earlier version of the 
Staff Report for this matter suggested that the personal campaign contribution limit of $4,300 be 
reduced to $250 for councilmember races and from $4,300 to $800 for citywide mayoral races.  
Those reductions would likely survive a legal challenge.  

In examining cities of generally comparable size in the County of San Diego (population of 100,000-
500,000) who have adopted a local ordinance, Escondido’s limit is materially higher.  On the other 
hand, assuming the cities with no local controls will be set at the state limit of $4,700 in January 2021, 
Escondido’s limit would be lower than three of the six cities in that category.  The Cities of Oceanside, 
Carlsbad and El Cajon would be set at the state level and only the Cities of Chula Vista and Vista 
would have lower amounts than Escondido.  

The average campaign contribution limit in cities with populations between 50,000 and 100,000 is 
$1,000. Those cities include San Marcos, Encinitas, National City, La Mesa, Santee and Poway.  
Cities with a population lower than 50,000, including Imperial Beach, Lemon Grove, Coronado and 
Solana Beach, have an average campaign contribution limit of $1,500.  The City of San Diego has 
nine council districts with roughly 150,000 people in each district.  The City’s campaign contribution 
limit is $600 for councilmember districts and $1,150 for the two city-at-large elections for mayor and 
city attorney in a city with a total population of approximately 1.4 million.

To be clear, the contribution amounts are entirely a function of City Council discretion and should 
reflect the real conditions of campaigning in this City.  The Councilmembers are in a unique position 
to understand the practicalities and economics of raising and spending money for elective office in 
this City and must use that experience in identifying a limit that is consistent with the First 
Amendment and the stated purpose of the City’s own Campaign Control Ordinance.   

Timing of Implementation and Disposition of Existing Campaign Funds.

After the first notice that this subject matter was up for council discussion last year, questions and 
comments were received by this office regarding the timing of the implementation of any new rules 



Review and Consideration of Campaign Contribution Limits 
March 4, 2020
Page 6

and what impact a new limitation would have on existing campaign fund accounts.  The suggestion 
has been made that campaign contribution funds lawfully received in the past should be disgorged to 
allow for a level playing field going forward among all candidates, challengers and incumbents alike.

Neither federal nor state law directly address this issue.  While the council has discretion in the timing 
of the effectiveness of any ordinance limiting funding, a law requiring the disgorgement of lawfully 
received campaign contributions raises constitutional and other concerns.  First, the effect of requiring 
a candidate to return contributions of properly contributed and acquired monies implicates (at least) 
the First Amendment rights of persons who had made the contributions in the first instance. The 
council would need to make legislative findings that there was a sufficiently important interest and the 
de-funding of existing accounts is “closely drawn” to achieve that interest.  See, Buckley v. Valeo, 424 
U.S. 1, 25-26 (1976) (campaign limits may be constitutional if the government demonstrates a 
sufficiently important interest and the employed means are closely drawn to avoid infringement of the 
candidate’s and contributor’s rights.)  As noted above, the courts have looked very carefully at 
government attempts to interfere with a contributor’s and candidate’s efforts to participate in a 
campaign for elective office.

Second, an involuntary disgorgement of an existing campaign account containing properly received 
contributions may constitute an unconstitutional due process violation under state and federal law.  
The California Constitution provides that a “person may not be deprived of life, liberty, or property 
without due process of law…”  (Cal. Const. Art. I, § 6.)  The Fourteenth Amendment to the United 
States Constitution similarly provides that, “[n]o State shall make or enforce any law which shall 
abridge the privileges and immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall any State deprive any 
person of life, liberty, or property without due process of law…”  The law is clear that the reference to 
the prohibitions on State actions in the United States Constitution applies to local public entity actions 
(ordinances).  Should a candidate holding funds in an existing account prior to the effectiveness of 
such a law be involuntarily forced return those properly received funds, such a law would have all the 
hallmarks of a due process violation.   

Third, the required disgorgement of an account containing lawfully received funds due to a new 
enactment appears to be an ex post facto law in violation of the federal and state constitutions.  Ex 
post facto is Latin for “from a thing done afterward.”  The United States Constitution at Article I, § 9, 
and the Constitution of the State of California at Article I, § 9, prohibit the respective legislatures from 
passing ex post facto laws.  Here, a forced return of money would have to be premised on the 
position that the candidate has received a past advantage that must be removed. However, that 
“advantage” was lawful before such a new law and making it criminal after the effectiveness of the 
change raises the appearance of an ex post facto law.   

Finally, there may be fundamental fairness issues with such a proposal.  For example, a candidate 
may have made certain strategic decisions regarding expenditures in a race assuming future 
campaign activity based on existing law.  Further, a candidate’s campaign may contend that it 
incurred costs in raising those campaign account funds now subject to return and there would be no 



Review and Consideration of Campaign Contribution Limits 
March 4, 2020
Page 7

means of recouping those costs under a disgorgement scheme.  Under either of these scenarios, a 
change in the campaign contribution law may unfairly affect a candidate who had been operating 
lawfully under the current ordinance.  

Voting and Limitations Related to Persons with City Business.

Councilmember Diaz has inquired about consideration and discussion of an additional limitation to 
local campaign contributions.  

The question was posed whether the City could impose a further restriction on councilmember voting 
and/or acceptance of contributions when a person has a matter pending before the council or for a 
period of time after a council vote (e.g. 12 months).  As an example, the City of San Marcos enacted 
Municipal Code Section 2.16.070 in 2003.  

San Marcos Municipal Code Section 2.16.070 provides in relevant part as follows:

(a) Within twelve (12) months after receiving a campaign contribution or other income 
totaling one hundred dollars ($100) or more from any source … no City Councilmember 
shall make, participate in making or attempt to influence any government decision or 
action that will have a reasonably foreseeable material financial effect on the campaign 
contributor or other source of income that is distinguishable from its impact on the public 
generally or a significant segment of the public, as defined by the Political Reform Act of 
1974.

(b) No City Councilmember shall accept any campaign contribution or other income from 
any source totaling one hundred dollars ($100) or more within twelve (12) months after 
he or she has made, participated in making, attempted to influence or influenced any 
government decision or action that had a material financial effect on the campaign 
contributor or other source of income that is distinguishable from its impact on the public 
generally or a significant segment of the public, as defined by the Political Reform Act of 
1974.  

State law provides a similar statute touching on the subject of accepting contributions from persons 
having business before state agencies, boards and commissions.  

Government Code § 84308(b) provides in relevant part that no agency officer may “accept, solicit or 
direct a contribution of more than $250 from any party [applicant]… as from any participant [interested 
person] while a proceeding involving a license, permit or other entitlement for use is pending before 
the agency and for three months following the date of a final decision is rendered in the proceeding if 
the officer knows or has reason to know that the participant has a financial interest ...”  



Review and Consideration of Campaign Contribution Limits 
March 4, 2020
Page 8

Subsection (c) of Section 84308 further provides that “prior to rendering any decision in a proceeding 
involving a license, permit or other entitlement for use before an agency, each officer of the agency 
who received a contribution within the preceding 12 months in an amount of more than two hundred 
fifty dollars ($250) from a party … shall disclose that fact on the record of the proceeding.”      

Government Code § 84308 does not apply to City councilmembers in their role as representatives of 
their districts or as the mayor because they are directly elected by the voters from this jurisdiction.  
Government Code §84308(a)(3).  However, these rules do apply to a councilmember who is acting as 
a voting member of another agency. 

One issue to consider is whether the implementation of voting restrictions similar to those in the City 
of San Marcos could affect the City’s ability to achieve a quorum to conduct business.  That is, to the 
extent past contributions force councilmembers to recuse themselves from voting, circumstances 
could arise where a quorum of three councilmembers may not be achievable and conducting city 
business could be hampered.  Equally true, to the extent that the use of campaign contributions could 
be “weaponized” as a means of strategically eliminating a council member’s opposition to a project, 
the council may wish to consider whether that would ever be a realistic possibility.  There also exists 
the prospect that opponents of council decisions may wish to use such an ordinance to initiate 
questionable litigation over issues such as whether the council member had a sufficient material or 
financial interest in the vote or decision thereby violating the ordinance.  Clearly, if such a rule was 
implemented, councilmembers would need to be hyper-vigilant as they review the council agendas to 
ensure that there are no upcoming matters requiring their recusal.

Other than the need to consider the potential for impacts to voting on city business, this office has no 
recommendation on the implementation of a law similar to the City of San Marcos or Section 84308, 
or some version of it.  This office seeks direction on what type of amendments the City Council is 
looking for, if any, in the City’s Campaign Control ordinance to address this subject.  

CONCLUSION:

The City Council has authority, and has exercised its authority in the past, to set campaign 
contribution limits consistent with state law.  The council members are most knowledgeable about the 
difficulties and practicalities involved in raising money for a local election both as an incumbent and 
as a challenger in this jurisdiction. The benchmark for setting any local limits should be that it neither 
advantages nor disadvantages any candidate, is consistent with First Amendment and state 
constitutional principles, will be an amount that is fair to all who seek to achieve an elective office and 
to contributors who wish to voice their First Amendment right to support local candidates. Moreover, 
any limits should be focused on achieving the goals in the City’s Campaign Control ordinance.  

Although only used in one city in the County, the City of San Diego, the use of a proportional 
difference for district seat vs. citywide races is supportable from the perspective of the costs 
associated with running a citywide race for elective office such as the mayor compared to a district 



Review and Consideration of Campaign Contribution Limits 
March 4, 2020
Page 9

race.  The appropriate amounts and ratios are best left to the sound discretion of the City Council 
provided the above constitutional principles of campaign fairness are observed. 

This office and staff are prepared to assist the City Council with making any further amendments to 
the Escondido Municipal Code on this matter and related matters.  

APPROVED AND ACKNOWLEDGED ELECTRONICALLY BY:

Michael R. McGuinness, City Attorney
2/26/20 5:06 p.m.

ATTACHMENTS:

1. Attachment 1 (Survey of Local Agency Campaign Contribution Limits)



Attachment 1
Survey of Local Agency Campaign Contribution Limits

City Contribution Limit
CARLSBAD N/A

CHULA VISTA Individual
Committee

$350*
$1,190*

CORONADO Individual
City Contractors

$200
$0

DEL MAR Individual
Committee

$200
$2,000

EL CAJON    N/A

ENCINITAS $250                                                      

ESCONDIDO $4,300

IMPERIAL BEACH N/A

LA MESA Voluntary 
Expenditure 

Limits

LEMON GROVE $1,000*

NATIONAL CITY N/A

OCEANSIDE N/A

POWAY $100

SAN DIEGO City Council
Mayor/City Attorney

Committee

$600*
$1,150* 

$11,400/
$22,750**

SAN MARCOS Individual 
Committee

$250
$500

SANTEE $700*

SOLANA BEACH Individual
Aggregate

$100*
$5,000*

VISTA $300

* indexed for inflation, may be higher

 ** $11,400 for City Council and $22,750 for Mayor/City Attorney 



- 1 -

FUTURE CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEMS
Updated February 27, 2020

March 11, 2020
3:30-6:00 p.m.
Board & Commission Interviews

March 18, 2020
3:30-6:00 p.m.
Board & Commission Interviews

March 25, 2020
6:00 p.m.
CONSENT CALENDAR

City of Escondido Landscape Maintenance Assessment District Preliminary 
Engineer’s Report for FY 2020/2021 for Zones 1 through 38 
(J. Procopio)

Each year the City is required to submit and approve an Engineer’s Report that details the City’s LMD budget 
and assessments for the upcoming year.  The purpose of the Council meeting on March 25, 2020, is to begin 
this process by approving the Preliminary Engineer’s Report and setting a public hearing date of May 6, 2020 
for LMD Zones 1 through 38 for FY 2020/2021.
Adoption of the City of Escondido Statement of Goals and Policies Regarding 
the Establishment of Community Facilities Districts 
(J. Procopio)

Staff recommends that the Statement of Goals and Policies for Establishment of Community Facilities Districts 
be amended, as it has been twenty years since its adoption. Further, clarifying the document as it applies to a 
services Community Facilities Districts is recommended.
Cost Share Agreement for Lake Hodges Nutrient Load Assessment
(C. McKinney)

The Regional Water Quality Control Board has requested that the Responsible Agencies in the San Dieguito 
River Watershed Management Area, including the City of Escondido, San Diego, Poway, and the County of San 
Diego, update the Water Quality Improvement Plan and address nutrient impairment of Lake Hodges Reservoir. 
The Responsible Agencies, led by the City of San Diego, have designed a three year water quality monitoring 
plan to assess nutrient loading from urban storm drains and other land uses within the watershed. 
Implementing this cost share agreement will fill a data gap needed to inform future management actions taken 
by the Agencies and the Regional Board.

AGENDA ITEMS AND CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATES ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE.
CHECK WITH THE CITY CLERK’S OFFICE AT (760) 839-4617



- 2 -

March 25, 2020
Continued
PUBLIC HEARINGS
CURRENT BUSINESS

Annual Appointments to Boards and Commissions
(Z. Beck)

Request the City Council ratify the Mayor’s appointments to serve on the following Boards and Commissions; 
terms to expire March 31, 2024 except as noted.
Mobilehome Rent Protection Ordinance (“Proposition K”) Vacancy 
Control/Decontrol
(M. McGuinness)

Councilmember Diaz would like to discuss this topic and ask that the City Council consider placing a proposition 
on an upcoming election to amend Proposition K.

FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS



 

1 
 

February 27, 2020 
 
Escondido Hometown Pride 
The annual State of the City address took place on Wednesday, February 26 at the California 
Center for the Arts. Each year City staff works with the community to create a video that is shown 
during the presentation. This year we focused on our hometown pride, check it out by clicking 
the video below.  

 
Escondido Creek Trail Awarded Prop 68 Grant 
The City of Escondido has been awarded an $8.5 million grant from the California Parks 
Department to fund the Escondido Creek Trail Expansion and Renovation Project. There were 
478 applications submitted for funding, and 62 projects were awarded. The Escondido Creek 
Trail was only one of 9 projects funded at the maximum 8.5-million-dollar level. In addition to 
improving the existing path, a new DG trail will be created and additional improvements include 
new fencing, lighting, signage, children’s play areas, fitness equipment and more! For more 
information about the project, visit: https://www.escondido.org/ect.aspx 
 
First Foot Race at Daley Ranch a Success! 
On Saturday, February 22 Daley Ranch and Dixon 
Lake hosted the first “The Ranch” 50k ultra-marathon. 
This event was the product of several months of 
collaboration between event organizers: Second Wind 
Trail Running, and various City departments such as 
Utilities/Lakes, Community Services, Police, Fire and 
Public Works. The result was an amazing community 
event.  
 
Over 200 racers participated, including some City staff! 
Prior to the race, volunteers helped prepare the trails 
and park for the event. If you would like to search for 
future opportunities to volunteer in the City, visit: https://volunteer.escondido.org/  

https://www.escondido.org/ect.aspx
https://volunteer.escondido.org/
https://youtu.be/cpIc_3lkJvc


 

1 
 

 
2020/21 Budget Updates: 
 
The City’s annual operating budget cycle begins in January with the preparation of the budgetary 
forecast for the next fiscal year that runs from July 1 through June 30.  The current budgetary 
forecast for Fiscal Year 2020-21 is projecting a $6 million operating budget deficit.  This deficit 
is due to projected revenue growth not keeping pace with projected municipal costs. 
  
City Departments have been asked to submit their Fiscal Year 2020-21 General Fund operating 
budgets with a 3% reduction over their prior year adopted budgets.  Departments are to 
specifically identify the impact a 3% budget reduction will have on the services and programs 
provided to City residents.  Departments are scheduled to submit budget proposals to the City’s 
Finance Department in February and March.   
 
City staff work diligently to keep costs down and increase efficiencies, but without new revenues 
Escondido will continually be forced to reduce or eliminate essential municipal services in order 
to balance future city budgets, including the upcoming 2020-2021 budget.  
 
The City is currently considering placing a one percent sales tax measure on the November 
2020 ballot. The current sales tax rate in Escondido is 7.75 percent; but Escondido receives only 
one percent of that revenue, with most going to the State, County and SANDAG. However, 100 
percent of the revenue generated by this ballot measure would stay in Escondido and provide 
stable local funding for the City to maintain and enhance our Police and Fire services, improve 
our roads, parks and facilities, and elevate the quality of life in our neighborhoods.  
 
A series of informational presentations on both the budget and a potential revenue measure will 
be scheduled, stay tuned for meeting dates.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 3 

BY THE NUMBERS 
 
Public Works 

 

 

 
 
  

3232

4545

3873

3640

2350

2361

3126

3207

3389

3071

2107

2027

1990

Jan-20
December

November
October

September
August

July
June
May
April

March
February

January

0 500 1000 1500 2000 2500 3000 3500 4000 4500 5000

Number of Graffiti Tags Removed 
2019 - 2020

Voice Mail, 42

Report It!, 299
Eradication 
Team, 401

Email, 22
Phone, 13

How Graffiti Was Reported - January 2020

Voice Mail Report It! Eradication Team Email Phone

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

NUMBER OF SHOPPING CARTS REMOVED

2018

2019

2020



 

 4 

Code Enforcement 
 

 
 

Total Code Cases (Year To Date) 422 

 
Business Licenses 
 

 
 
Graffiti Restitution 
 

Collected Past Week Collected Year to Date 

 $112 $2,621.52 

 
  

234 Total Active Cases

58 New Cases 

95% 
Voluntary 

Compliance

40 Notices 
Issued

63 Cases 
Closed

5 Citations 
Issued

0

50

100

150

200

250

Monthly New Business License Applications by Year

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016



 

 5 

Fire: 
 

 
 

 
 

Total Emergency Responses (Year To Date)  2,337 

 
  

3

11

251

71

Fires

Vehicle Accidents

EMS Responses

Other

0 50 100 150 200 250 300

Fire Emergency Responses
February 16-22

4

30

Construction Inspections

Annual Inspections

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35

Fire Inspections
February 16-22



 

 6 

Police: 

 

 
 
January Abandoned Vehicle Data 

 
  

6500

7000

7500

8000

8500

9000

9500

10000

Monthly Police Calls for Service by Year 

2018 2019 2020

Emergency, 4,869, 
24%

Non-Emergency, 
11,356, 57%

Outgoing , 3,687, 19%

2020 YTD Police/Fire Communication Center Call Volume 

Emergency Non-Emergency Outgoing

269
Warnings issued to 
remove suspected 
abandoned vehicles 
within 72 hours

53
Abandoned vehicles 
impounded (removal 
of vehicles found 
littering city streets)

368
Total abandoned 
vehicles impounded 
(since July 1, 2019)



 

 7 

Building Division: 
*Data reflects activity through February 22 of each year. 
 

 
 

 
 

  

4,760,002

4,570,118

4,450,000 4,500,000 4,550,000 4,600,000 4,650,000 4,700,000 4,750,000 4,800,000

2019

2020

Permit Values

505

170

560

158

0 100 200 300 400 500 600

Permit Application

Solar Permits

Building Permits

2020 2019



 

 8 

VOLUNTEER PROGRAM 
 

 
 
Get Involved: 
If you would like to get involved with future projects and volunteer in Escondido, visit: 
https://volunteer.escondido.org/ 
 
POLICE DEPARTMENT 
 
Incidents: 
 
Wanted Subject Flees from Police 
On February 18, an Officer observed a wanted subject driving a vehicle near the 500 block of 
Midway Dr.  The suspect had several arrest warrants for drug and gun possession charges.  The 
officer attempted to pull the car over, but the suspect fled and a traffic pursuit ensued.  The 
officer broke off the pursuit when the suspect drove in a manner that unnecessarily endangered 
the public.  The suspect was located a few days later in Valley Center and arrested. 

 
Officers Conduct Citywide DUI Saturation Patrol 
On February 22, several officers participated in a citywide DUI saturation patrol funded through 
a grant from the California Office of Traffic Safety.  The purpose of the detail was to target drunk 
drivers and to promote overall traffic safety.  The detail yielded the following results: 

 106 Total Traffic Stops 

 15 Field Sobriety Tests Administered 

 2 DUI Alcohol Arrests 

 1 DUI Drugs Arrest 

 1 DUI Warrant Arrest 

 43 Citations Issued (7 for Suspended License & 4 for Unlicensed) 
 
Community Policing: 
 
School Task Force 
On February 19, the Escondido PD Gang Unit and School Resource Officers met with school 
administrators representing the middle and high schools in Escondido.  The focus of the School 
Task Force is for the police and school districts to share information and resources on 
intervention and prevention efforts at reducing gang membership and preventing gang violence 
in Escondido.  This is part of the greater efforts coordinated by the Escondido Gang Reduction, 
Intervention, and Prevention (EGRIP) program, which brings together community leaders, city 

https://volunteer.escondido.org/


 

 9 

staff, non-profit community based groups, county resources, school officials, and faith leaders 
to reduce gang crime in our city. 
 
Police Athletic League Fundraiser is Huge Success 
On February 21, the Escondido Police Athletic League (PAL) and the North San Diego County 
Real Estate Professionals Group and Affiliates held their annual fundraiser for PAL. The event 
is named "Have a Heart for PAL."  Assemblywoman Marie Waldron, Deputy Mayor Consuelo 
Martinez, 76th Assembly Candidate Melanie Burkholder, former Mayor Sam Abed, Escondido 
Police Chief Ed Varso, and Captain Justin Murphy attended the event.  A record was set for 
attendance and money raised with a total of $63,456.58.  The money will be used to run PAL 
sports and education programs for youth, provide scholarships for PAL youth now attending 
college, and will provide other activities that will help low income children in the Escondido 
Community.       
            

 
 
Focused Enforcement Efforts in High Call Volume Areas: 

 6 Arrests 

 13 Citations 

 93 Extra Patrols / Calls for Service 
 
Events:   
 
Escondido Detectives Receive Prestigious Award 
On February 19, Family Protection Unit Detectives Damian 
Jackson and Jeff Udvarhelyi received FBI Director’s Awards for 
their efforts as part of the Child Exploitation Task Force.  Jeff and 
Damian have served on CETF for the past six years, which is an 
FBI lead task force focused on combating crimes against children 
involving kidnappings, violent attacks, sexual abuse, or online 
predators. 

 

 
Tip of the Week: 
 
Did you know that the FBI has set up a safe online surfing website training for kids?  The FBI-
SOS program is a nationwide initiative designed to educate children in 3rd to 8th grades about 
the dangers they face on the Internet and to help prevent crimes against children.  For more 
information, visit: https://sos.fbi.gov/en/  
 

https://sos.fbi.gov/en/


 

 10 

FIRE DEPARTMENT 
 
News: 

 
On Friday, February 21 at 9:03 p.m., Firefighters 
from Station 3 (Midway) were dispatched to an 
outdoor fire reported to be in the area of Midway 
Drive between Washington Avenue and Valley 
Parkway. The Engine crew found a large amount 
of smoke coming from a fire that was inside a flood 
control channel tunnel and several storm drains 
two blocks to the north. Three Fire Engines, the 
Truck Company and a Battalion Chief were 
needed for about thirty minutes to set up a rope 
system to access the culvert, and extinguish the 
fire inside the tunnel. EPD, Public works and a fire 
investigator also responded due to the suspected 
transient activity in the tunnel where the fire was 
located.  
 
On February 23 at approximately 1:22 am, the Fire Department responded to a reported rollover 
vehicle accident at Bear Valley Parkway and Canyon Road. The first on scene Engine Captain 
found a vehicle fully involved in fire and the driver, who had been ejected during the crash, with 
serious but not life threatening injuries. Firefighters extinguished the fire and treated and 
transported the driver to the hospital.  
 

 
 
Save the Date: the annual Fire Department Open House and Fire & Water Expo will be held on 
Saturday, June 13, 2020 at Escondido Fire Station # 4 located at 3301 Bear Valley Parkway 
from 10:00 am to 2:00. This popular event showcases fire and community safety and the theme 
this year is “Farm Fresh – Planting the Seeds of Safety”. There will be equipment displays, fire 
truck rides, station tours, activities for kids, an automobile extrication demonstration and a 
helicopter landing! This year there will also be participants highlighting the area’s agricultural 
heritage and the importance of water. Please visit www.firewaterexpo.org for more information 
and mark your calendars!  
 
  

http://www.firewaterexpo.org/


 

 11 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 
Major Projects Update 
 
The following major projects are being reviewed and coordinated by Planning, Engineering, Fire, 
Building and Utilities.  The list of projects below encompasses recent project updates and/or 
milestones from last week.   
 
Commercial / Office / Industrial: 
 
1. Raising Cane’s Restaurant – (Developer: Ada Fermin, PM Design Group)  1280 W. Valley 

Parkway – Demolition of vacant, former Coco’s restaurant building and construction of new 
3,744 SF drive-through restaurant for Raising Cane’s.  A CUP application was filed on October 
30, 2019.  Department comments on the traffic study were provided on January 10, 2020, and 
revised traffic info was received from the applicant on February 21, 2020. 

 
2. Mercedes Benz Expansion – (Developer: Jody Stout, Integrity Design and Construction) 1101 

W. 9th Avenue – A Master and Precise Plan modification to demo the existing dealership 
showroom and construct a new showroom, office, parts storage and service building.  The 
application was submitted on November 20, 2019.  The applicant informed Planning during the 
week of January 27, 2020 that they are pursuing a redesign to meet the most recent generation 
of Mercedes design specifications for dealerships.  Staff is awaiting resubmittal of the plans. 

 
3. 7-Eleven Gas and Convenience Store – (Developer: Golcheh Group) 900 W. Mission Ave. – 

A proposal to relocate a 7-Eleven from the northeastern corner of Mission/Rock Springs to the 
northwestern corner and add a gas station.  The applicant submitted a traffic study on 
December 17, 2019, and the latest staff comments were returned on February 11, 2020.  The 
comments identify anticipated traffic impacts as well as suggested mitigation.  The applicant 
met with Engineering on February 19, 2020 to discuss traffic issues. 

 
City Projects 
 
1. Membrane-Filtration Reverse Osmosis/ MFRO (Developer: City of Escondido Utilities 

Department) 901 W. Washington – A Plot Plan application was submitted for review on October 
14, 2019.  The second draft of the proposed Mitigated Negative Declaration (MND) is expected 
to be submitted this week.  A 60% design meeting occurred on December 9, 2019, and a 
follow-up meeting to discuss architecture occurred on January 30, 2020. 

 
2. Lake Wohlford Replacement Dam (Developer: City of Escondido Utilities Department) – 

Utilities and Planning staff met with the environmental consultant on February 24, 2020, to 
discuss biological mitigation and recirculation of the Draft EIR.  A meeting with the wildlife 
agencies will be scheduled for next month for confirmation of the path forward.  

 
Residential 

 
1. Harvest Hills (aka Safari Highlands Ranch) (Developer: Jeb Hall, Concordia Homes) 550 lots 

east of Rancho San Pasqual –  The Draft EIR and appendices have been posted on the City’s 
website at the following link:   

 
https://www.escondido.org/safari-highlands-ranch-specific-plan.aspx 
 

https://www.escondido.org/safari-highlands-ranch-specific-plan.aspx


 

 12 

A revised tentative map addressing previous staff comments was submitted on November 6, 
2019.  A second revision to the Draft Specific Plan was received on January 14, 2020.  The 
most recent revised tentative map was received on February 24, 2020.  The revised tentative 
map and exhibits will be posted on-line at the link above.   
 

2. The Villages at Escondido Country Club (Builder: Lennar Homes) 380 residences –Building 
permit applications for the model homes were submitted on December 18, 2019.  Comments 
on final engineering for Villages 2 and 3 were sent to the project applicant on January 27, 2020.  
Country Club Drive improvement plans are nearing approval.  Planning met with the applicant 
on February 4 to discuss proposed modifications to the Village Center amenities and design.  
Revised final engineering plans for Villages 2 and 3 and a Precise Grading Plan were 
submitted by the applicant on February 13, 2020. 

 
The approved tentative subdivision map, Final EIR and appendices, Specific Plan and other 
related information can be accessed on the City’s website at the following link:  

 
https://www.escondido.org/ecc.aspx 

 
4. North Avenue Estates (Developer: Casey Johnson) 34 lots at North Ave./Conway Dr. – The 

applicant is working on storm water comments and a resubmittal of plans is expected this 
week.  Engineering has provided comments on a proposed joint-use agreement with the 
County Water Authority. 

 
5. Sager Ranch/Daley Ranch Resort Specific Plan (Developer: J. Whalen Associates, Inc., Sager 

Ranch Partners) 203 housing units and 225-room resort hotel on 1,783-acres, just north and 
east of Daley Ranch – Fire, Planning, and Engineering staff met with the applicant team on 
May 29, 2019 to discuss the fire-related information.  A financial feasibility study for the 
proposed resort was submitted on July 8, 2019.  The project has been mostly dormant since 
then.   

 
 A project webpage containing draft documents and plans has been added to the Planning 

Division’s website at the following link:  
 
 https://www.escondido.org/daley-ranch-resort-specific-plan.aspx 
 
6. Nutmeg Condo General Plan Amendment (Developer: Jim Simmons, CCI) 137 townhome 

condo units on 7.7 acres on both sides of Nutmeg between I-15 and Centre City Parkway – 
The City Council approved the portion of the project on the northern side of Nutmeg on 
November 20, 2019.  Staff is now awaiting resubmittal of the southern portion of the project. 

 
7. Oak Creek (Builder: KB Homes) 65 single-family residential lots on approximately 44 acres at 

Felicita Road and Hamilton Lane – KB Homes has constructed model homes and is interested 
in filing the final map as soon as possible to continue construction.  However, several items 
remain incomplete including revisions to improvement plans, final map and drainage study.  In 
June 2019, the County of San Diego provided KB Homes a checklist of items that should be 
submitted with a watercourse permit application required to construct a storm drain under 
Felicita extending onto County land.  To date, KB Homes has not provided the application 
materials to the County.  The City is working with the developer to allow the project to continue 
to move forward while the developer obtains the County watercourse permit and constructs all 
necessary drainage improvements. 

 

https://www.escondido.org/ecc.aspx
https://www.escondido.org/daley-ranch-resort-specific-plan.aspx


 

 13 

8. Villa Portofino (Developer: Chris Post, ATC Design Group) 15 apartment units in a three-story 
building with parking garage at 2690 S. Escondido Blvd. – Revised elevations for staff design 
review were received on February 21, 2020. 

 
9. Palomar Heights (Developer: Ninia Hammond, Integral Communities) Demolition and 

redevelopment of the old Palomar Hospital site with 510 multi-family units with 10,000 SF of 
commercial – Utilities met with the applicant on February 20 to discuss sewer and water issues.  
Public review of the Draft EIR is expected to commence soon after receipt of updates to the 
Public Utilities appendix that analyze an acceptable sewer design. 

 
The development proposal and other related information can be accessed on the City’s website 
at the following link:  
 
https://www.escondido.org/palomarheights.aspx 

 
10. Henry Ranch (Builder: Joe Martin, Trumark Homes) An approved development of 97 single-

family residential homes on 74.35 acres at the eastern terminus of Lincoln Avenue – The 
project site is currently being graded.  CC&Rs for the entire project and a road maintenance 
agreement for the upper agricultural lots are in for review.  Improvement plans are ready for 
approval.  The final map has tentatively been scheduled for the April 8, 2020 City Council 
meeting. 

 
11. Del Prado (Developer: Kerry Garza, Touchstone Communities) – An approved 113-unit 

townhome-style Planned Development located at the southwestern corner of Brotherton Road 
and the Centre City Parkway frontage road -  Staff comments on the grading and improvement 
plans were provided the week of February 3, 2020.  Staff is aware of easement issues 
regarding the SDG&E access easement and are still working with the applicant on that 
driveway design. 

 
12. Hacienda De Vega Redevelopment – (Developer: Tony Cassolato) A proposed residential 

condominium development consisting of 42 three-story attached townhomes on 1.75 acres – 
The project would demolish the vacant restaurant building and redevelop the entire site with 
residential townhomes.  Fire is working with the applicant on fire flow and circulation issues 
through the site.  The Historic Preservation Commission will review the proposal to demolish 
the existing structure on the site on March 19, 2020.  It is expected the Mitigated Negative 
Declaration will be issued for public review around that time. 

 
13 Casa Mercado Apartments (Developer: Paul Mayer, Pemcor) A four-story, 120-unit apartment 

complex on 2.31 acres – The most recent project design was submitted on January 21, 2020.  
Staff comments were provided back to the applicant on February 21, 2020. 

 
14. Accessory Dwelling Units – Planning staff is currently working on thirteen (13) applications for 

accessory dwelling units.  Six (6) accessory dwelling units have been approved so far this year.  
Thirty-even (37) accessory dwelling units were approved in 2019.  Twenty-four (24) accessory 
dwelling units were approved in 2018.  Three (3) accessory dwelling units were approved in 
2017. 

 
Building Division: 
 
1. The Building Division issued 50 permits (including 19 solar photovoltaic) with a total valuation 

of $210,237.00. B19-2202 3801 Observation Pl. Valuation $146,956.00  

https://www.escondido.org/palomarheights.aspx


 

 14 

  
2. Our building inspectors responded to 190 inspection requests. 129 customers visited the 

Building counter during the week.   
 
3. No change from the previous. The Latitude 2 apartment project at 650 Center City Pkwy has 

received Building final approvals and Temporary Certificates of Occupancy for buildings 1-4. 
Field Engineering have released Building 6 for TCO. The Building Division has granted a 
Temporary Certificate of Occupancy, with minor restrictions and is awaiting a request for 
Final inspection of Bldg. 6. Final Inspection pending the receipt of all final reports from the 
contractor. 

 
4. No Change from the previous. The second phase of construction (school) associated with 

the recently completed church sanctuary building at 1864 N. Broadway is about to get 
underway. 

 
5. No Change from the previous. The new 105 room hotel at 200 La Terraza is currently 

operating on a Temporary Certificate of Occupancy, pending Engineering final approval.  
Traffic signal poles have been set in place and should be fully operational soon.  An additional 

30-day extension of the TCO has been granted pending completion of the traffic signal. 
 
6. The Gateway Grand (now named “Rowan”) 126-unit apartment project at 700 W. Grand Ave. 

has roof framing work ongoing in Buildings A & B in anticipation for a soon to be requested 
inspection. Drywall installation on-going in Building B on the 4th floor. Building B framing has 
been completed and approved.  Drywall installation is on-going in Building B.  Building A 
framing work is on-going. Partial exterior lath installation is on-going at Building A.  A 
Temporary Certificate of Occupancy has been issued for the first floor only in the community 
building (Building D).  New electrical meters are being set in Building B for 11 units. Building 
C framing and the installation of plumbing, electrical and mechanical system have begun.  

 
7. No change from the previous.  The new 2 story 20,000 sf office building for Superior Ready 

Mix on 1564 W Mission has first and second floor approval for framing, mechanical, electrical, 
and plumbing. 

 
8. No change from the previous.  KB Homes, located at the Oak Creek development on Daisy 

Field Glen has completed the model home construction phase of the development.  Plan 
revisions have been submitted and are currently under review.  The number of homes in the 
first phase could total between 12-16 dwellings. Precise grading plans for Phases 1 & 2, 
totaling 12 SFD’s, are currently in review.  

 
9. The Medical office building located at 2130 Citracado Pkwy has received partial foundation 

inspection and partial underground electrical conduit.  Foundation work, steel reinforcement 
on-going in preparation for future inspections. Underground plumbing and foundation work 
is on-going. Partial slab construction has been approved. Framing should commence soon. 
Structural steel being erected with special inspection. 

 
10. Building staff has completed plan check fee estimates for the Villages project and are 

verifying correct addressing. 
 
11. The new self-storage facility at 2319 Cranston Drive has approval for perimeter footings.  

Masonry wall construction is underway. Foundation and CMU grout lift inspections continue 
for the site walls.   



 

 15 

ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT 
 
Capital Improvements:    

 
1. El Norte Parkway Improvements –The traffic signal poles for the new pedestrian crossing 

have been stood. The contractor is continuing to work on the median islands. Construction 
of the trailhead sign continues this week and is expected to be finished late next week. The 
project includes widening of El Norte Parkway at the flood control channel by the installation 
of a new bridge, construction of new median islands from Valley Parkway to Washington 
Avenue, landscaping and a drip irrigation system, a bike/pedestrian signal at the flood 
control channel, along with roadway resurfacing. More information can be found at 
https://www.escondido.org/el-norte-parkway-bridge-and-median-improvements-1.aspx.  

2. Spruce Street/Transit Center Pedestrian Bridge Project –The arched channel culvert section 
was set last week. The contractor has started to work on the pedestal bridge at the Valley 
location. The stucco walls along 3rd and Spruce have been painted. Concrete has been 
placed for a section of the pedestrian bridge foundation at Valley Parkway. 

 
 

3. 2019 Street Rehabilitation and Maintenance Project Rebid - The contractor is continuing the 
tree removal and the replacement of concrete sidewalk, pedestrian ramps, and driveway’s 
in the Auto Park Way industrial area, south of State Route 78 near Mission Avenue. This 
year’s project will resurface approximately 71-lane miles of pavement, replace 0.59- miles 
of sidewalk, and restripe 2.5- miles of bike lanes, install 51 pedestrian ramps, and replace 
90 street trees that damaging concrete improvements. With the continued investment into 
our streets, the City has increased its Pavement Condition Index (PCI) from 55 to 61 points 
since 2013. This year’s project is Maintenance Zone W. More information can be found at 
https://www.escondido.org/city-of-escondido-street-maintenance-program.aspx 

 Private Development: 
 
1. Tract 932 - Canyon Grove Shea Homes Community –No changes from that reported last 

week. The Project is currently in the punch list phase. The roadway connection between 
Vista Avenue and Vista Verde Way is scheduled to be opened to all traffic. This opening will 
connect El Norte Parkway to the South and Ash Street to the West.     

2. KB Homes Oak Creek Project –No changes from that reported last week. The contractor 
will be starting the offsite improvements including the construction of new sidewalk, curb, 

https://www.escondido.org/el-norte-parkway-bridge-and-median-improvements-1.aspx
https://www.escondido.org/city-of-escondido-street-maintenance-program.aspx


 

 16 

gutter and street sections for Miller Avenue and Hamilton Lane. Traffic control, including 
lane closures will be in effect during this activity. 

3. Pradera by Lennar –No changes from that reported last week. The contractor has started 
the Conway street restoration work. The water main work included the construction and 
installation of 779’ of a 12” water main along Conway Drive, between Lehner Drive and 
Rincon Avenue. The installation is now complete. The contractor is tying the new line to the 
Cities potable water system.  

4. Henry Ranch Tract 920 –No changes from that reported last week. Contractor is continuing 
with the in track pad grading. The project is located at the intersection of El Norte 
Parkway/Lincoln Avenue. When completed the contractor will have processed 433,000 
cubic yards of material with 50,000 cubic yards of material being exported off site. 

5. The Villages – No changes from that reported last week. Contractor is working on the in-
tract sewer main, manholes and laterals. Village 1 grading is continuing this week. Village 1 
is between Country Club Drive to the south, David Drive to the east and Golden Circle Drive 
to the north. A total of 111 homes are to be constructed in Village 1. “No Parking” signs are 
placed on Country Club Drive South of Country Club Lane. The work will be for the 
construction of storm drain pipe at Country Club Drive and Fairway Park.  

6. SDG&E 16” Gas Main Replacement – Work has started with potholing along the Midway 
corridor, starting at Lincoln Ave moving South. The work will also include the new installation 
of video detection cameras along the Midway/Bear Valley corridor. Information is being 
gathered to aid in the development of the new gas main alignment. The construction phase 
is not expected until 2021.  

7. Escondido Giving Arch –The main section of the Arch was delivered and bolted up last 
week. The second sections of the Arch are scheduled to be delivered This week. One lane 
of west bound Grand Avenue will be closed during this operation. When completed, this 
arch will be 108 feet across and will span Grand Avenue at Centre City Parkway. A lighting 
ceremony has been scheduled for March 12th with the Escondido Community Foundation. 

GRANT APPLICATIONS 
 
Applications: 
 

 None this week. 
### 


	CONSENT CALENDAR
	1. AFFIDAVITS OF PUBLICATION, MAILING AND POSTING (COUNCIL/RRB)
	2. APPROVAL OF WARRANT REGISTER (Council)
	3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES: Regular Meetings of February 5, 2020 and February 12, 2020
	02-05-20 CC Meeting Minutes.pdf (7 pages)
	02-12-20 CC Meeting Minutes.pdf (6 pages)

	4. FINAL MAP FOR TRACT 951 LOCATED AT 640 OAKWOOD CREEK GLEN -
	Attachment A, Site Location Map.pdf (1 page)

	5. HOMELESS EMERGENCY AID PROGRAM GRANT BUDGET ADJUSTMENT -
	HEAP Budget Adjustment.pdf (1 page)

	6. NOTICE OF COMPLETION FOR BERNARDO ACRES TRACT 877 -
	Attachment 1 Tract No 877.pdf (1 page)
	R2020-21  Bernardo Acres Tract 877.doc (2 pages)

	7. ILLEGAL DISPOSAL SITE ABATEMENT GRANT PROGRAM APPLICATION -
	R2020-26 Illegal Dispoal Site Abatement Grant.docx (2 pages)

	8. RESOLUTION DECLARING A VACANT CITY OWNED PARCEL ON HARMONY GROVE (APN 232-372-06) AS EXEMPT SURPLUS LAND -
	R2020-27 Disposition of Surplus Property.doc (2 pages)


	CONSENT  RESOLUTIONS AND ORDINANCES (COUNCIL/RRB)
	9. AMENDMENT TO ARTICLE 34 (COMMUNICATION ANTENNAS) OF THE ESCONDIDO ZONING CODE, ADOPTION OF GUIDELINES FOR THE DEPLOYMENT OF SMALL WIRELESS FACILITIES IN THE PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY, ESTABLISHMENT OF FEES RELATED TO SMALL WIRELESS FACILITIES IN THE PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY, AND AMENDMENT TO PUBLIC SERVICES AGREEMENT FOR THE CITYWORKS IMPLEMENTATION PROJECT - 

	02.05.20 - Wirreless Code Amendment O2020-03.pdf (1 page)


	PUBLIC HEARINGS
	10. AMENDMENT TO CHAPTER 22A OF THE ESCONDIDO MUNICIPAL CODE TO ENHANCE OUTDOOR AIR REGULATIONS BY REGULATING WHERE SMOKING IS ALLOWED IN THE CITY (AZ 20-0001) -
	Attachment 1 2020-sotc-california-full.pdf (92 pages)
	Attachment 2 doc02799920200226104247.pdf (56 pages)
	Attachment 3 doc02800220200226105749.pdf (56 pages)
	O2020-06 Clean Air Ordinance_kgwcomments mds.docx (6 pages)


	CURRENT BUSINESS
	11. 2020 CENSUS COMPLETE COUNT OUTREACH UPDATE -
	Attachment 1 2020 Census Hard to Count Map.pdf (1 page)

	12. SB 2 PLANNING GRANT AWARD ANNOUNCEMENT AND NEXT STEPS TOWARDS DEVELOPING A HOUSING ELEMENT UPDATE, SECTOR FEASIBILITY STUDY, AND EAST VALLEY SPECIFIC PLAN -
	Attachment 1 Escondido PGP Award Letter.pdf (1 page)
	Attachment 2 Draft PPP.docx (7 pages)
	Attachment 3 REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS HEU (1).docx (9 pages)
	Attachment 4 REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS Feasbility.docx (8 pages)
	Attachment 5 REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS SPA.docx (9 pages)
	Attachment 6 - BA SB2 Housing.pdf (1 page)

	13. REVIEW OF UPCOMING CITY COUNCIL REDISTRICTING PROCESS -
	Attachment 1 ProposedConsentDecree.pdf (25 pages)
	Attachment 2 12.04.2013 CC Meeting Minutes.pdf (10 pages)
	Attachment 3 ORD2013-17DEC112013.pdf (6 pages)

	14. REVIEW AND CONSIDERATION OF CAMPAIGN CONTRIBUTION LIMITS -
	Attachment 1 - CampaignControl Ordinance .docx (1 page)


	FUTURE AGENDA
	15. FUTURE AGENDA -

	CITY MANAGER'S WEEKLY ACTIVITY REPORT
	WEEKLY ACTIVITY REPORT -




